Effects of the decommissioning of the Enobieta Dam (Navarre, North Iberian Peninsula) on stream ecosystem structure and functioning

Miren Atristain Vega

PhD Thesis

July 2023

Supervised by Arturo Elosegi and Daniel von Schiller



Contents

Summary1	
Laburpena3	
Resumen5	
General Introduction7	
Objectives15	
Helburuak16	
Objetivos17	
Methodology	
Results and Discussion29	
Synthesis and Perspectives68	
General Conclusions	
Ondorio Orokorrak	
Conclusiones Generales	
Literature cited91	
Supplementary material119)

Summary

Ageing dams and the rising efforts to restore stream ecosystems are increasing the number of dam decommissioning programs. Although dam decommissioning aims at improving in-stream habitat, biodiversity, and ecosystem functioning in the long-term, it might also cause ecological impacts in the short-term, mainly due to the mobilization of the sediment accumulated in the reservoir. Worldwide, more than 2000 dams have been already removed, but the impacts and benefits of this major intervention are still poorly understood, especially in the case of large dams. Additionally, there is less information on the effects of dam removal on stream ecosystem functioning, even though impacts are likely since hydraulics, channel morphology and biodiversity are all tightly linked to ecosystem processes. This dissertation explored the effects of the decommissioning of Enobieta, a large dam in the north of the Iberian Peninsula, on stream ecosystem structure and functioning, in what constitutes a whole-ecosystem manipulation. Following a multiple before-after/control-impact (mBACI) design, which allows controlling spatial and temporal variability, we assessed abiotic and biotic changes during the drawdown and the first stages of ecosystem recovery.

Before the start of the dam decommissioning, we observed sediment starvation in downstream reaches. We also measured high concentrations of manganese and iron downstream from the dam, caused by hypoxic hypolimnetic conditions during stratification. Nevertheless, these concentrations decreased with distance, the concentrations in the furthest impact site being similar to those measured in control sites. Ammonium concentration followed a similar pattern. As expected, the dam caused large differences in the structure of macroinvertebrate communities, including density, taxa richness and Shannon diversity index. In contrast, biofilm biomass, Chl-*a* concentration, nutrient uptake, and metabolism, but not organic matter breakdown, were similar in control and impact reaches.

The drawdown of the Enobieta Dam triggered the erosion and the downstream transport of sediments accumulated in the reservoir, especially when a small dam that emerged in the basin of the reservoir was removed. The sediment transport resulted in downstream turbidity peaks, mostly during rain events. However, these peaks were not higher than the ones observed in nearby basins. During drawdown, concentrations of manganese, iron and ammonium rose. With the exception of biomass and organic matter breakdown, the rest of the variables measured for biofilm decreased, likely because of the changes in sediment characteristics. Surprisingly, the differences in macroinvertebrate communities observed before dam decommissioning decreased during the drawdown phase. After

one year since the start of the decommissioning of the Enobieta Dam, all variables except organic matter breakdown were similar in control and impact reaches, showing the success of this restoration project. This success was also evident when looking at the communities and the functioning of the stream in the area formerly drowned by the reservoir, as well as when looking at the rapid recovery of the forest therein.

Overall, the Enobieta Dam constituted a black spot in the Artikutza valley, fragmenting the river and altering the geomorphology, water quality and the structure and functioning of biological communities. This study evidenced a positive effect of reservoir drawdown on stream structure and functioning with no noticeable impacts, although the impacts and benefits of dam decommissioning could highly depend on site-specific conditions.

Laburpena

Presen zahartzeak eta ibaiak leheneratzeko ahaleginek presak kentzeko proiektuen kopurua handitzea eragin dute. Presak eraistearen helburua epe luzera ibai eta erreketako habitata, biodibertsitatea eta funtzionamendua hobetzea bada ere, epe laburrean inpaktu ekologikoak eragin ditzake, batez ere urtegian metatutako sedimentuen garraioaren ondorioz. Mundu osoan, 2.000 presa baino gehiago eraitsi dira jada, baina hala ere, eskuhartze horren eragin eta onuren inguruko informazioa eskasa da, batez ere presa handien kasuan. Honetaz gain, ekosistemen funtzionamenduan dituen ondorioei buruzko informazio gutxi dago, nahiz eta eraginak nahiko probableak diren ibai ekosistemetan ematen diren prozesuek hidraulika, ubidearen morfologia eta biodibertsitatearekin duten lotura estua dela eta. Tesi honen helburua Iberiar Penintsularen iparraldean kokatuta dagoen Enobieta presa hustutzeak ibai ekosistemen egitura eta funtzionamenduan duen eragina aztertzea izan zen. Horretarako, *multipe before-after/control-impact* (mBACI) deritzon diseinu esperimentala erabili zen, aldakortasun espazial eta tenporala kontrolatzeko aukera ematen duena.

Enobietako presa hustu baino lehen, tamaina txikieneko sedimentu falta somatzen zen urtegitik behera. Bestalde, manganeso eta burdin kontzentrazio altuak neurtu ziren, estratifikazioaren ondorioz hipolimnionean sortutako egoera hipoxikoak eraginda. Hala ere, metalen kontzentrazioak behera egin zuen presarekiko distantzia handitzearekin batera, urrutien kokatutako puntuan kontrol tramuetako balioak neurtu zirelarik. Amonio kontzentrazioak metalen antzeko patroia jarraitu zuen. Espero bezala, presak desberdintasun handiak eragin zituen makroornogabe-komunitatearen egituran, dentsitatea, taxoi aberastasuna eta Shannon dibertsitate indizea barne. Aitzitik, materia organikoaren deskonposaketa ez ezik, biofilmaren biomasa, klorofila kontzentrazioa, mantenugaien atxikimendua eta metabolismoa antzekoak ziren kontrol eta inpaktu tramuetan.

Enobietako presa hustean, urtegian metatutako sedimentuen erosioa eta garraioa gertatu ziren, batez ere urtegiaren barruan azaleratu zen presa txikia eraitsi zenean. Hustuketa fasean zehar sedimentu finen garraioak eraginda uhertasunak handitu zen urtegitik behera, balio altuenak euriteetan behatu zirelarik. Hala ere, balio horiek ez ziren inguruko arroetan ohikoak diren balioak baino altuagoak izan. Honetaz gain, hustuketa fasean zehar manganeso, burdin eta amonio kontzentrazioak handitu egin ziren. Biofilmari dagokionez, biomasa eta mantenugaien atxikimendua izan ezik, gainontzeko aldagaiek behera egin zuten kontrolekin konparatuta, sedimentuen garraioan izandako emendioagatik segur aski. Azkenik, harrigarria suertatu bazen ere, urtegia beteta zegoenean makroornogabeen komunitatean atzemandako desberdintasunak txikitu egin ziren hustuketa fasean zehar. Enobietako urtegia hustu eta urtebete igaro ondoren, materia organikoaren deskonposaketan ez ezik, gainontzeko aldagaietan antzeko balioak neurtu ziren kontrol eta inpaktu tramuetan, errestaurazio proiektu honen arrakastaren adierazle. Arrakasta hori nabaria izan zen, halaber, lehen urtegia zegoen ingurunean kontrol tramuetako balioak behatu zirelako, bai eta basoa berreskuratzen hasi zelako ere.

Oro har, Enobietako presa Artikutzako haranean puntu beltza zen, ibaia zatitu eta geomorfologia, uraren kalitatea eta funtzionamenduan eragiten zuena. Ikerketa honen arabera, inpaktu negatibo handirik sortu gabe presa kentzeak ondorio positiboak izan zituen errekaren egitura eta funtzionamenduan, nahiz eta erantzunak lekuan lekuko baldintza espezifikoen mende egon daitezkeen.

Resumen

Debido al envejecimiento de las presas y el mayor interés por restaurar los ecosistemas fluviales, el número de proyectos de desmantelamiento de presas ha aumentado en las últimas décadas. Aunque el objetivo del desmantelamiento de presas es mejorar el hábitat, la biodiversidad y el funcionamiento de los ecosistemas fluviales a largo plazo, también puede causar impactos ecológicos a corto plazo, principalmente debido a la movilización del sedimento acumulado en el embalse. En todo el mundo ya se han eliminado más de 2.000 presas, pero los impactos y beneficios de esta importante intervención han sido poco estudiados, especialmente en el caso de las grandes presas. Además, hay aún menos información sobre los efectos de la demolición de presas en el funcionamiento de ecosistemas que en otras variables. No obstante, los impactos son probables ya que la hidrología, la morfología del cauce y la biodiversidad están estrechamente vinculados a los procesos ecosistémicos. Esta tesis explora los efectos del desmantelamiento de Enobieta, una presa de gran tamaño localizada en el norte de la Península Ibérica, en la estructura y el funcionamiento de los ecosistemas fluviales. Para ello se aplicó un diseño experimental denominado *multipe before-after/control-impact* (mBACI), que permite controlar la variabilidad espacial y temporal.

Antes de que comenzara el desmantelamiento de la presa, observamos la falta de sedimento aguas abajo de la presa. También se midieron altas concentraciones de manganeso y hierro, causadas por la hipoxia creada en el hipolimnion durante la estratificación. Sin embargo, estas concentraciones disminuyeron conforme aumentaba la distancia desde la presa, llegando en el punto más lejano a la presa a valores similares a los medidos en los tramos control. La concentración de amonio siguió un patrón similar al observado para los metales. Como cabía esperar, la presa causó grandes efectos sobre la estructura de las comunidades de macroinvertebrados, incluyendo su densidad, su riqueza taxonómica y su índice de diversidad de Shannon. Por el contrario, la concentración de clorofila y biomasa del biofilm, así como la captación de nutrientes y el metabolismo, pero no la descomposición de materia orgánica, fueron similares en los tramos control e impacto.

El vaciado de la presa de Enobieta provocó la erosión y el transporte aguas abajo de los sedimentos acumulados en el embalse, especialmente cuando se retiró el azud que emergió en el vaso del embalse. El transporte de sedimentos resultó en picos de turbidez aguas abajo, principalmente durante los eventos de lluvia. Sin embargo, esos picos no fueron superiores a los observados en las cuencas cercanas. Durante la fase de vaciado, las concentraciones de manganeso, hierro y amonio aumentaron. Con excepción de la biomasa y la captación de nutrientes, el resto de las variables

relacionadas con el biofilm disminuyeron, probablemente debido al aumento en el transporte de sedimento. Sorprendentemente, las diferencias observadas en las comunidades de macroinvertebrados disminuyeron durante la fase de vaciado. Un año después, todas las variables excepto la descomposición de la materia orgánica, fueron similares en los tramos control e impacto, lo que demuestra el éxito de este proyecto de restauración. Este éxito también se evidenció con la rápida recuperación de las comunidades acuáticas y el bosque en la zona anteriormente anegada por el embalse.

En general, la presa de Enobieta constituía un punto negro en el valle de Artikutza, fragmentando el río y alterando su geomorfología, la calidad del agua y la estructura y el funcionamiento de las comunidades biológicas. Este estudio demuestra un efecto positivo del vaciado de la presa en la estructura y el funcionamiento del río sin apenas efectos negativos apreciables. No obstante, los impactos y beneficios del desmantelamiento de presas podrían depender en gran medida de las condiciones específicas de la zona afectada.

1. General Introduction

Stepping into the dam removal era

Streams and rivers provide goods and services essential for the sustainability of human societies (Palmer et al. 2005), but at the same time, human activities often lead to the degradation and overexploitation of freshwater ecosystems (Dudgeon 2005). For instance, 60% of surface waters in the EU fail good ecological status (European Environment Agency 2018). During the last decades, increased awareness on the consequences of a degraded environment has led to new legislation, such as the EU Water Framework Directive, as well as an exponential increase of the number of river restoration projects (Bernhardt et al. 2005; Wohl et al. 2015). Given the global prevalence of flow regulation and river fragmentation by dams and their strong impact on freshwater ecosystem health (Vörösmarty et al. 2010; Dudgeon 2019), the removal of these infrastructures has become a key restoration action in many river networks (Bednarek 2001; Bellmore et al. 2017). Nonetheless, knowledge on the ecological effects of dam removal is still scarce, thus impeding a proper design and implementation of dam removal projects.

A dam(n)ed world

Globally, half of all river reaches show truncated connectivity (Grill et al. 2015, 2019). By 2020, over 58,000 large dams were built worldwide, which cumulatively stored approximately 16% of global surface water resources (Perera & North 2021; Scanlon et al. 2023). As the best placements for dam construction run out (Grill et al. 2015) and the society gets aware of their impacts, their removal outpaces their construction in some countries (Perera et al. 2021). However, this pattern is not evenly distributed worldwide, since in some regions, such as South America, South and East Asia or Africa, over 3,700 hydroelectric dams are already under construction or planned (Zarfl et al. 2015, 2019). The main functions of reservoirs created by dams are irrigation, hydropower, water supply, and flood control (Perera & North 2021), which are essential for developed societies.

Although necessary, dams alter flow regime (Poff et al. 1997; Graf 2006), disrupt the natural flux of sediments (Syvitski et al. 2005; Dethier et al. 2022) and the cycles of carbon, nutrients and metals (Friedl & Wüest 2002; Maavara et al. 2020), thus impacting downstream channel form (Graf 2006) and water quality (Ellis & Jones 2013) and quantity (Lehner et al. 2011). Downstream geomorphologic adjustments can vary depending on the size and storage capacity of reservoirs (Mellado-Díaz et al.

2019), their purpose (*e.g.*, energy supply, water supply) and management (Friedl & Wüest 2002; Richter & Thomas 2007; Ellis & Jones 2013). Usually, reduced sediment fluxes cause sediment starvation, streambed coarsening and armoring, narrowing and channel incision (Kondolf 1997), often disconnecting streams from their floodplains (Cluer & Thorne 2014; Lane et al. 2022). Water physicochemical responses to damming also depend on the features of each system (Ahearn et al. 2005), including hydrological (*i.e.*, water residence time) (Maavara et al. 2020), physical (*e.g.*, stratification), chemical (*e.g.*, hypolimnetic oxygen depletion) (Winton et al. 2019) and biological characteristics (Puig et al. 1987). In general, dams and reservoirs alter downstream thermal regimes (Hester & Doyle 2011) and act as sinks for phosphorus (Maavara et al. 2015; Winton et al. 2019) and nitrogen (Akbarzadeh et al. 2019; Ellis & Jones 2013). In addition, oxygen depletion in the reservoir may trigger the solubilization of reduced compounds [Mn (II) and Fe (II) among others] (Friedl & Wüest 2002).

The ecological consequences of large dams are multiple and affect biological communities (*e.g.*, Ruiz-González et al. 2013; Cooper et al. 2016; Mellado-Díaz et al. 2019) and ecosystem functioning (Colas et al. 2013; Ponsatí et al. 2015; von Schiller et al. 2016; Mor et al. 2018). These effects extend to the areas drowned by the reservoir, but also upstream and downstream, as dams alter the flux of water and sediments, as well as the movement of many groups of organisms (Arantes et al. 2019; Dare et al. 2020). In the drowned areas of reservoirs, there is a shift from lotic (*i.e.*, running water) to lentic (*i.e.*, stagnant water) conditions concomitant to the inundation of areas formerly covered by terrestrial vegetation. This causes drastic changes in water physicochemistry, geomorphology, biological communities and ecosystem functioning in the areas covered by reservoirs (Sabater 2008).

Regarding downstream effects, a key agent in biogeochemical cycles and aquatic food webs (Besemer 2015; Battin et al. 2016) can be severely affected (Ponsatí et al. 2015). Autotrophic biofilms tend to be favored by the hydrological stability and reduced scouring caused by flow regulation, which promotes biomass and metabolism below large dams (Morley et al. 2008; Aristi et al. 2014; Smolar-Žvanut & Mikoš 2014). On the contrary, the activity of heterotrophic biofilms has been reported to decrease below dams (Muehlbauer et al. 2009; Colas et al. 2016), suggesting that for these organisms the detrimental effects of altered thermal regimes and water chemistry override the effects of hydrological stability. Dams also impact downstream invertebrate communities, affecting their composition (*e.g.*, Morley et al. 2008), reducing density (*e.g.*, Martínez et al. 2013; Dolédec et al. 2021; but see Wu et al. 2019), diversity (*e.g.*, Holt et al. 2015), taxa richness (Ellis & Jones 2016; Wang et al. 2020; but see Krajenbrink et al. 2022) and biotic indices (*e.g.*, the ones related to pollution intolerant taxa) (Mellado-Díaz et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019), and altering life histories and dispersal processes

(Tonkin et al. 2009). River fragmentation by dams also has major implications on fish migration and dispersal (Barbarossa et al. 2020), having a negative impact on spawning and reducing abundance and diversity (Wu et al. 2019).

Box 1. Glossary of the main terms used in this dissertation. Terms are shown in alphabetical order.

Dam ageing: the gradual deterioration of a dam infrastructure beyond the initial five years of operation (Zamarrón-Mieza et al. 2017).

Dam decommissioning: the activities undertaken when a dam ceases to be functional, which ends with its total or partial removal (Perera et al. 2021).

Ecosystem functioning: ecosystem-level processes that regulate energy and matter fluxes in ecosystems due to the joint activity of organisms, including organic matter decomposition, nutrient cycling, biomass accrual, secondary production or ecosystem metabolism (von Schiller et al. 2017).

Ecosystem services: value or good provided to humans by ecosystems. Examples are food production, water provision, self-purification capacity and recreation (Isbell et al. 2017).

Ecosystem structure: abiotic and biotic attributes that shape ecosystems, such as channel form, water quality and biological communities (*i.e.*, microbes, plants, and animals) (Sabater & Elosegi 2013).

Large dam: a dam higher than 15 m (Poff & Schmidt 2016).

Nonstaged dam removal: a dam removal project that proceeds following a relatively rapid drawdown (hours to days) of the impoundment (Duda & Bellmore 2022).

Reservoir drawdown: lowering the water level of an impoundment controlled by a dam.

Small barrier or Low barrier: a dam lower than 15 m.

Staged dam removal: a dam removal project that proceeds in stages, either by drawing out the reservoir as the dam is incrementally dismantled (Duda & Bellmore 2022), or first emptying the reservoir and then partially or totally dismantling the dam.

Boom and bust

Since the first dams were built before 2000 BCE in the Egyptian empire, thousands more have been built to benefit human society (Maavara et al. 2020). Dam building upsurged in the mid-20th century and peaked in the 1960's and 1970's coinciding with the growth in population and economy in the global north (Fig. 1.1) (Doyle et al. 2008; Maavara et al. 2020; Perera & North 2021). Afterwards, dam construction declined progressively (Fig. 1.1) (Perera et al. 2021) to the point that in some regions, especially in the US, dam decommissioning outpaced dam building (Beatty et al. 2017). However, as stated earlier, in many regions many large dams are still under construction or planned (Zarfl et al. 2015, 2019).



Figure 1.1. Annual construction of large dams worldwide since 1900. From Perera et al. (2021).

Dams, as any other infrastructure, have a design life. Some authors (*e.g.*, Perera et al. 2021) set an arbitrary age of 50 years as the point when "a human-built, large concrete structure such as a dam that controls water would most probably begin to express signs of ageing". Thus, most dams built during the dam boom (*i.e.*, 1960's and 1970's) are approaching or have already surpassed the end of their life expectancy. Dam ageing usually is associated to reservoir sedimentation, loss of functionality and effectiveness, and even dam failures, which all increase the costs of repair and maintenance (Perera et al. 2021). Additionally, during the last 40 years, scientists have become aware of the deleterious environmental impacts of dams on river ecosystems (Baxter 1977; Brittain & L'Abeé-Lund 1995; Graf 2006). Consequently, given safety concerns, maintenance costs and the rising environmental concern of the ageing and obsolete dams, dam decommissioning has gained momentum over the last 50 years (Schiermeier 2018; Bellmore et al. 2019). It has been estimated that between years 1968 and 2019, 1654 dams were removed in the US, whereas in Europe 342 dams were

removed between years 1996 and 2019 (Habel et al. 2020). In both cases, most removed infrastructures were low barriers (Fig. 1.2), and the percentage of large dams removed was 1% in the US and 2% in Europe (Habel et al. 2020).



Figure 1.2. The height of dams removed from rivers in the US and in Europe from 1968 to 2019. From Habel et al. (2020).

Dam decommissioning and river ecosystems

Although dam decommissioning is becoming a widespread management strategy, its consequences and benefits are still poorly understood because less than 10% of the interventions have been monitored in detail (Vahedifard et al. 2021). A search in the *Web of Science* for articles with terms "dam remov*" in either the title, key words or abstract, published between 1997 and January 2023 yielded a total of 368 peer-reviewed articles. However, only *c.a.* 36% corresponded to studies analyzing biophysical responses, the rest of the studies focusing on socioeconomical, barrier removal prioritization or modeling aspects. Additionally, the vast majority (*c.a.* 71%) of these studies were performed in small dams (Table 1.1). The remaining 29% corresponded to large dams, but most studies described the case study of the Elwha and Glines Canyon dam removals in Washington State, US. Regarding the variables analyzed in these studies, hydrogeomorphology was the most assessed one both in small (54%) and large (56%) dam decommissioning projects. It was followed by fish community monitoring, which corresponded to 35% and 29% of the total small and large dam studies, respectively. Other variables, such as biofilm or stream functional attributes, which are also key components of stream ecosystems, were significantly understudied (Table 1.1).

All these studies showed that dam removal interventions restore fluvial communities and processes in the medium to long term, although, in the short term, they can result in significant impacts. These interventions ranged from staged actions [e.g., Elwha and Glines Canyon Dams (East et al. 2015) or Stronach Dam (Burroughs et al. 2009)] that try to minimize the impacts, to non-staged works [e.g., dynamiting the dam as in Sunbeam Dam (Salmon River, Idaho) (Pohl 2002) or blasting a hole into the base as in Condit Dam (White Salmon River, Washington) (Wilcox et al. 2014)] that cause acute impacts on the ecosystems. However, even if the magnitude of the consequences differs between intervention types, they all involve the use of heavy machinery right inside the stream channel that results in significant impacts. The main and most concerning impact is the movement of the sediments stored in the reservoir for several years after dam removal (Tullos et al. 2016). These sediments can bury and suffocate benthic organisms in downstream reaches (Bellmore et al. 2019). Additionally, in some catchments, these impacts can be exacerbated by contaminants (e.g., metals and PCBs) accumulated in the reservoir (Bushaw-Newton et al. 2002). Although the duration of the impact mostly depends on the amount and size of the sediments stored in the reservoir, hydrology, dam size, removal method (Foley et al. 2017) and nearby potential colonizers, most of the papers analyzed showed that, after one to two years, ecosystems start to recover. The recovery of specific taxa is linked to their mobility, life history traits, source of colonists, and the existence of other barriers in the catchment. For instance, fish or flying insects are more likely to colonize these reaches than crustaceans or mussels (Sethi et al. 2004). Similarly, microorganisms are expected to show a faster response (Steinman & McIntire 1990; Battin et al. 2016), but empirical evidence is scarce (Bellmore et al. 2019).

Overall, dam decommissioning results in short-term impacts after which fluvial communities and processes are restored. However, the whole process is site-specific, and it is still a young research field in which out of *c.a.* 2000 interventions, only the effects of less than 10% have been monitored (Vahedifard et al. 2021). Furthermore, the vast majority of these studies were carried out in small dams and focused on hydrogeomorphology and fish. Therefore, this PhD thesis aims at bringing some light on the effects of large dam decommissioning on different components of stream ecosystems during the intervention and the recovery phase. This is an important topic since dam decommissioning is expected to gain momentum in the oncoming decades, and the experience gained in past projects is essential to optimize future removal projects.

Table 1.1. State of the art: number of papers studying main response variables in dam decommissioning projects following a search in the *Web of Science* for articles with terms "dam remov*". Dams are classified as "small" or "large" according to the way it is defined by the authors of each paper.

Dam size	Variable	Number of articles	Source					
Small	Hydrogeomorphology	51	Jones et al. (2023), Lu et al. (2022), Kim et al. (2022), Chiu et al. (2021), Bubb et al. (2021), Fields et al. (2021), Magilligan et al. (2021), Sun et al. (2021), Wyżga et al. (2021), Mikuś et al. (2021), Gilet et al. (2021), Cashman et al. (2021), Nagayama et al. (2020), Collins et al. (2020), Scorpio et al. (2020), Marteau et al. (2020), Korpak & Lenar-Matyas (2019), Magilligan et al. (2019), Itsukushima et al. (2019), Łapuszek (2019), Cook & Sullivan (2018), Collins et al. (2017), Land et al. (2017), Katz et al. (2017), Pace et al. (2017), Ibisate et al. (2016), Gillette et al. (2016), Claeson & Coffin (2016), Van Dyke (2016), Magilligan et al. (2016), Costigan et al. (2016), Gartner et al. (2015), Zunka et al. (2015), Wang et al. (2014), Tullos et al. (2014), Cantwell et al. (2014), Pearson et al. (2011); Im et al. (2011), Kibler et al. (2011), Walter & Tullos (2010), Orr et al. (2008), Maloney et al. (2008), Granata et al. (2008), Thomson et al. (2005), Wildman & MacBroom (2005), Sethi et al. (2004), Doyle et al. (2003), Stanley et al. (2002), Bushaw- Newton et al. (2002), Kanehl et al. (1997)					
	Water physicochemistry	14	Lei et al. (2023), Jones et al. (2023), Abbott et al. (2022), Kim et al. (2022), Lewis et al (2021), Cook & Sullivan (2018), Bohrerova et al. (2017), Muehlbauer et al. (2009), Orn al. (2008), Granata et al. (2008), Riggsbee et al. (2007), Sethi et al. (2004), Ahearn & Dahlgren (2005), Bushaw-Newton et al. (2002)					
	Biofilm	5	Kim et al. (2022), Muehlbauer et al. (2009), Orr et al. (2008), Thomson et al. (2005), Bushaw-Newton et al. (2002)					
	Invertebrates	22	Mahan et al. (2021), Sun et al. (2021), Mikuś et al. (2021), Poulos et al. (2019), Itsukushima et al. (2019), Cook & Sullivan (2018), Sullivan & Manning (2017), Gillette al. (2016), Adams & Marks (2016); Claeson & Coffin (2016), Tullos et al. (2014), Renö et al. (2013), Hansen & Hayes (2012), Kil & Bae (2012), Muehlbauer et al. (2009), Orr al. (2008), Maloney et al. (2008), Thomson et al. (2005), Pollard & Reed (2004), Stanl et al. (2002), Bushaw-Newton et al. (2002)					

	Fish		Jones et al. (2023), Cancel Villamil & Locke (2022)4/25/2023 5:14:00 PMBubb et al. (2021), Magilligan et al. (2021), Sun et al. (2021), Mikuś et al. (2021), Muha et al. (2022) Nagayama et al. (2020), Im et al. (2019), Sullivan et al. (2019), Hill et al. (2019), Itsukushima et al. (2019), Ding et al. (2019), Cook & Sullivan (2018), (Watson et al. 201 Birnie-Gauvin et al. (2017), Davis et al. (2017), Livermore et al. (2017), Poulos & Chern (2017), Gillette et al. (2016), Magilligan et al. (2016), Lasne et al. (2015), Kornis et al. (2015), Hogg et al. (2015), Poulos et al. (2014), Hogg et al. (2013), Gardner et al. (2013) Fjeldstad et al. (2012), Hitt et al. (2012), Marks et al. (2010), Burroughs et al. (2010), Stanley et al. (2007). Kanehl et al. (1997)						
	Ecosystem functioning	5	Sullivan et al. (2018), Gibson et al. (2018), Muehlbauer et al. (2009), Orr et al. (2008), Doyle et al. (2003)						
	Others	5	Kim et al. (2022), Lisius et al. (2018), Stephens (2017), Riggsbee et al. (2012), Wells et al. (2008)						
	Hydrogeomorphology	19	 Brown et al. (2022), Estigoni et al. (2020), East et al. (2018), Harrison et al. (2018), Ritchie et al. (2018), Chang et al. (2017), Peters et al. (2017), Hatten et al. (2016), Wang & Kuo (2016), Magirl et al. (2015), Randle et al. (2015), Warrick et al. (2015), East et al. (2015), Zunka et al. (2015), Draut & Ritchie (2015), Young & Ishiga (2014), Wilcox et al. (2014), Chiu et al. (2013) 						
	Water physicochemistry	3	Ba et al. (2023), Atristain et al. (2022), Chang et al. (2017)						
Large	Biofilm	2	Atristain et al. (2022), Chang et al. (2017)						
Luige	Invertebrates	2	Chang et al. (2017), Chiu et al. (2013)						
	Fish	10	Fraik et al. (2021), Smith et al. (2021), Duda et al. (2021), Quinn et al. (2021), Hess et al. (2021), Birnie-Gauvin et al. (2020), Brenkman et al. (2019), Chang et al. (2017), Hatten et al. (2016), McMillan et al. (2015)						
	Ecosystem functioning	4	Amani et al. (2022), Atristain et al. (2022), Morley et al. (2020), Tonra et al. (2015)						
	Others 7		Brown et al. (2022); Ravot et al. (2020); Kane et al. (2020); Prach et al. (2019); Chang et al. (2017); Cubley & Brown (2016); (Chiu et al. 2013)						

2. Objectives

The overarching objective of this dissertation is to assess the effects of the drawdown of a large reservoir, the first step towards its final decommissioning, on stream ecosystem structure and functioning. To do so, we combined different methodologies to investigate the changes on stream geomorphology, water quality, biofilm structure and functioning, and invertebrate communities.

Specifically, this dissertation addresses the following questions:

- What are the environmental effects of the reservoir? Do the impacts decrease as the distance from the dam increases?
- 2. How does the drawdown of the reservoir affect ecosystem structure and functioning? Do the impacts decrease as the distance from the dam increases?
- 3. Does the stream ecosystem recover after drawdown?

Helburuak

Tesi honen helburu orokorra presa haundi bat hustutzeak, ondoren eraisteko lehen urratsa, ibai ekosistemako egitura eta funtzionamenduan duen eragina aztertzea da. Horretarako, hainbat metodologia konbinatu ditugu ibaiaren geomorfologian, uraren kalitatean, biofilmaren egitura eta funtzionamenduan, eta ornogabeen komunitateetan gertatu diren aldaketak aztertzeko.

Zehazki, hurrengo hauek dira tesi honen galderak:

- 1. Zein da urtegiaren eragina? Gutxitu egiten al dira inpaktuak presarekiko distantzia handitu ahala?
- 2. Nola eragiten dio presa hustutzeak ekosistemaren egitura eta funtzionamenduari? Gutxitu egiten al dira inpaktuak presarekiko distantzia handitu ahala?
- 3. Ekosistema berreskuratzen al da hustuketaren ondoren?

Objetivos

El objetivo general de esta tesis es evaluar los efectos del vaciado de una gran presa, el primer paso para su puesta fuera de servicio, en la estructura y el funcionamiento del ecosistema fluvial. Para ello, se combinaron diferentes metodologías para investigar los cambios en la geomorfología del río, la calidad del agua, la estructura y el funcionamiento del biofilm, y las comunidades de invertebrados.

Específicamente, esta tesis aborda las siguientes preguntas:

- 1. ¿Cuáles son los efectos del embalse? ¿Disminuyen los impactos aguas abajo?
- ¿Cómo afecta el vaciado del embalse a la estructura y el funcionamiento del ecosistema?
 ¿Disminuyen los impactos aguas abajo?
- 3. ¿Se recupera el ecosistema después del vaciado?

3. Methodology

Study site

The Artikutza Valley is a mountain headwater catchment located in the north of the Iberian Peninsula (Fig. 3.1). The hydrological network of Artikutza drains a 3,683-ha basin over schist, granite, and sandstone (Government of Navarre, IDENA). Average annual rainfall is 2604 mm per year and the mean annual air temperature is 12.3 °C (http://meteo.navarra.es/). The entire catchment has been strictly conserved since the municipality of San Sebastian acquired it in 1919 to ensure the supply of good quality drinking water. Therefore, Artikutza catchment is mostly covered by mature forests dominated by beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) and oak (*Quercus robur* L.) stands, dense autochthonous riparian vegetation with alder (*Alnus glutinosa* (L.) Gaertner) and ash (*Fraxinus excelsior* L.), some old exotic plantations of conifers and red oaks (*Quercus rubra* L.), and pasturelands on the highest terrain (Lozano & Latasa 2019).



Figure 3.1. Study area showing the location of the 11 study sites [4 control sites (C1, C2, C3 and C4), 4 impact sites (I1, I2, I3 and I4) and 3 sites in the former reservoir (R1, R2 and R3)] in the Artikutza Valley (northern Iberian Peninsula). The dashed line indicates the area drowned by the Enobieta Reservoir. Dark arrows indicate flow direction.

Background of the Enobieta Dam decommissioning project

The Enobieta Dam was designed with a water storage capacity of 2.5 hm³, but geotechnic issues forced the municipality to reduce its capacity to 1.6 hm³ when finished in 1947. The reservoir supplied water to San Sebastian for some decades, but metal concentrations (especially Fe and Mn) were often over legal thresholds for drinking water, and the town faced water shortages because of the small capacity of the modified dam. Therefore, in 1976, the Añarbe Dam (79-m tall and 43.8 hm³ reservoir capacity) was built further downstream in the catchment. Afterwards, the Enobieta Dam lost its strategic value, fell progressively in disuse, and had little or no maintenance, to the point of becoming a safety issue. Indeed, for decades the dam gate and pipes remained closed, and the reservoir was not actively managed, thus being permanently full of water (Fig. 3.2). In 2014, to restore the hydrological connectivity in the basin, the municipality removed seven weirs that remained as legacies from past activities (*e.g.,* ironworks) (Elosegi et al. 2019). Then, in 2016, managers decided to decommission the last artificial obstacle in the entire headwaters: the Enobieta Dam.

The first stage in the Enobieta Dam decommissioning was the drawdown of the reservoir. To allow the stabilization of the emerging sediment by the colonizing vegetation and minimize the volume of sediment exported, the reservoir was slowly emptied during 2018 using some old siphons and waterserving pipes that mainly released surface water. We call this the before period. When the water level in the reservoir was circa 4-m high (December 2018), the bottom gate was repaired and opened, thus starting a period of sediment release (what we called drawdown period) with high turbidity episodes. This turbidity was mainly caused by the Enobieta Stream carving a new channel across the sediment stored in former channel and riparian areas, whereas the sediment in the rest of the reservoir was mostly retained on site by the fast-growing vegetation (Elosegi et al. 2022). When the reservoir was empty, an older 3.5 m-tall weir emerged 200 m upstream from the large dam. The local managers demolished this weir in October 2019, and during the very rainy month of November 2019 the Enobieta Stream carved a new channel across the sediment retained by the weir, thus producing a last period of high turbidity. From this moment on, we considered the drawdown process to be finished, thus giving start to what we call the after period. Currently, the reservoir is empty, the bottom gate open, and the authorities are discussing whether to totally remove the dam or to open a 7-m wide notch to remove the barrier effect. The final decision will depend exclusively on the expected damage and benefits each alternative can cause on the local biodiversity. Whatever the case, it has been estimated that any of these alternatives will mobilize considerably less sediment than that mobilized so far (Elosegi et al., 2022), and thus, will have smaller impacts than the drawdown here reported.



Figure 3.2. Reservoir water level (m) from year 2000 to year 2019. The horizontal dashed red line indicates the level of the spillway. The vertical dashed line indicates the opening of the Enobieta Dam bottom gate.

Experimental design

Overall, our study followed a multiple before – after / control – impact (mBACI) design (Underwood 1994). We defined four control monitoring sites, one (C1) upstream from the dam and three (C2 to C4) in free-flowing tributaries, as well as four impact sites (I1 to I4) at increasing distances downstream from the dam. Additionally, three sites located within the former reservoir (R1 to R3) were also defined in the after period (Fig. 3.1). These latter sites could not be sampled either in the before period, when the reservoir was full or during the drawdown period, as the newly carved stream channel was still too

unstable for safe wading. In the control and impact sites, water quality, sediment size, biofilm and macroinvertebrates were analyzed during the three periods, whereas the R sites were mostly studied during the after period (Table 3.1). We tried to measure biofilm in the R sites in the after period, but the instability of the channel resulted in the loss of all artificial substrates we deployed, thus preventing us from getting any result.

Table 3.1. Variables measured (grey shaded) during the before, drawdown and the after periods ineach river site.

	Before										
	C1	C2	C3	C4	R1	R2	R3	11	12	13	14
Water physicochemistry											
Riverbed substrate											
Photogrammetry											
Aggradation/Degradation											
Biofilm											
Invertebrates											
	Drawdown										
	C1	C2	C3	C4	R1	R2	R3	11	12	13	14
Water physicochemistry											
Riverbed substrate											
Photogrammetry											
Aggradation/Degradation											
Biofilm											
Invertebrates											
	After										
	C1	C2	C3	C4	R1	R2	R3	11	12	13	14
Water physicochemistry											
Riverbed substrate											
Photogrammetry											
Aggradation/Degradation											
Biofilm											
Invertebrates											

Methods

Geomorphological adjustment in the reservoir area

To examine the geomorphological adjustment in the reservoir, including sediment export and stream channel evolution, we combined data collected from two aerial drone flights. The first flight was performed during early drawdown when the reservoir was empty but the small weir inside was still intact (April 2019). The second flight was conducted one year after (June 2020). The photographs so obtained were processed photogrammetrically with Agisoft Photoscan (Agisoft LLC, Sant Petersburg, Russia), to generate a 3D reconstruction of the site formerly covered by the reservoir from Digital Elevation Models. The differences in elevation between 2020 and 2019 were used to compute the changes in sediment volumes and therefore to estimate the total volume of sediments exported. Additionally, we regularly repeated photographs in the Enobieta Reservoir at fixed sites during the before, drawdown and the after periods.

During the after period, we also characterized benthic substrate composition in the reservoir area using the Wolman pebble count method (Wolman 1954), with 100 substrate particles collected per site and period while zig-zagging along 100 m-long reaches. For each site, we estimated median grain size (D₅₀) and the percentage of particles smaller than 4 mm on the streambed.

Quantification of exported suspended solids

We measured turbidity in Nephelometric Turbidity Units (NTU) every 10 minutes from July 2018 to September 2020 by means of two turbidimeters (Solitax sc Sensor, Hach Company, USA). One was installed at site I2 and the other at site C2, which have a similar drainage area (11.35 km² and 7.32 km², respectively). The turbidity data were converted into concentration of suspended solids (mg L⁻¹) applying an empirical formula obtained at the Añarbe gauging station (Zabaleta et al. 2007), located *c.a.* 8 km further downstream in the same catchment. The concentration of suspended solids was then converted into load of exported fine sediments (mg s⁻¹) by multiplying by discharge (L s⁻¹), estimated as 12.8% of the discharge measured continuously at the Añarbe gauging station (the percentage contribution of Enobieta sub-basin to the Añarbe drainage basin). The data so obtained were summed to calculate the mass of fine sediment exported per period (Mg). Because the extent of each period was different (before: 158, drawdown: 348 and after: 285 days, respectively), we reported the exported suspended solid in units of mass per day (Mg day⁻¹).

Characterization of total sediment exported

To characterize the sediments exported from the reservoir, we combined the estimates of the volume of sediments exported (differences in photogrammetry between the two drone flights) and the estimates of the load of suspended solids exported [continuous monitoring of turbidity and empirical formula linking turbidity to suspended solids in Añarbe Zabaleta et al. (2007)] with two additional values: i) the density of fine sediments stored in the reservoir, measured from sediment cores collected in July 2018 and ii) the composition of sediments stored into main categories (fine sediments, coarse inorganic sediments and organic litter), estimated from visual inspection of the newly-carved stream banks.

To convert the load of suspended sediments into volume of fine sediments lost, we collected 7 fine sediment core samples throughout the entire impoundment in July 2018. Once in the laboratory, we measured the dry mass (g) of 10 mL sediment subsamples by gravimetry. The result, 231 kg m⁻³, was used to convert the mass of suspended solid exported (Mg) into volume of fine sediments lost (m³).

To estimate the volume of the two other main components of sediments lost, leaf litter and coarse (beadload) inorganic materials, we estimated the proportion of fine sediments (clay and silt), sand to cobbles, and organic litter among the sediments stored in the reservoir. For that purpose, we surveyed and photographed the banks carved by the newly formed Enobieta Stream channel, including a ruler bar in all 28 photographs (Fig. S1). Then we analyzed the photographs to measure the thickness of the different accumulated sediment layers (*i.e.*, clay and silt, sand to cobbles, and organic litter). We then estimated the proportion of each major component of the sediment and applied this proportion to extrapolate the volume of sand-to-cobble and organic litter lost.

Characterization of downstream fluvial geomorphology

To measure changes in channel dimensions, as well as aggradation or degradation of stream channels, before the reservoir drawdown we established six fixed transversal transects every *c.a.* 10 m in all eight control and impact sites. Every transect consisted of two nails hammered into trees in opposing banks of the stream and identified with numbered metallic plates. On each occasion, we tied a marked rope between both nails and measured every 0.5 m the height between the rope and the streambed using a ruler bar. We then drew the shape of the channel in each transect. Changes in elevation were

estimated subtracting the height measured in the after period sampling to the height measured in the before period sampling.

We also characterized benthic substrate composition (see above) during the before, drawdown and the after periods in the same eight sites and estimated both D_{50} and the percentage of particles smaller than 4 mm per site and period.

Water physicochemical characteristics

On each sampling date and site, we measured water temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen (DO) saturation (%), electrical conductivity (EC, μ S cm⁻¹) and pH with a hand-held probe (Multi 3630 IDS, WTW, Germany). Additionally, we collected water samples. Samples for the determination of metal concentrations [iron (Fe, mg L⁻¹) and manganese (Mn, mg L⁻¹)] were fixed with 65% nitric acid (HNO₃) and stored in the fridge at 4 °C until they were analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (Fernández-Turiel et al. 2000). The rest of the samples were filtered through 0.7 μ m-pore size pre-combusted fiberglass filters (Whatman GF/F, Whatman International, UK) and stored in the laboratory at -20 °C until analysis. We determined soluble reactive phosphorus [SRP μ g P L⁻¹; molybdate method (Murphy & Riley 1962)] and ammonium [NH₄⁺ μ g N L⁻¹; salicylate method (Reardon et al. 1966)] by spectrophotometry (Shimadzu UV-1800 UV-Vis, Shimadzu Corporation, Japan).

Additionally, to detect potential pulses of hypoxia during drawdown we installed recording oxygen probes (miniDOT Logger, PME, USA) at sites I1 to I4 two days before the opening of the bottom gate and kept them in place for 2 weeks.

Biofilm structure and functioning

We measured biofilm structure (*i.e.*, biomass and Chl-*a*) and three benthic biofilm functions (*i.e.*, metabolism, nutrient uptake, and organic matter decomposition) using standard substrata. For functions dominated by autotrophic biofilms (metabolism and nutrient uptake), we used biofilm carriers (51.45 cm², SERA GmbH D52518, Heinsberg, Germany) similar to those used in previous research (Elosegi et al. 2018; Pereda et al. 2020). For decomposition, dominated by heterotrophic biofilms, we used tongue depressors made of untreated poplar wood (*Populus nigra x canadiensis* Moench; 15x1.8x0.2 cm (Arroita et al. 2012). Approximately 2 months before the beginning of the

experiment, we randomly deployed six biofilm carriers and five wooden sticks per reach tied with nylon line to metal bars or roots.

The biofilm carriers were used to determine biomass, Chl-a, metabolism, and nutrient uptake. We recovered them after at least two months and on each occasion deployed six more carriers to be colonized for the next sampling campaign. After collection, we stored the biofilm carriers in stream water inside plastic containers to carry them to the laboratory. These biofilm carriers were used in a bioassay to determine biofilm metabolism and nutrient uptake. Once in the laboratory, biofilm carriers were acclimatized to local conditions (10 °C and 180 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ light) for 30 minutes in 500 mL of modified Chu culture medium (Andersen 2005). This medium is widely used for freshwater algal growth since it ensures the supply of essential macro- (e.g., nitrogen) and micronutrients (e.g., calcium, silica, or sodium) during the incubation. After acclimation, biofilm carriers were individually placed in light (n = 3 per site) and dark (n = 3 per site) 60-mL septa bottles completely filled with the same solution spiked with 10 mM solutions of phosphate (K₂HPO₄) and ammonium (NH₄Cl) to reach a final concentration of 5 μ M (155 μ g P L⁻¹ and 70 μ g N L⁻¹, respectively). These concentrations ensured saturating conditions for the biofilm and allowed estimating nutrient uptake from the concentration decline during the incubation. Then, we incubated the biofilm carriers for 2 h under the same conditions of temperature and light as during acclimation. Non-colonized biofilm carriers were also incubated as blanks. Afterwards, we measured DO concentrations (mg L⁻¹) with a portable fiber optic oxygen meter coupled to a syringe-like probe (Microsensor NTH-PSt7 on Microx4, Pre4Sens, Germany) and filtered (Whatman GF/F) 20 mL of solution for SRP and NH₄⁺ analyses for each bottle (colonized and non-colonized). Biofilm metabolism was calculated from the difference in DO concentration between colonized and non-colonized bottles and expressed based on the incubation time interval and accounting for the water volume in the bottle and the surface of the biofilm carrier (mg O_2 h⁻¹ m⁻²). Changes in DO concentration in light bottles were used to compute net community production (NCP) and those in dark bottles to compute community respiration (CR). Gross primary production (GPP) was calculated as the sum of NCP and CR (Hall & Hotchkiss 2017). The uptake of SRP and NH₄⁺ was calculated as the difference between the mean SRP and NH₄⁺ concentration of the control (*i.e.*, noncolonized) and the colonized substrates and accounting for the incubation volume and time and then expressed per surface unit (μ g P h⁻¹ m⁻² and μ g N h⁻¹ m⁻²) (Elosegi et al. 2018). Since we did not detect any differences between light and dark bottles, SRP and NH₄⁺ uptake rates calculated from both light and dark bottles were used as replicates to determine average biofilm uptake per reach and date.

Once incubations were finalized, all biofilm carriers were frozen at -20 °C until analysis of biomass and Chl-*a*. We scraped the biofilm carriers in 100 mL of deionized water and divided the obtained slurry into two subsamples for biomass and Chl-*a* determination (50 mL each, approximately), which were filtered through pre-weighed and pre-combusted filters (0.7- μ m pore size). Filters for biomass determination were oven-dried (70 °C, 72 h), weighed, ashed (500 °C, 5 h) and weighed again to estimate ash-free dry mass (AFDM). This value was corrected by the fraction of the filtered subsample to total sample and divided by the area of the biofilm carriers to express the result per surface unit (g AFDM m⁻²). For Chl-*a* extraction and quantification, filters were placed in 90% v/v acetone overnight at 4 °C and the extracted samples were measured spectrophotometrically (Shimadzu UV-1800 UV-Vis) (Steinman et al. 2017) after sonicating (3 min; Selecta sonication bath, operating at 360 W power, 50/60 Hz frequency, JP Selecta S.A., Spain) and centrifuging (2000 rpm, 10 min; P-Selecta Mixtasel, JP Selecta S.A., Spain). We corrected Chl-*a* values by the fraction of the filtered subsample to total sample and divided by the area of the biofilm carriers to express the result per surface unit (mg Chl-*a* m⁻²).

The wooden tongue depressors were used to determine organic matter decomposition. Before deployment, they were first punched to make a hole for later tying them with nylon line to metal bars and then oven-dried (70 °C, 72 h) and individually weighed. Every four months after deployment, they were recovered and replaced by new ones for the next sampling occasion. Upon recovery, depressors were rinsed with tap water to remove attached invertebrates and mineral particles before the AFDM was measured by gravimetry as done for biofilm AFDM (72 h at 70 °C, 5 h at 500 °C). To convert initial dry mass to AFDM, unexposed depressors were placed in tap water for 24 h after which they were analyzed following the methods of deployed depressors. Organic matter decomposition rate (k, day⁻¹) was calculated assuming the negative exponential model (Petersen & Cummins 1974) using the calculated initial AFDM from the regression and the measured end AFDM and the length of deployment.

Benthic invertebrates

We always sampled benthic invertebrates in autumn to minimize the effects of seasonal changes on the comparison among the different sampling campaigns. Specifically, we collected samples within a single day in November 2017 (before), in October 2019 (drawdown), and in November 2020 (after), one year after the end of drawdown. On each sampling occasion, we randomly took 5 invertebrate samples per reach with a Surber net (quadrat area: 0.09 m²; mesh-size: 500 µm) and preserved them in 70% ethanol until analysis. In the laboratory, invertebrates were sorted, counted, and identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level under a binocular microscope (Tachet et al. 2010). Most of the invertebrates captured (74.6%) were identified to genus level, but some Niphargidae (Amphipoda), Coleoptera, Ephemeroptera, Trichoptera, Mollusca and Diptera were only identified to family level (13.6%). Acari and Oligochaeta were left at these taxonomic levels (Table S3).

We estimated taxa richness (S), Shannon-Wiener diversity index (H') and total density (T, individuals m⁻²) for each sample to describe invertebrate communities. We also estimated the IASPT (Iberian Average Score Per Taxon) index, which is widely used in Spanish biomonitoring programs to represent average sensitivity of the taxa found (Guareschi et al. 2017; Mellado-Díaz et al. 2019). IASPT is calculated as the division of the IBMWP value (Alba-Tercedor 2002) by the number of scoring families detected.

Data analysis

To determine the effect of the dam removal on downstream reaches, we compared control and impact reaches for the three periods. Specifically, we used linear mixed-effects (Ime) models with restricted maximum likelihood (Pinheiro & Bates 2000) for all the variables except turbidity and geomorphology (i.e., exported sediment volume, benthic substrate composition, photogrammetry, aggradation and degradation processes), using period (before/drawdown/after) and reach (control/impact) as fixed factors. Sampling date within each period and sampling site were used as random factors in the models. All the models were fit using the "Imer" function of the "Ime4" package in R (Bates et al. 2015). The overall effect of the drawdown was shown by the interaction between period and reach (BDA:CI). To further explore the effect of the reservoir drawdown and the afterwards restoration success, we observed the full output of each lme model using the "summary" function in R. Considering that the intercept for the fixed factors was control reaches during the before period, from the full output we extracted i) the control-impact comparison during the before period (BCI) to determine whether there was any effect on the impact reaches previous to the reservoir drawdown, ii) the beforedrawdown/control-impact (BD:CI) interaction to determine whether the drawdown of the reservoir had any effect on the impact reaches and iii) the before-after/control-impact (BA:CI) interaction to determine whether impact reaches recovered from the effects of the reservoir drawdown. For invertebrates, we also performed linear mixed-effects models with REML in which we compared control and newly emerged reservoir reaches during the after period to explore whether the previously impounded sites became similar to nearby undisturbed reaches. Accordingly, we used reach (control/reservoir) as fixed factor and site as random factor in the models. In all cases, we assessed the behavior of residuals to avoid departures from normality and homoscedasticity in the models. If data did not meet these specifications, variables were log transformed to fulfil the requirements. Additionally, to test whether the effects of the dam and the drawdown phase was mitigated downstream, we calculated effect sizes for all variables and periods as Ln-ratios between the value at each impact site and the average among all control values. Negative values of the ratio indicate reduced values below the dam, whereas positive values show increases.

For invertebrates, to examine similarities and changes in community composition, we performed nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS; Clarke 1993) and permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA; Anderson 2001). Both NMDS and PERMANOVA were constructed from a Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix of Hellinger transformed data ("vegan" package; Oksanen et al. 2020). The PERMANOVA included the interaction between period (before/drawdown/after) and reach (control/impact) as fixed factors. To minimize the use of binary significance language, instead of using the arbitrary p = 0.05 threshold, we describe statistical results using a gradual language of evidence (Muff et al. 2022). All statistical analyses and figures were done with R software (version 4.0.3, R Core Team 2020; Austria).

4. Results and Discussion

4.1. Geomorphology and water physicochemistry

As a restoration measure, dam decommissioning attempts at eliminating the impacts of dams. However, dam removal can also cause negative downstream effects in the short–term (Bellmore et al. 2019). Previous studies have documented the erosion of stored sediment (Randle et al. 2015), and the resulting increased export of sediment (Ritchie et al. 2018), organic matter (Riggsbee et al. 2007) and inorganic nutrients (Ahearn & Dahlgren 2005) after dam removal. Thus, dam decommissioning disturbs both the upstream (*i.e.*, impoundment) and the downstream reaches, as the impoundment undergoes lentic-to-lotic ecosystem transition. These disturbances tend to be strongest during the initial stages, since most of the reservoir sediment erosion occurs in the first post-restoration years (Sawaske & Freyberg 2012; Ferrer-Boix et al. 2014). The downstream disturbances and the afterwards recovery are site-specific, and conditioned by a wide variety of environmental factors, as well as by details of the decommissioning process (Riggsbee et al. 2007; Sawaske & Freyberg 2012; Ibisate et al. 2016).

Here, we examined the changes in geomorphology and water physicochemistry that occurred in the reservoir area and in downstream fluvial sites following the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir. First, we predicted that the slow drawdown would favor the stabilization and revegetation of emerged sediments and, consequently, minimize the downstream export of sediments. Second, we predicted channel incision and increased particle size in the reservoir area, and channel aggradation and decreased particle size in the downstream sites. Third, we predicted downstream metal and inorganic nutrient loads to decrease with the reservoir drawdown, rapidly reaching values close to those of nearby undisturbed reaches.

Results

Geomorphological adjustment in the reservoir area

During the 1.5 years that took the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir, the Enobieta Stream carved a new channel along the recently exposed sediment. In most places, the new channel coincided with the one present before the construction of Enobieta dam, as shown by the stumps of trees that formed the ancient riparian forest, which emerged along the new channel (Fig. 4.1.1). The riverbanks were

mostly vertical and 1-1.5 m in height, very cohesive, and predominantly made up of silt and clay, gravel, and leaf litter (Figs. 4.1.2 & S1).



Figure 4.1.1. Upper panel: narrow Enobieta Stream channel without noticeable erosion before the removal of the small weir (February 2019). Lower panel: channel incision and widening, and sediment coarsening after the removal of the small weir (June 2020). Pictures: Miren Atristain.



Figure 4.1.2. Detailed photo of the riverbank excavated by the Enobieta Stream in the reservoir tail area. The terrace is made up by discrete layers of leaf litter, silt and clay, and gravel. Note iron precipitates in the bottom part. Picture: Arturo Elosegi.

This newly formed stream channel followed a downstream progression as the water level of the reservoir receded. First, the stream carved a very narrow (*c.a.* 50 cm-wide) channel that went as deep as 1.5 m. During flood periods, the channel widened, always keeping vertical banks, and frequent processes of channel avulsion occurred, whereas the lowermost emerged areas registered streambed aggradation and braidening (Figs. 4.1.3, 4.1.4 & 4.1.5). By summer 2019, when the reservoir was already empty, two braided sections were formed, one upstream from the Enobieta Dam, the other upstream from the small unnamed weir that emerged in the former reservoir (Fig. 4.1.5). After the removal of this weir in October 2019, upstream knickpoint migration and channel degradation occurred through the retained sediments (Figs 4.1.1 & 4.1.6). Conversely, aggradation occurred downstream from the removed weir, and the stream channel braided even more (Fig. 4.1.7). The photogrammetric comparison between 2019 and 2020 showed that the level of the accumulated sediments hardly changed, except for the newly carved Enobieta Stream channel (Fig. 4.1.8) that coincides with the small weir removal. From the photogrammetric surveys, the volume of sediments lost was estimated at 6896 m³ (*ca.* 8% of the total accumulated sediment), which corresponds almost entirely to the newly carved Enobieta Stream channel.



Figure 4.1.3. Upper panel: gravel accumulation in the reservoir tail area on the Enobieta streambed prior to the drawdown of the reservoir in 2015. Bottom panel: incision in the reservoir tail area derived from the reservoir drawdown in 2019. Pictures: Arturo Elosegi.



Figure 4.1.4. Upper panel: degraded narrow channel in the newly emerged sediment in 2018. Lower panel: widening of the Enobieta Stream in the reservoir tail area. Pictures: Arturo Elosegi.



Figure 4.1.5. Braided Enobieta Stream channel upstream from the small weir (July 2019). Picture: Arturo Elosegi.

Sediment export

During the before period, both control and impact sites showed similar turbidity values (median: control before = 0.93 NTU, impact before = 1.01 NTU) resulting in I/C ratios near 1 (Fig. 4.1.9). When the bottom gate was first opened in December 2018, turbidity in the impact site increased remarkably (initially, up to 292 NTU) (Fig. S2) due to sediment released from the reservoir. Frequent turbidity peaks indicated sediment transport events, linked either to rain events (even small ones) or to sudden adjustments of the stream channel (Fig. 4.1.9). The last noticeable turbidity peak (up to 760 NTU) caused by the drawdown happened when the small weir within the reservoir was removed in October 2019 (Fig. S2). After this episode, turbidity values were similar in the control and impact sites (median: control after = 1.39 NTU, impact after = 1.15 NTU) (Figs. 4.1.9 and S2), suggesting a small effect of sediments mobilized from the reservoir.


Figure 4.1.6. Upper panel: knickpoint creation after the small weir removal in October 2019. Lower panel: channel widening of the same site after a rainy November in 2019. Notice that water percolating through organic sediments produces red iron precipitates. Pictures: Arturo Elosegi.



Figure 4.1.7. Braided Enobieta Stream channel between the small weir (located near the background of the picture) and the large dam, from which the picture was taken (July 2020). Picture: Arturo Elosegi.



Figure 4.1.8. Comparison of Enobieta Reservoir sediment elevation prior to and after the removal of the small weir. Units are m.



Figure 4.1.9. Turbidity time series data represented as impact/control (I2/C2) ratio during the before, drawdown and after periods (separated by vertical dashed lines). Values near the dashed line denote similar turbidity in impact and control sites, with points above the line having higher turbidity in the impact site.

We estimated that 11.7 Mg of suspended solids were transported during the before period, 419.7 Mg during the drawdown period, and 55.7 Mg during the after period. These amounts were equivalent to 74.5 kg day⁻¹, 1206 kg day⁻¹ and 195.3 kg day⁻¹ of daily suspended solid transport during the before, drawdown and the after periods, respectively. In total, 1816.7 m³ suspended solids were exported from the reservoir to the downstream sites. On average, the excavated riverbanks were made up of 23.4% silt or clay, 4.1% sand or gravel, 22.8% cobbles and pebbles, and 49.6% leaf litter (Fig. 4.1.2). Therefore, extrapolating from the 1816.7 m³ of fine sediments exported, the total volume of sediments exported amounted to 7763.7 m³.

Downstream fluvial geomorphological changes

Before reservoir drawdown, riverbed coarsening was noticeable just below the dam (site I1) compared to the rest of the sites, as indicated by the higher median bed particle size (D_{50} = 180 mm) and the absence of sand or fine gravel (Table 4.1.1). This effect decreased during drawdown at I1, but the change was not noticeable at sites I3 and I4 (Table 4.1.1). In the after period, grain size decreased substantially, with a reduction of 50% in site I1 and of 30% in sites, I2, I3 and I4 (Table 4.1.1). The percentage of particles smaller than 4 mm did not vary significantly in any of the downstream sites

during reservoir drawdown (Table 4.1.1). During the after period, grain size reduction was still noticeable in site I1 (D_{50} = 45 mm), where also the percentage of fine gravel increased by 12%.

Table 4.1.1. Median bed particle size (D_{50} , mm) and percentage of particles smaller than 4 mm in control (C1, C2, C3, C4), impact (I1, I2, I3, I4) and reservoir sites (R1, R2, R3) during periods before, drawdown, and after. Note that R sites were sampled only during the after period.

Variable	Period			16				Reac	n			
		C1	C2	C3	C4	11	12	13	14	R1	R2	R3
	Before	90	90	90	90	180	128	90	90	()	≂	
D ₅₀	Drawdown	64	128	64	90	90	90	64	64	850	=	
(mm)	After	45	90	64	64	45	90	64	64	64	45	22.6
120	Before	3	4	2	3	0	1	1	2	123	-	123
< 4 mm particles (%)	Drawdown	3	5	2	3	0	1	2	1	-	5	-
	After	4	3	0	0	12	3	0	1	0	0	0

Minor channel bed aggradation occurred in all control sites within the study period, whereas we did not observe any consistent pattern in the impact sites. We detected almost no changes in bed level in the sites closest to the dam (I1 and I2), whereas sites I3 and I4 underwent aggradation and degradation processes, respectively (Table 4.1.2).

Reach	λh (cm)
C1	$\textbf{7.4} \pm \textbf{7.8}$
C2	$\textbf{4.3} \pm \textbf{7.6}$
C3	$\textbf{8.1} \pm \textbf{19.2}$
C4	$\textbf{7.4} \pm \textbf{5.2}$
11	$\textbf{-1.7} \pm \textbf{10.1}$
12	$\textbf{-0.7} \pm \textbf{2.2}$
13	$\textbf{5.90} \pm \textbf{9.14}$
14	-5 ± 5.6

Table 4.1.2. Changes in average stream bed elevation (λ h, cm) in both control (C1, C2, C3 eta C4) and impact (I1, I2, I3 and I4) site during the study period. Mean and SE were calculated from the 6 cross-sections measured during the before (n = 1) and the after (n = 1) periods.

Water physicochemistry

Artikutza stands out for the excellent water quality in the valley. The streams in there have low conductivity, and pH is always around circumneutral values (*i.e.*, pH values are around 7). Additionally, streams are oligotrophic (*i.e.*, inorganic nutrient concentrations are low), and oxygen saturation is constantly around 100%.

The drawdown of the reservoir did not affect pH or DO saturation, but altered the rest of the physicochemical attributes (Table 4.1.4). There was weak evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir altered nutrient concentrations (SRP and NH₄⁺), EC or T (Table 4.1.4). The concentration of NH₄⁺ followed the clearest pattern related to the drawdown of the reservoir (Table 4.1.3). During the before period, comparison between control and impact reaches showed evidence that concentrations were, on average, higher in the impact reaches (BCI_{NH4+} p < 0.01; Table S1). Such effect was highest in site I1 and lowest in site I4 (Table 4.1.3). This pattern was maintained during the drawdown period (BD:CI_{NH4+} p = 0.40; Table S1), but data revealed evidence that during the after period NH₄⁺ concentrations were reduced to the point that they were similar in control and impact reaches (BCI_{SRP} p = 0.24; Table S1). Overall, during the drawdown and the after periods SRP concentrations decreased more in the control than in the

impact reaches (BD: CI_{SRP} p = 0.06; BA: CI_{SRP} p = 0.10; Table S1), differences between reach types becoming very small (Table 4.1.3).

There was strong evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir altered total Fe and Mn (BDA:Cl_{Fe} p < 0.001; BDA:Cl_{Mn} p < 0.001; Table 4.1.4). During the before period, Fe and Mn concentrations were higher in the impact reaches (BCl_{Fe} p < 0.01; BCl_{Mn} p < 0.01; Table S1), especially in sites I1 and I2 (Table 4.1.3). Mn precipitation was easily visible in the sites just below the dam during this period (Fig. 4.1.10). Differences between control and impact reaches were maintained during the drawdown period, as shown by the non-significant before-drawdown/control-impact interaction (BD:Cl_{Fe} p = 0.96; BD:Cl_{Mn} p = 0.31; Table S1). During the after period, data revealed strong evidence that Fe and Mn concentrations were reduced to nearby undammed reach values (BA:Cl_{Fe} p < 0.01; BA:Cl_{Mn} p < 0.0001; Table S1) (Table 4.1.3).



Figure 4.1.10. Manganese precipitation in the site just below the dam before the drawdown of the reservoir in 2018.

Regarding to the reservoir area, overall, during the after period all water physicochemical characteristics were similar in control, impact, and reservoir sites (Table 4.1.3). However, water temperature and DO saturation peaked in R2 and R3, likely due to the open canopy since they were emerged later, and riparian vegetation was not as developed. Nevertheless, variability in these attributes was high and the effect size small. Similarly, EC as well as the concentration of metals showed an increase from R1 to R3 and decreased with distance to the reservoir in impact sites, although we measured similar values in some control sites. Besides, the probes deployed during the opening of the bottom gate detected almost no effect of the bottom water release on oxygen levels, which were always above 90% saturation, even at site 11.

Table 4.1.3. Water characteristics in control (C1, C2, C3 and C4), impact (I1, I2, I3 and I4) and reservoir sites (R1, R2 and R3) during periods Before (n = 7), Drawdown (n = 6) and After (n = 3). Values shown are mean \pm standard error. Values in brackets represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each Impact site divided by the overall average of the Control sites for each period. Note that R reaches were sampled only during the after period.

Variable	Period					Reach						
		C1	C2	C3	C4	R1	R2	R3	11	12	13	14
	Before	11.3 ± 1	11.2 ±	11.4 ±	11.5 ±	-	-	-	13.3 ± 1.6	12.5 ± 1.4	12.4 ± 1.3	12.2 ±
			1.2	1.1	0.8				(0.16)	(0.10)	(0.09)	1.1
Т												(0.07)
(°C)	Drawdown	12.2 ±	12.5 ±	11.8 ±	11.9 ± 1	-	-	-	13.8 ± 1.8	12.6 ± 1.1	12.5 ± 1.4	12.2 ±
		1.3	1.4	1.5					(0.13)	(0.04)	(0.03)	1.3
												(0.01)
	After	11.7 ±	10.9 ±	10.2 ±	10.2 ±	11.9 ±	12.8 ± 2.8	13.9 ± 3	12.9 ± 2.6	11.7 ± 2.2	10.5 ± 2	9.7 ± 1.3
		2.1	2.5	2.1	1.3	2.45	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.18)	(0.08)	(-0.02)	(-0.10)
						(0.1)						
		F0 7 .	60 0 i	40.4	405.2.1				05.0.1.0	00.0.4.6.5	72.2	05.0.1
	Before	58.7±	60.9 ±	48.4 ±	$105.2 \pm$	-	-	-	95.9 ± 9	83.3 ± 6.5	$/3.2 \pm 5.5$	85.8 ±
50		1.9	2.9	1.9	6.3				(0.34)	(0.20)	(0.07)	5.4
EC		64 D I	62 Q I	50.0.1.0	400.0					04.0.4.6.5	767.6	(0.24)
(µS cm ⁻)	Drawdown	61.3±	62.3 ±	50.2 ± 2	109.9 ±	-	-	-	103.4 ± 6.6	91.9 ± 6.5	/6./±6	91.7±
		3.1	1.9		8.1				(0.39)	(0.27)	(0.09)	/.2
	A (4	C1 1 1			440.4	744.67	404.0 + 6 5	1117.02	447.0 + 0	00 5 4 6 7	00 4 - 5 5	(0.27)
	Aπer	61.4 ±	66.8 ±	50.7±	110.4 ±	74.4 ± 6.7	101.8 ± 6.5	114.7 ± 8.2	117.8 ± 8	98.5 ± 6.7	80.4 ± 5.5	94.1 ±
		2.5	2.1	1.1	8.7	(0.1)	(0.4)	(0.5)	(0.49)	(0.31)	(0.11)	/.3 (0.26)
	Poforo	77+07	74 ± 01	71+02	75+04				75 + 0 1	75+02	75+01	77+01
nН	Belore	7.2 ± 0.2	7.4 ± 0.1	7.1 ± 0.2	7.5 ± 0.4	-	-	-	7.5 ± 0.1	7.5 ± 0.2	7.5 ± 0.1	/./ ± 0.1 (0.05)
рп	Drawdown	72+01	72+01	72+01	76+01	_	_	_	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.05)
	Diawaowii	7.2 ± 0.1	7.2 ± 0.1	7.2 ± 0.1	7.0 ± 0.1				(0 01)	(0)	(0)	/.4 ± 0.2 (0.01)
	Aftor	75+02	76+02	74+02	76+01	72+04	76+02	8 + 0 3	(0.01)	76+01	(0)	(0.01)
	Alter	1.5 ± 0.5	7.0 ± 0.2	7.4±0.5	7.0±0.1	(0)	(0)	0 ± 0.5	/./ ± 0 (0.03)	(0)	(0)	(-0 03)
							(0)	(0.1)	(0.03)		(0)	(-0.03)

	Before	99.7 ±	101.6 ±	101.1 ±	102.5 ±	-	-	-	100.1 ± 0.4	101.6 ±	101.8 ±	102.5 ±
		0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5				(-0.01)	0.7	0.5	0.6
DO sat.										(0)	(0)	(0.01)
(%)	Drawdown	100.1 ±	101.6 ±	100.4 ±	101.8 ±	-	-	-	100.1±1.3	100.8 ±	101.2 ±	101.5 ±
		1.2	0.6	0.7	0.6				(0)	0.7	0.7	1.1
										(0)	(0)	(0)
	After	102 ±	101.1 ±	100.7 ±	101.7 ±	101.7 ±	103.4 ± 6	104.75 ±	101.6 ± 0.1	101.9 ±	100.9 ±	101.1 ±
		1.2	0.4	0.2	0.1	10.2	(0)	11.5	(0)	0.2	0.5	0.1
						(0)		(0)		(0)	(0)	(0)
	Before	17.3 ±	8.8 ±	16.4 ±	12.9 ±	-	-	-	14.8 ± 12.4	11.3 ± 7.3	11.6 ± 7.2	12.9 ±
SRP		5.1	35.8	8.6	8.3				(-0.06)	(-0.21)	(-0.18)	8.3
(µg L⁻¹)												(-0.07)
	Drawdown	9.2 ± 2	12.5 ±	12.6 ±	9.2 ± 2.7	-	-	-	6.4 ± 1.3	6.1 ± 1.8	9.9 ± 2.4	10.3 ± 3
			1.1	1.9					(-0.30)	(-0.36)	(0.13)	(0.17)
	After	8.3 ± 2.3	10.9 ± 3	8.35 ±	5.2 ± 0.7	8.7 ± 2.1	7.6 ± 1.6	8.7 ± 1.4	6 ± 1.5	4.4 ± 1.5	5.2 ± 0.7	6 ± 1.5
				3.9		(-0.5)	(-0.6)	(-0.5)	(0.18)	(0.08)	(-0.02)	(-0.10)
	Before	3.3 ± 0.8	4.9 ± 1.6	7.8 ± 3.1	5.4 ± 2.1			_	21.1 ± 7.5	16.3 ± 5.5	8.4 ± 2.8	7.5 ± 1.8
NH4 ⁺					-				(1.37)	(1.12)	(0.45)	(0.33)
(ug L ⁻¹)	Drawdown	15.6 ±	21 ± 7.3	7.9 ± 2.3	11.7 ±	-	-	-	61.4 ± 37.3	20 ± 6.1	9 ± 2	13.7 ±
(1-0)		5.7			3.3				(1.45)	(1.06)	(0.26)	6.6
												(0.19)
	After	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0	4.1 ± 1.6	4.1 ± 1.6	5 ± 2.5	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0	2.5 ± 0
						(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.1)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)
	Before	181+6	10 + 0	15 5 +	10 + 0				131 / +	126.8.+	54 9 +	29 9 + 7
Fo	Belore	10.1 ± 0	10 ± 0	37	10 ± 0				131.4 ±	63.3	18.8	(0.80)
$(u \sigma 1^{-1})$				5.7					(2.28)	(2.25)	(1 41)	(0.80)
(µg L)	Drawdown	463+	10 + 0	34 +	623+	_	_	_	298 3 +	233 2 +	272 5 +	36 + 13 1
	Drawaowii	14.4	10 1 0	16 7	33.6				127 7	107 1	137.3	(-0.06)
		± · · ·		10.7	00.0				(2.06)	(1.81)	(1.97)	(0.00)
	After	10 ± 0	42.3 ±	19.1 ±	17.4 ±	11.5 ± 5.9	34.8 ± 12.6	63 ± 11.7	(00)	(01) 32 ± 7.1	()	15.5 ±
		'	18.2	4.7	3.7	(-0.7)	(0.4)	(1)	(1.05)	(0.37)	(0.08)	5.5
			-		-	x - 7	(-)	. ,	()	()	(/	(-0.36)

Mn	Before	5 ± 0	5 ± 0	5 ± 0	5 ± 0	-	-	-	106.3 ± 30.5	85.8 ± 31 (2.84)	42.1 ± 19.3	15.9 ± 3.9
(µg L ⁻)	Drawdown	8.3 ± 3.3	5 ± 0	21.7 ± 16.7	16.3 ± 7.2	-	-	-	(3.06) 131 ± 44 (2.32)	78.5 ± 27.9 (1.81)	(2.13) 105.1 ± 73.1 (2.10)	(1.16) 8.1 ± 3.1 (-0.46)
	After	5 ± 0	7.5 ± 2.5	5 ± 0	5 ± 0	3 ± 0.5 (-0.5)	18.8 ± 7.4 (1.3)	26.4 ± 3.8 (1.7)	31.6 ± 3.9 (1.73)	(1.01) 15.6 ± 0.9 (1.02)	5 ± 0 (-0.12)	5±0 (-0.12)

Table 4.1.3. Results of the linear mixed-effects models using period (before/drawdown/after) and reach (control/impact) as fixed factors and water physicochemical attributes as response variables. Sampling date within each period and sampling site were used as random factors. Bold values indicate statistically significant results with p < 0.05. Degrees of freedom were estimated with Satterthwaite's method.

Variable	Source of variation	d.f.	F value	p value
	BDA	2, 12.01	0.23	0.8
T (°C)	CI	1, 6.66	5.28	0.06
	BDA:CI	2, 91.02	2.86	0.06
	BDA	2, 11.94	0.7	0.52
EC (µS cm ⁻¹)	CI	1, 6.03	2.16	0.19
	BDA:CI	2, 89.2	2.83	0.06
	BDA	2, 11.94	0.35	0.71
рН	CI	1, 7.35	1.09	0.33
	BDA:CI	2, 90.03	1.77	0.18
	BDA	2, 11.95	0.17	0.85
DO sat (%)	CI	1, 6.56	0.02	0.9
	BDA:CI	2, 91.03	0.25	0.78
	BDA	2, 12.01	0.23	0.8
T (°C)	CI	1, 6.66	5.28	0.06
	BDA:CI	2, 91.02	2.86	0.06
	BDA	2, 9	0.1	0.91
SRP (µg L⁻¹)	CI	1, 6.21	0.23	0.65
	BDA:CI	2, 74.03	2.5	0.09
	BDA	2, 10.02	7.23	< 0.05
NH₄⁺ (μg L¹)	CI	1, 7.1	4.29	0.08
	BDA:CI	2, 81.13	2.44	0.09
	BDA	2, 10	2.3	0.15
Fe (µg L⁻¹)	CI	1, 6.22	12.2	< 0.05
	BDA:CI	2, 82	8.77	< 0.001
	BDA	2, 10	2.75	0.11
Mn (μg L⁻¹)	CI	1, 6.16	10.68	< 0.05
	BDA:CI	2, 82	9.01	< 0.001

Discussion

It has been estimated that *c.a.* 2000 dams have been removed worldwide (Habel et al. 2020), but so far, the consequences of only 10% of these projects have been empirically documented (Bellmore et al. 2019; Habel et al. 2020; Vahedifard et al. 2021). Geomorphology, together with fish migration and fish population improvement, are the most studied variables in available publications (Foley et al. 2017; Liuyong Ding et al. 2019; Duda et al. 2021). However, several authors remark that it is still necessary to study more cases to understand the fate of reservoir sediments (Sawaske & Freyberg 2012), especially in the case of large dams (Randle et al. 2015; Foley et al. 2017). This is also the case

for downstream water quality, since there is still insufficient understanding on the effects of dam removal on the release of nutrients and contaminants (Bohrerova et al. 2017; Maavara et al. 2020). Our results revealed that prior to decommissioning, the Enobieta Dam had subtle but negative effects on downstream water quality and physical habitat complexity and heterogeneity, although these effects were greatly attenuated along our study section, as reported by other authors (Ellis & Jones 2013). Drawdown caused some additional downstream impacts, such as increased suspended solids and higher heavy metal and ammonium releases. However, habitat heterogeneity and water quality in the impact sites rapidly resembled nearby undammed sites, as reported by others (Magilligan et al. 2016; Abbott et al. 2022). Besides, as others did (Ibisate et al. 2016), we also observed degradation in the reservoir area sediment deposits, although erosion was mainly reduced to the newly carved stream channel, probably due to the slow drawdown, to the physical properties of deposited sediments and to the rapid plant colonization, which resemble other cases described by Sawaske & Freyberg (2012) and Orr & Stanley (2006), respectively.

To identify the main drivers of the erosion of sediments stored in reservoirs, Sawaske & Freyberg (2012) went beyond conceptual (Pizzuto 2002) and numerical studies that predict potential sediment erosion and channel evolution (Cui et al. 2006a; Cui et al. 2006b) and compiled empirical data from 12 primarily small dam removal case studies within the US. Results indicated lower erosion in fine, cohesive, and consolidated sediments and in stratified deposits. They also included deposit geometry (*i.e.*, deposit depth), annual watershed sediment yield, and dam decommissioning timeline (*i.e.*, staged vs nonstaged) as the most important parameters that influence reservoir erosion rates. The Enobieta Reservoir sediment deposits were both cohesive and stratified and deposited in a far wider area than the former stream channel, as a consequence of many years maintaining the reservoir full of water. These sediment characteristics should explain their stability. Furthermore, emerged sediments were quickly colonized by vegetation, probably due to the favorable climatic conditions and the arrival of new propagules from the dense surrounding vegetation. This colonization was initially dominated by Persicaria maculosa (S.F. Gray), later substituted by Juncus sp. (L.), and Urtica dioica (L.), then by shrubs [Rubus ulmifolius (Schott) and Cytisus scoparius (L.)], and eventually by trees, especially black alder [Alnus glutinosa (L.) Gaertn.] but including also many other native species such as willow [Salix sp. (L.)] or ash [Fraxinus excelsior (L.)]. We also observed a few individuals of invasive species, such as Cortaderia selloana [(Schult. & Schult.f.) Asch. & Graebn. 1900], Robinia pseudoacacia (L.) or Buddleja davidii (Franch.), but these individuals were quickly removed by the local rangers.

According to field- (Wildman & MacBroom 2005) and flume-scale experiments (Coveleski & Curran 2012; Ferrer-Boix et al. 2014; Curran & Coveleski 2021), as well as to conceptual models (Doyle et al. 2002; Pizzuto 2002), reservoir sediment erosion and channel evolution in response to dam removal follows six steps: a) reservoir drawdown and base-level lowering, b) degradation and knickpoint migration, c) continued degradation and narrowing, d) continued degradation and widening, e) aggradation and widening and f) quasi-equilibrium after vegetation colonization and floodplain development (Randle et al. 2015). In Enobieta Dam, decommissioning is being performed in two main stages, which first include a slow drawdown, followed by the opening of the bottom gate and the removal of the small weir. During the slow reservoir drawdown, as the reservoir delta prograded towards the dam, steps a), c), d), e) and f) (see above) occurred simultaneously at different reaches. As water level receded, multiple channel creation, degradation and narrowing were observed in the newly emerged sediment, until the dominant channel (*i.e.*, the one with the highest discharge) captured the flow from the other channels, as also happened in the Elwha restoration process (Randle et al. 2015). Then, stream channel widening occurred, probably because pre-dam channel bottom was reached after continuous degradation, mostly during high flows (Wildman & MacBroom 2005; Coveleski & Curran 2012), or because as the delta prograded, sediments were deposited across the receded reservoir. During this widening process stream braidening and aggradation also occurred, as shown by others (Randle et al. 2015). After the removal of the small weir that emerged within the reservoir, all six steps that lead to rapid changes in channel morphology were observed. Indeed, as reported for other nonstaged dam removals (Wildman & MacBroom 2005), a small chute was created in the channel immediately upstream from the weir, which rapidly migrated upstream to the point that the stream reached bedrock during the very rainy month of November 2019. Henceforth, degradation slowed, and widening, braidening, and aggradation also occurred in the channel located between the large and the small dam. Thus, the major channel adjustments occurred after flood discharge. Aggradation processes were linked to both, coarser sediment transport within the reservoir channel and vegetation colonization. The total estimated sediment erosion was c.a. 8%, which coincides with the low erosion percentage measured in staged dam decommissioning case studies (Burroughs et al. 2009) or in case studies with highly cohesive deposits (Doyle et al. 2003a).

Few dam removal projects have included the monitoring of deposited sediment erosion and the afterwards downstream sediment release from the reservoir (Bellmore et al. 2017). The main concerns regarding the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir were the potential downstream impacts of the sediment released. First, the potential impact on biodiversity, as suspended solids can have detrimental effects on riverine communities (Wood & Arrmitage 1997; Izagirre et al. 2009; Davis et al. 2018), to the point that they are included among the most prevalent contaminants in streams (USEPA

2000). Second, the adverse effects that the sediment released might cause in the Añarbe Reservoir, located c.a. 10 km further downstream. Nevertheless, the latter was of minor concern, since the sediments stored were not polluted (Ekos 2016) and their total volume did not exceed 88000 m³ (Girder 2016), which amounts to only 71.5% of the annual inputs to Añarbe, estimated at 123000 m³ per year (CEDEX 2005). In agreement with previous studies (Tullos et al. 2014; Magilligan et al. 2016; Peters et al. 2017), we observed that the drawdown of the reservoir substantially reduced median bed grain size in the impact sites, especially in the ones located closest to the dam (I1 and I2). These changes were probably also associated to the natural dynamism of the stream since variation in control sites was also observed both during and after the drawdown of the reservoir. Another possible explanation is that reach 11 was continuously receiving fine sediment from site R3, which would reduce mean bed sediment grain size during the first-year post restoration in the reach just below the dam. Eventually, D₅₀ may increase as coarser material reaches both R3 and I1 sites, unless natural conditions prevent it. Although frequent peaks of turbidity occurred during drawdown, these were short-lived and in general below 300 NTU, which is not an unusual turbidity in streams in the region (Zabaleta & Antigüedad 2012). Even if during most of the drawdown period the riverbed appeared covered by a mm-thin layer of fine sediments (personal observation), changes in channel dimensions were almost unnoticeable and there was no channel aggradation, showing the erosive power of Artikutza Stream.

Higher inorganic nutrient, manganese and iron concentrations were also released along with the sediment transport. As remarked in other reservoirs (Friedl & Wüest 2002; Betancourt et al. 2010; Munger et al. 2017) during the summer stratification Enobieta Reservoir released high Fe and Mn concentrations due to the low redox potential in the hypolimnion, which dissolved soluble Fe (II) and Mn (III) forms. But, downstream from the dam, at circumneutral pH and oxygenated water, metals precipitated, and black manganese deposits were observed (Fig. 4.1.10). This effect was especially noticeable in site 11, where Fe and Mn levels were, on average, 10 and 21 times higher than in control reaches (mean \pm SE = 131.4 \pm 43.6 µg Fe L⁻¹ and 106.3 \pm 30.5 µg Mn L⁻¹) and then decreased with the increasing distance to the dam. Ammonium followed the same pattern as metals: it was also accumulated (Friedl & Wüest 2002), and due to hypolimnetic water release, highest ammonium concentrations were observed below the dam. Contrary to expected, we did not detect an increase in phosphorus release during the drawdown, as others did (Orr et al. 2008). Water quality improved swiftly after drawdown, reaching by the end of the experiment the values of nearby undammed reaches for most variables.

This case study may be a precedent for other large dam decommissioning projects, as it shows slow drawdown to minimize the potential downstream ecological impacts. Additionally, we should remark the importance of the conservation status of the surrounding catchment, as this will also condition both the prolongation of the useful life of the reservoir (small inputs of sediments) and the downstream impacts during the eventual drawdown.

4.2. Biofilm structure and functioning

Dam removal usually triggers the downstream movement of large amounts of sediment stored in the reservoir (Wilcox et al. 2014; Randle et al. 2015) which typically scours and reduces autotrophic biofilm biomass and activity (Francoeur & Biggs 2006; Izagirre et al. 2009; Bellmore et al. 2019). However, autotrophic biofilm could recover shortly after these sediment disperse, as it shows high resilience to physical disturbances (Steinman & McIntire 1990). Nevertheless, empirical information is limited to small dams or, in the case of large dams, to modeling exercises (Bellmore et al. 2019). Regarding organic matter breakdown, in which heterotrophic biofilms play a key role, information is limited to one publication on total leaf litter breakdown (Muehlbauer et al. 2009) that showed little response to dam removal. In any case, to our knowledge the effects of large dam decommissioning on stream biofilm functioning still needs to be assessed.

We investigated changes in biofilm biomass and chlorophyll-a (Chl-*a*) as well as in three benthic biofilm functions (*i.e.*, metabolism, nutrient uptake, and microbial organic matter decomposition) before, during and after the drawdown. Our general hypothesis was that reservoir drawdown would affect water physicochemical characteristics, which, in turn, would cause shifts in the studied functions. Therefore, we predicted that i) before drawdown, autotrophic biofilm metabolism and nutrient uptake would be higher downstream from the dam than in control reaches, because of hydrological stability, whereas microbial organic matter decomposition would be reduced due to degraded water quality; these effects would fade out downstream as the distance from the dam increases, ii) during reservoir drawdown, transport of suspended sediment would reduce the rates of the three studied functions, the highest effects occurring immediately downstream from the dam, and iii) after the drawdown, because of its high resilience, biofilm downstream from the dam would quick approach those from control reaches.

Results

Comparison between control and impact reaches showed no evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir affected biofilm biomass (BDA:Cl_{Biomass} p = 0.52; Table 4.2.1). Indeed, values were similar in control and impact reaches during the before (mean \pm SE = 3.24 \pm 0.68 g AFDM m⁻² and 2.58 \pm 0.43 g AFDM m⁻², respectively), drawdown (1.77 \pm 0.14 g AFDM m⁻² and 1.46 \pm 0.11 g AFDM m⁻²) and after periods (1.08 \pm 0.07 g AFDM m⁻² and 1.21 \pm 0.10 g AFDM m⁻²; Fig. 4.2.1). Nevertheless, effect sizes

indicated that in site 11 biofilm biomass was lower than in the control sites during the before period, whereas it was higher during and after the drawdown of the reservoir (Fig. 4.2.1).



Figure 4.2.1. Biofilm biomass in control and impact sites before, during, and after the drawdown. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale reflects distance from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average of each impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period.

Contrasting with biomass, we found evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir altered biofilm Chl-*a* concentration (BDA:Cl_{Chl-a} p < 0.01; Table 4.2.1). During the before period, Chl-*a* showed similar values in the control and impact reaches (mean \pm SE = 2.49 \pm 0.34 mg m⁻² and 2.58 \pm 0.43 mg m⁻², respectively) (BCl_{Chl-a} p = 0.86; Table S2), but the drawdown of the reservoir reduced Chl-*a* by 44% in impact relative to control reaches (9.86 \pm 0.99 mg m⁻² and 5.56 \pm 0.74 mg m⁻²) (BD:Cl_{Chl-a} p < 0.01; Table S2 & Fig. 4.2.2). This negative effect decreased during the after period, when Chl-*a* concentration showed again similar values in control and impact reaches (7.48 \pm 0.84 mg m⁻² and 5.81 \pm 0.63 mg m⁻²) (BA:Cl_{Chl-a} p = 0.27; Table S2). Effect sizes also showed this trend in biofilm Chl-*a* concentration, and 11 and 13 were the sites most negatively affected during all three periods.



Figure 4.2.2. Chl-*a* concentration in control and impact sites before, during, and after the drawdown. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale reflects distance from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average of each Impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period.

There was very strong evidence for a negative effect of the reservoir drawdown on biofilm metabolism (BDA:Cl_{GPP} p < 0.0001; BDA:Cl_{CR} p < 0.0001; Table 4.2.1 & Fig. 4.2.3). GPP and CR were, respectively, 48% and 32% lower in the impact reaches during the drawdown period (BD:Cl_{GPP} p < 0.001; BD:Cl_{CR} p < 0.001; Table S2), and showed a recovery trend during the after period (BA:Cl_{GPP} p = 0.06; BA:Cl_{CR} p = 0.07; Table S2 & Fig. 4.2.3). Effect sizes indicated that the negative effect of the drawdown of the reservoir was highest just below the dam and decreased downstream (Fig. 4.2.3).



Figure 4.2.3. Biofilm gross primary production (GPP; top panels) and community respiration (CR; lower panels) in Control and Impact reaches before, during, and after the drawdown. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale reflects distance from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each Impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period.

Reservoir drawdown had minor effects on biofilm nutrient uptake (BDA:Cl_{SRPUptake} p = 0.67; BDA:Cl_{NH4+} p = 0.99; Table 4.2.1 & Fig. 4.2.4). During the before period data revealed weak evidence that SRP uptake was higher in the impact reaches (mean \pm SE = 133.76 \pm 12.49 µg P h⁻¹ m⁻²) than in the control reaches (92.79 \pm 11.37 µg P h⁻¹ m⁻²) (BCl_{SRPUptake} p = 0.07; Table S2), but not NH₄⁺ uptake (80.89 \pm 18.68 µg P h⁻¹ m⁻² and 83.68 \pm 15.50 µg P h⁻¹ m⁻²) (BCl_{NH4+Uptake} p = 0.82; Table S2). Although data did

not reveal any evidence that NH_4^+ uptake changed due to the drawdown (Table 4.2.1), effect sizes indicated that differences between control and impact sites decreased from the before to the drawdown and the after periods (Fig. 4.2.4). By contrast, this ratio was quite constant within the whole study in the case of biofilm SRP uptake (Fig. 4.2.4).



Figure 4.2.4. Biofilm uptake of soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP; top panels) and ammonium (NH₄⁺; lower panels) in control and impact sites before, during, and after the drawdown. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale reflects distance from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each Impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period.

Overall, there was no clear evidence that reservoir drawdown affected organic matter decomposition (BDA:Cl_k p = 0.15; Table 4.2.1). However, the specific interactions differed depending on the period (BD:Cl_k p = 0.05 ; BA:Cl_k p = 0.22; Table S2). During the Before period, comparison between control and impact reaches showed evidence that decomposition rates were lower below the dam (BCI p < 0.01; Table S2), and I1 was the most impaired site (effect size = -0.46; Fig. 6).



Figure 4.2.5. Organic matter decomposition rate (k) in control and impact sites before, during, and after the drawdown. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale reflects distance from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each Impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period.

Table 4.2.1. Results of the linear mixed-effects models using period (before/drawdown/after) and reach (control/impact) as fixed factors and biofilm structural and functional attributes as response variables. Sampling date within each period and sampling site were used as random factors. Bold values indicate statistically significant results with p < 0.05. Degrees of freedom were estimated with Satterthwaite's method.

Variable	Source of	d.f.	F value	p value
	variation			
	BDA	2, 4.01	3.24	0.15
Biomass (g AFDM m ⁻²)	CI	1, 6.72	0.6	0.47
	BDA:CI	2, 259.78	0.65	0.52
	BDA	2, 4	0.34	0.73
Chlorophyll-a (mg m ⁻²)	CI	1, 6.83	3.41	0.11
	BDA:CI	2, 271.6	6.14	< 0.01
	BDA	2, 6	1.4	0.32
GPP (mg $O_2 h^{-1} m^{-2}$)	CI	1, 6	2.89	0.14
	BDA:CI	2, 54	14.15	< 0.0001
	BDA	2, 6.02	0.87	0.47
CR (mg $O_2 h^{-1} m^{-2}$)	CI	1, 5.93	1.16	0.32
	BDA:CI	2, 54	16.12	< 0.0001
	BDA	2, 5	1.23	0.37
SRP uptake (µg h ⁻¹ m ⁻²)	CI	1, 6	4.35	0.08
	BDA:CI	2, 162.2	0.4	0.67
	BDA	2, 5.02	1.74	0.27
NH4 ⁺ uptake (µg h ⁻¹ m ⁻²)	CI	1, 6.04	0.04	0.86
	BDA:CI	2, 161.14	0.01	0.99
	BDA	2, 4.05	0.99	0.45
k (day⁻¹)	CI	1, 6.37	5.39	0.06
	BDA:CI	2, 221.6	1.97	0.14

Discussion

Biofilms are highly sensitive to environmental changes (Battin et al. 2016), so high metal concentrations below the dam may have negatively affected biofilm structure and functioning, both during its operation and decommissioning. Indeed, against the pattern most often found below dams (Munn & Brusven 2004; Ponsatí et al. 2015), neither biofiom biomass or Chl-*a* nor metabolism were higher below Enobieta Dam. It is likely that Fe and Mn precipitating at circumneutral pH could have caused indirect physical impacts on benthic communities (Cadmus et al. 2018), such as sunlight blocking (Chon & Hwang 2000), in addition to direct toxic effects (Morin et al. 2012; Harford et al. 2015; Kosarev et al. 2022). Additionally, as it was maintained unused and full for decades, Enobieta

Reservoir had little or no regulating effect, and it may not have offered enough hydrological stability to reduce scouring and consequently enhance biofilm growth below the dam. During drawdown, Chla and metabolism were reduced downstream from the Enobieta Dam, most probably as a response to the presence of suspended solids, as reported elsewhere for small decommissioned dams (Orr et al. 2008; Chang et al. 2017). Turbidity and deposition of fine sediment can affect biofilm communities in contrasting ways. On the one hand, they reduce light penetration into the benthos (Davies-Colley et al. 1992) as well as the availability of stable attachment surfaces (Wood & Arrmitage 1997), thus limiting periphyton accrual and metabolism (Davies-Colley et al. 1992; Aspray et al. 2017; Louhi et al. 2017). On the other hand, sediments can also act as fertilizers and promote biofilm biomass and metabolism (Baattrup-Pedersen et al. 2020). In fact, Pérez-Calpe et al. (2021), in an experiment in which they exposed indoor channels to fine sediments from the Enobieta Reservoir, showed these sediments do promote biofilm biomass and metabolic activity, suggesting a fertilizing effect of the nutrient leachates. The exact balance between the potential subsidy and stress effects of fine sediments thus seems to be dependent of site-specific conditions, such as water velocity and light availability, as well as on sediment characteristics. In our case, both high turbidity and scouring episodes, as well as flow disturbances derived from the drawdown of the reservoir reduced autotrophic biofilm biomass in the Impact reaches. Anyway, such impacts disappeared during the recovery period because biofilms in sheltered microhabitats may have acted as sources for recolonization, thus confirming the high resilience of biofilm (Dzubakova et al. 2018). Contrary to Chla, biofilm biomass tended to increase during drawdown in 11. This could reflect that autotrophs were more affected by drawdown than heterotrophs, or that autotrophs had less Chl-a per biomass. Alternatively, it could be the result of biofilm carriers trapping organic sediment, thus increasing their AFDM, although visual inspection did not reinforce this possibility.

As expected, biofilm gross primary production (GPP) was also reduced due to the loss of primary producers (*i.e.*, lower Chl-*a*) during the drawdown of the reservoir. On the contrary, according to the increase in the AFDM, we could expect heterotrophs to be more resistant than autotrophs to the disturbances derived from the reservoir drawdown, and so, community respiration (CR) to be promoted, or at least, less affected than GPP. Based on our results, we are far from saying whether autotrophs were more affected than heterotrophs, but we hypothesize that in our case, CR was reduced, probably, due to the reduced autotrophic respiration as reported elsewhere (Uehlinger et al. 2003). Although metabolism was affected, drawdown exerted only subtle effects on nutrient uptake by the biofilm. During the Before period, SRP uptake was marginally higher in the reach closest to the dam and then decreased downstream. This longitudinal trend in SRP uptake was attenuated during

the drawdown and the after periods. In contrast, NH_4^+ uptake showed no clear patterns. A potential explanation for these results is that the Enobieta Reservoir acted as a sink for phosphorus during its lifespan, as is reported for other impoundments (Ponsatí et al. 2015), as a consequence of sediment sequestering phosphorus (Maavara et al. 2015). This could result in phosphorus-starved biofilms below the dam during the before period, which under our experimental conditions, resulted in high uptake (Reddy et al. 1999). The presence of more P-rich sediment in the reaches located below the dam during the after period might have decreased this P uptake potential. On the other hand, the fact that nitrogen was likely never the limiting nutrient in the study reaches might explain the lack of significant changes in biofilm NH_4^+ uptake among reaches and periods.

Similar to biofilm SRP uptake, during the before period heterotrophic microbial activity linked to organic matter breakdown was marginally different between control and impact reaches. Indeed, as in the case of biofilm metabolism, metal toxicity may have impaired decomposition below the dam. For instance Lecerf & Chauvet (2008) showed metal pollution to reduce microbial decomposition of leaf litter and to depress spore production of aquatic fungi. Although we did not observe any clear pattern within the impact sites during and after reservoir drawdown, data revealed a slight increase of decomposition rates below the dam to the end of the experiment. This trend towards ecosystem functioning recovery may indicate that there was still a legacy effect of the previous degraded water quality state during the after period, and thus, that restoration to nearby undammed reaches conditions may take longer for microbial organic matter decomposition.

In summary, our results show that the slow drawdown of a large reservoir, a key step towards its final decommissioning, did not result in additional impacts to those caused by the operating reservoir. Furthermore, our findings indicate that biofilm biomass and activity recovered quickly afterwards, reaching values similar to those in control reaches that are among the best-preserved streams in the region (Elosegi et al. 2019). Given the key role biofilms play on stream ecosystem functioning (Battin et al. 2016) and the fact that the latter is the basis of essential ecosystem services, our results point to the beneficial effects of reservoir decommissioning on water quality and ecosystem services altogether, if carefully conducted to minimize impacts. This should be balanced with the efforts to restore the natural flux of other sediments such as gravel and cobbles, whose lack impairs ecosystems by "sediment starving" river sections below dams (Kondolf 1997; Kondolf et al. 2014). In general, managers should strive to minimize the export of fine sediment stored beyond the ancient channel of the stream, by using a means to immobilize the sediments as achieved through vegetation in this particular care.

4.3. Invertebrate communities

Decommissioning should mitigate the effects caused by dams in the long-term (Hansen & Hayes 2012), but it may also impair invertebrate communities in the short-term due to the downstream sediment and nutrient mobilization (Ahearn & Dahlgren 2005; Matthaei et al. 2010), resulting in an initial decline in macroinvertebrate density, especially for most environmentally sensitive taxa (Carlson et al. 2018; Mahan et al. 2021). There is also accumulating evidence that invertebrate communities can rapidly recover (< 1 to 2 years post-restoration) from the negative effects of dam decommissioning (Orr et al. 2008; Chiu et al. 2013; Mahan et al. 2021), but some authors report that they may need time periods over 3 years to recover from the pulse disturbance caused by dam decommissioning (Hansen & Hayes 2012; Renöfält et al. 2013). These diverging responses to dam decommissioning can be related to the varying site-specific conditions, for instance, the size of the dam, land use and catchment conservation status or mean annual discharge (Carlson et al. 2018).

The objective of the present was to analyze how stream invertebrates responded to reservoir drawdown in one of the largest dams decommissioned in Europe to date (Habel et al. 2020). We predicted that i) before drawdown, reduced water quality and streambed coarsening would result in low invertebrate density and diversity below the dam, these negative effects mitigating downstream with distance below the dam, ii) during drawdown, the mobilization of the sediment stored in the reservoir would further reduce invertebrate density and diversity, and iii) after drawdown, invertebrate communities in the reservoir and downstream would quickly resemble the communities found in nearby undammed tributaries.

Results

In the 135 benthic samples, we found 21,188 invertebrate individuals comprising 78 taxa (Table S3). The most abundant taxa were the amphipod *Echinogammarus* (21.3%), the caddisfly *Hydropsyche* (12.1%), and the mayflies *Baetis* (9.9%), *Habroleptoides* (9.1%) and Heptageniidae (4.8%).

Prior to drawdown, total invertebrate density was 48% lower in the impact than in control reaches ($T_c = 1973.9 \pm 236.3$ ind. m⁻² and $T_1 = 1030.6 \pm 184.6$ ind. m⁻²) (Table S4). According to the effect size values, the influence of the dam was highest just below the dam (effect size₁₁ = -1.94 and effects size₁₂ = -0.98) and decreased downstream (effect size₁₃ = -0.31 and effect size₁₄ = -0.18) (Fig. 4.3.1). Although

there was very weak evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir led to changes in the invertebrate density of the impact reaches (BDA:CI, p = 0.08; Table 4.3.1), we observed a substantial recovery of the density, especially in the sites closest to the dam (I1 and I2) (Fig. 4.3.1). During the drawdown period, differences in density between control and impact reaches disappeared ($T_c = 1985.6 \pm 250.6$ ind. m⁻² and $T_1 = 1978.9 \pm 266.6$ ind. m⁻²), as shown by the significant before-drawdown / control-impact interaction (BD:CI, p < 0.05; Table S4). This trend in the community recovery was maintained during the after period, when invertebrate densities were similar in control and impact reaches ($T_c = 1644.4 \pm 258.4$ ind. m⁻² and $T_1 = 1617.2 \pm 234.0$ ind. m⁻²) (BA:CI, p = 0.05; Table S4) (Fig. 4.3.1).

Evidence associates the drawdown of the reservoir with changes in both taxonomic richness (BDA:Cl_s, p < 0.01) and diversity (BDA:Cl_H, p < 0.05) (Table 4.3.1). Before the drawdown of the reservoir, taxonomic richness and diversity were, in general, lower in the impact reaches (S_c = 21.9 ± 1.3 and S_l = 13.2 \pm 1.7; H[']_C = 2.3 \pm 0.1 and H[']₁ = 1.7 \pm 0.1) (BCl_s, p < 0.01; Table S3), the effect being highest in the site closest to the dam (effect size_{S,11} = -1.81 and effect size_{H',11} = -0.97) (Fig. 4.3.1). Despite richness and diversity increasing in the impact reaches during the drawdown period (S_c = 20.8 \pm 0.7 and S_l = 18.0 \pm 1.4; H'_{c} = 2.2 ± 0.1 and H'_{1} = 2.0 ± 0.1) (BD:Cl_s, p < 0.01; BD:Cl_{H'}, p < 0.05; Table S4), values in I1 were still below those in control sites (Fig. 4.3.1). It was only during the after period when all the impact sites reached values similar to those found in control sites (BA:Cl, p < 0.001; BA:Cl_{H'}, p < 0.01; Table S4). The IASPT biomonitoring index followed a similar pattern. During the before period IASPT index was 13% lower in impact reaches (IASPT_c = 6.6 ± 0.1 and IASPT_l = 5.8 ± 0.2) (BCI, p < 0.05; Table S4), especially in the site just below the dam (effect size₁₁ = -0.40) (Fig. 4.3.2). There was strong evidence that the drawdown promoted an increase in the presence of most pollution-sensitive taxa (BDA: CI, p < 0.001; Table 3), since IASPT values increased substantially during the drawdown and the after periods, as shown by the near-zero effect sizes and the significant BD:Cl and BA:Cl interactions (BD:Cl, p < 0.05 and BA:CI p < 0.0001) (Fig. 4.3.2; Table S4).

During the before period, communities in sites I1 and I2 occupied a region of the NMDS biplot well separated from the communities found in control sites, but these differences in taxonomic composition decreased during the drawdown and the after periods, occupying the same region as the control sites during the latter (Fig. 4.3.3). Thus, there was strong evidence that the drawdown of the reservoir modified the composition of the invertebrate communities downstream from the dam, making them more similar to those of control sites (PERMANOVA BDA:CI, p < 0.01).



Figure 4.3.1. Total invertebrate density (ind. m⁻²; top panels), taxa richness (S; middle panels) and Shannon diversity index (H'; bottom panels) in control (C), impact (I), and newly created sites (R) before, during, and after the drawdown of the reservoir. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results

for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale of I sites reflects distance downstream from the dam (darker = closer). Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period. Continuous line and the light gray area represent the dam and the full reservoir respectively, and intermittent lines represent the emptied reservoir. Note that R reaches were sampled only during the after period.



Figure 4.3.2. Values of the IASPT index in control (C), impact (I), and newly created sites (R) before, during, and after the drawdown of the reservoir. The box plots show the median, the interquartile range and the tails of the distribution, and dots represent outliers. C represents results for each control site (C1 to C4 from left to right). I1 to I4 represent results for each impact site. The gray scale of I sites reflects distance downstream from the dam. Effect sizes on top represent the Ln-transformed ratio of the average for each impact site divided by the overall average of the control sites for each period. Continuous line and the light gray area represent the dam and the full reservoir respectively, and intermittent lines represent the emptied reservoir. Note that R reaches were sampled only during the after period.

Table 4.3.1. Results of the linear mixed-effects models using period (before/drawdown/after) and reach (control/impact) as fixed factors and invertebrate community measurements as response variables. Sampling site was used as a random factor. Bold values indicate statistically significant results with p < 0.05. Degrees of freedom were estimated with Satterthwaite's method.

Variable	Source of variation	df	F value	p value
	BDA	2, 108	2.24	0.11
Invertebrate	CI	1, 6	1.57	0.26
density (ind. m ⁻²)	BDA:CI	2, 108	2.60	0.08
	BDA	2, 108	1.83	0.16
Taxa richness	CI	1, 6	3.67	0.10
	BDA:CI	2, 108	6.63	< 0.01
	BDA	2, 108	2.72	0.05
Shannon diversity	CI	1, 6	2.31	0.16
	BDA:CI	2, 108	2.91	< 0.05
IASPT index	BDA	2, 108	2.90	< 0.0001
	CI	1, 6	2.14	0.19
	BDA:CI	2, 108	4.05	< 0.001

Reservoir colonization

During the drawdown period the stream channel newly formed as the reservoir level receded was devoid of invertebrates, but for the after period sampling, invertebrate community measures were similar in reservoir reaches and in control reaches (CR_T, p = 0.47; CR_s, p = 0.28; CR_{IASPT}, p = 0.45; Table 4.3.2). Diversity was an exception, being slightly higher in the reservoir reaches (H[']_C = 2.3 ± 0.1 and H[']_R = 2.5 ± 0.1) (CR_H', < 0.05; Table 4.3.2) (Fig. 4.3.1). Although samples in the reservoir sites occupied a region of the NMDS biplot close to the ones that belong to the control sites, according to evidence (PERMANOVA CR, p < 0.0001), community composition in the reservoir reaches did not totally resemble those in control sites (Fig. 4.3.3).



Figure 4.3.3. NMDS analysis of invertebrate community composition in control (C), impact (I), and newly created sites (R) before, during, and after the drawdown. Blue dots represent control sites. Red dots represent impact dots: the darkest dots represent I1 reach and the lightest ones I4 reach. Green dots represent sites in the newly created channel within the former reservoir area: the darkest dots represent the area that first emerged during the drawdown and the lightest ones represent the site closest to the dam. Note that R reaches were sampled only during the after period.

Table 4.3.2. Results of the linear mixed-effects models using reach (control/reservoir) as a fixed factor and invertebrate community measurements as response variables. Sampling site was used as a random factor. Bold values indicate statistically significant results with p < 0.05. Degrees of freedom were estimated with Satterthwaite's method.

Variable	Source of variation	df	F value	p value
Invertebrate density	CR	1, 5	0.62	0.47
(ind. m ⁻²)				
Taxa richness	CR	1, 5	1.47	0.28
Shannon diversity	CR	1, 33	4.80	< 0.05
IASPT index	CR	1, 5	0.66	0.45

Discussion

Benthic invertebrate communities are useful indicators of the ecological responses to stream and river restoration projects (Miller et al. 2010; Jähnig et al. 2011), since they are highly sensitive to changes in the environment (Gore et al. 2001; Flores et al. 2017; Dolédec et al. 2021). Nevertheless, we are still far from predicting the response of invertebrate communities to restoration activities. First, because restoration projects aim at very contrasting goals, from improved water quality to flow modification or to habitat naturalization, and often lack proper monitoring of ecological outcomes (Bernhardt et al. 2005). Second, because some authors (Palmer et al. 2010; Griffith & McManus 2020) have shown that restoration projects often fail to trigger an increase in invertebrate diversity. This lack of desired response can be attributed to other limiting factors beyond the one addressed, or in some cases, to the absence of potential colonizers in nearby sites (Sundermann et al. 2011). Additionally, the response of invertebrates can differ among seasons, habitats or reaches (Flores et al. 2017; Sullivan & Manning 2017), making it complex to assess (Griffith & McManus 2020). In our case, results showed that the drawdown of Enobieta Reservoir, the first step toward its decommissioning, caused no detrimental effects on the downstream invertebrate communities, and that one year afterwards, the communities below the dam, even those in the newly formed river channels in the reservoir area, were very similar to those in undammed streams in the valley. These results may be conditioned by the excellent ecological status and high diversity of nearby stream reaches (Elosegi et al. 2019), as well as the torrential characteristics of the local streams that made it easy to colonize the impact reaches and to minimize the legacy effect of the dam.

Contrary to what others reported (Gillespie et al. 2015; Dolédec et al. 2021), in Artikutza it seemed hard to link the differences between invertebrate communities at the site below the dam to changes in hydrology, since the Enobieta Reservoir had been out of use for almost three decades (see "Enobieta Dam decommissioning background" in the Methodology section), a period in which the bottom gate remained closed. Therefore, it had little or no effect on hydrology, as for most of the year it was full of water and the volume released from the spillway was roughly equivalent to the discharge it received from the basin. Rather, the decreased IASPT values suggest downstream impaired water quality, very probably linked to high metal concentrations, especially iron and manganese (Friedl & Wüest 2002; Bryant et al. 2011), which can be detrimental for the biota directly when dissolved and during chronic exposures (Cadmus et al. 2018), or indirectly when precipitated at circumneutral pH and well oxygenated receiving waters (Cadmus et al. 2018; Kotalik et al. 2019). We did not measure metal accumulation neither in biofilm nor in invertebrates, but we did observe black manganese precipitations as far as reach I4, although concentrations clearly decreased from I1 to I4, probably due to the decrease in metals transported, as well as to the dilution caused by the input of tributaries to the mainstem, as seen for other elements (Ellis & Jones 2013). Metal oxide deposits in streams can affect invertebrates by a variety of mechanisms (Wilson et al. 2019). Indeed, both Mn and Fe oxide coatings can clog the interstitial space among rocks (i.e., habitat for benthic organisms) or smother benthic organisms, thus reducing the abundance and the richness of benthic microbial biofilm and invertebrates (Cadmus et al. 2016; Kotalik et al. 2019; Wilson et al. 2019). Also, metals can affect community structure even in well preserved sites, where water quality is good and there are no other apparent impacts (MacCausland & McTammany 2007). Sediment starvation could also have been one of the drivers of impaired invertebrate communities downstream from the dam, since the lack of small particles such as sand and gravel alter the downstream channel morphology, consequently affecting community composition and lowering invertebrate density and diversity. For instance, Mellado-Díaz et al. (2019), in a research performed in Iberian reservoirs, reported that fluvial habitat alteration seemed to be the major disturbance for invertebrate community composition in most of their study sites.

One of the main goals of dam decommissioning is to recover connectivity and to restore sediment and biogeochemical fluxes (Grant & Lewis 2015). This should improve channel complexity and heterogeneity (Tullos et al. 2014; Magilligan et al. 2016) and water quality (Abbott et al. 2022; Atristain et al. 2022) in the long-term, important factors shaping benthic invertebrate communities (Boyero 2003; Astorga et al. 2014; García et al. 2017). In agreement with previous studies (Tullos et al. 2014; Magilligan et al. 2016; Peters et al. 2017), we observed that the drawdown of the reservoir not only reduced the median bed grain size in the impact sites, but it also improved water quality, especially in the reaches located closest to the dam. Dam decommissioning also triggered the transport of sediments and inorganic nutrients (Ahearn & Dahlgren 2005). Streams in the Artikutza valley have very low concentrations of suspended sediments because of the extensive forest cover, which prevents soil erosion (Elosegi et al. 2019), but drawdown caused high turbidity peaks. However, these peaks did rarely surpass 300 NTU, a common value during floods in other rivers in the area (Zabaleta & Antigüedad 2012), and seemed not to threaten the invertebrate communities. This result is in agreement with a mesocosm experiment where medium and low levels of sediment had no effect on invertebrate communities. (Davis et al. 2018). Moreover, although suspended sediment can cause anoxia in rivers, continuous records of oxygen during the opening of the bottom gate showed that oxygen saturation kept constantly over 90% (M. Atristain, unpublished data). Higher metal concentrations were also transported along with suspended sediment, but even the resuspension of Fe and Mn did not affect any of the invertebrate community metrics in the receiving waters. Hence, contrary to expected (Carlson et al. 2018), neither suspended solid nor higher metal concentrations impaired invertebrate community composition and structure. There are many possible explanations for this lack of impact on invertebrates. First, both Fe and Mn were released in a dissolved form because of aerated sediment and did not create metal oxide deposits in the benthos. Second, increased streambed complexity would favour invertebrates and, perhaps, counteract the effects of increased dissolved metals. So far, we cannot elucidate which was the main driver for changes on invertebrate communities before and during drawdown, or whether their response was a consequence of the co-occurrence of both factors (Ormerod et al. 2010). The literature shows that invertebrate communities can recover from the negative effects of dam decommissioning in less than 2 years (Carlson et al. 2018; Hansen & Hayes 2012), although the recovery time may vary among taxa (Renöfält et al. 2013). In our case, at the end of the study period, *i.e.*, barely a year after the main mobilization of sediments, the impact sites reached the same density, richness, diversity, and community composition as the control sites.

Remarkably, the invertebrate community in the area formerly drowned by the Enobieta Reservoir was by the end of the experiment very similar to the invertebrate communities found in the rest of the sites. This result indicates not only a very high re-colonization capacity but also that the physical habitat had recovered enough for these organisms to live there. Surprisingly, the taxa richness and Shannon diversity were even higher in the reservoir than in the rest of the sites. Indeed, some of the invertebrate taxa we collected, such as the hemiptera *Aphelocheirus*, were only found there. This taxon is typically found in vernal ponds and other stagnant bodies of water, which were quite abundant in the flattest areas of the emerged sediments, thus explaining its presence in nearby stream reaches. Whatever the case, the reservoir invertebrate community described here is likely transitory, and a fully mature community can only be expected after the stream has recovered its natural physical habitat, which will obviously require a longer time to develop.

Finally, we must highlight that so far, we have only shown the effects of drawdown, not of the final demolition of the dam. Indeed, the dam is still in place, while the Spanish Ministry of the Environment decides whether it is better for biodiversity to take it down totally or to open a 7 m-wide trench across it. Although total removal of the dam would obviously result in a more natural setting, the demolition works, and especially the transport of all concrete remains out of the valley would take much longer (over 1 year of work, compared to 6 months for the trench, Elosegi 2022), thus making the impacts longer for biodiversity. In addition, the inner galleries of the dam host several colonies of endangered bat species, which would obviously disappear if the dam was taken out. On the other hand, it has been calculated that the volume of sediment mobilized with either the total or partial demolition of the dam would be smaller than that so far mobilized. Thus, it seems that the final decommissioning will cause no major impacts on biodiversity or water quality. Nevertheless, it is advisable to make a close follow-up of the biodiversity in the zone during the demolition works to minimize unwanted effects.

In summary, our results show that the drawdown of a large reservoir, a first step towards its decommissioning, can cause little impact if it is conducted slowly, thus minimizing the volume of sediments exported and their impact downstream. Furthermore, our results show that the invertebrate communities can recover to values similar to control reaches in a short period of time (*i.e.*, of one year), provided that, as in Enobieta, there is a nearby source of potential colonists.

5. Synthesis and Perspectives

The present dissertation examines the short-term effects of the decommissioning of a large headwater dam on stream structure and functioning, in what constitutes a whole-ecosystem manipulation. Following a mBACI design, which allows controlling spatial and temporal variability, we assessed both abiotic and biotic changes during drawdown and the first stages of ecosystem recovery after one of the largest dam decommissioning projects in Europe to date (Habel et al. 2020). Overall, our results show a positive effect of reservoir drawdown on stream structure and functioning, with no noticeable impacts, not even transient ones. We observed a quick recovery of water quality and biological communities in stream reaches located downstream from the dam, as well as a rapid recolonization of the new stream channel formed in the channel section of the formerly inundated reservoir. So far, these results point towards a successful dam decommissioning project in Artikutza Valley, although some steps remain for its final completion.

Main ecological effects of the dam presence and responses to its decommissioning

Our comparison between control and impact reaches revealed that during the before period, the reservoir increased downstream concentrations of heavy metals and ammonium. We also observed streambed coarsening and sediment starvation below the dam. These chemical and physical effects of damming seemed to affect biofilm community structure and functioning just below the dam. Indeed, contrary to what others reported (Morley et al. 2008; Aristi et al. 2014; Ponsatí et al. 2015) we did not observe higher chlorophyll-a concentrations or higher metabolic activity downstream from the dam. However, the Enobieta Reservoir was located in a headwater catchment, and thus, biofilm growth was limited by the shade provided by the riparian forest. We also observed slower microbial organic matter breakdown downstream from the dam. Although we did not measure microbial biomass in the wooden sticks, other authors (Colas et al. 2016) reported that river regulation by dams and high heavy metal concentrations could act synergistically to reduce fungal biomass, thus impairing microbial organic matter decomposition. Invertebrate community composition differed between control and impact reaches and, in concordance with other authors (Martínez et al. 2013; Mellado-Díaz et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019), those in the impact reaches had lower density, richness and diversity. The IASPT index values, commonly used in Spanish biomonitoring assessments (Guareschi et al. 2017), showed invertebrates below the dam to be relatively pollution tolerant, thus pointing towards deteriorated water quality as a cause of community impairment. Overall, the ecological effects were stronger just below the dam, and were dampened downstream as tributaries joined the main stem, as has been also reported elsewhere (Ellis & Jones 2013; Mellado-Díaz et al. 2019).

The decommissioning of Enobieta Dam triggered the export of both suspended and bedload sediments to the downstream reaches, along with higher ammonium, iron, and manganese concentrations. In agreement with other studies (Sawaske & Freyberg 2012; Warrick et al. 2015), our results show that a staged dam decommissioning is a good strategy to reduce the volume of sediments exported. Besides, the comparison between our study and previous dam decommissioning literature (Sawaske & Freyberg 2012) also suggests that a good conservation status of the catchment promotes fast recolonization of the emerged sediments by terrestrial plants, thus further reducing sediment export. Indeed, although peaks of turbidity were common during reservoir drawdown, these were short-lived and in general below 300 NTU, which is not an unusual turbidity in streams in the region (Zabaleta & Antigüedad 2012). Due to these turbidity episodes, during most of the drawdown period the riverbed appeared covered by a mm-thin layer of fine sediments (personal observation) but changes in channel dimensions were almost unnoticeable and there was almost no channel aggradation.

Biofilm and invertebrates showed contrasting responses to the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir. Biofilm structure and functioning responded negatively to the export of the eroded sediment, probably due to the frequent turbidity episodes. Nevertheless, this negative effect was temporary, and disappeared quickly during the after period, except for microbial organic matter decomposition. This lack of recovery of decomposition is surprising given the significant recovery of water quality and macroinvertebrate communities below the dam, which also contribute to organic matter breakdown (Graça 2001). Muehlbauer et al. (2009) observed a similar pattern in the decommissioning of the Fossil Creek Dam (Arizona, US), where environmental characteristics and fungal and invertebrate communities improved below the dam after the restoration, but leaf litter breakdown did not. As we did not measure fungal biomass and the role of the invertebrates in wooden stick decomposition seems minor (Arroita et al. 2012), we can just speculate about metal contamination legacy being the factor affecting microbial organic matter decomposition.

Contrary to what has been observed elsewhere (Morley et al. 2020; Mahan et al. 2021), invertebrate communities improved during the drawdown period. This lack of negative responses of invertebrate communities, specifically of the most sensitive taxa (*e.g.,* Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera), may have several possible explanations. First, physical habitat improved during the

drawdown period, with median bed grain size quickly resembling that of nearby undammed reaches. Second, although metal concentrations were still high, metal oxide deposits disappeared (personal observation), and so would their potential indirect negative effect on invertebrates (Niyogi et al. 2001). Third, the good ecological status of nearby undammed reaches acted as a source of potential colonizers for impact sites. Fourth, fine sediment deposits were not thick enough to suffocate invertebrate communities and we found no evidence of anoxia in the sediments. Fifth, although we did not sample the hyporheic zone, during higher fine sediment transport episodes it may have acted as a refuge for invertebrates, as reported by other authors (Milner et al. 2022). Sixth, temporal sampling constraints. Indeed, contrasting recovery trends have been observed in macroinvertebrate communities, from short-term (*i.e.*, < 5 months) positive responses in densities (Orr et al. 2008) and taxa richness (Kil & Bae 2012), to long-term recovery (3-7 years) in taxa richness (Hansen & Hayes 2012), or long-term (i.e., > 40 months) negative responses (Renöfält et al. 2013). We sampled invertebrates almost a year after the drawdown period started, and although several turbidity episodes happened within that period, one year may have been enough for macroinvertebrate communities to start to recover. In any case, there is accumulating evidence that invertebrate communities can recover rapidly (1 to 2 years post-restoration) from the negative effects of dam decommissioning (Chiu et al. 2013; Sullivan & Manning 2017; Carlson et al. 2018). Thus, as expected, during the after period descriptors of community composition and structure resembled those in nearby undammed reaches.

Other concomitant ecological responses

Concurrently to this study, other researchers have been collaborating with us in the monitoring of ecological changes within the Enobieta Dam decommissioning project. These include biofilm community composition (Garrastatxu et al. in *prep*), fish abundance (Ekolur 2017, 2020), distribution of the Pyrenean desman [*Galemys pyrenaicus* (É. Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire)] (Levy-Otheguy 2022), and reservoir greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Amani et al. 2022). Figure 5.1. shows some of the sites sampled by these researchers.

For biofilm community composition, we scraped 10 cobbles randomly in each site to obtain a biofilm slurry sample per site and period. In the laboratory, DNA was extracted, amplified, and sequenced with Illumina MiSeq (16s rRNA V3 and V4 bacterial gene region and rDNA ITS2 eukaryotic gene region) for the 19 biofilm samples obtained (before, n = 8, C & I reaches; after, n = 11 C, I & R reaches) (Fig. 5.1). Both bacterial and eukaryotic communities differed between before and the after-

70
reservoir drawdown (Fig. 5.2). As reported in other studies (Ruiz-González et al. 2013), during the before period, downstream bacterial communities were different from those in control sites, the effect being highest in the site just below the dam (I1) and lowest in the farthest site (I4) (Fig. 5.2). During the after period, bacterial communities in control, impact and reservoir sites were closer to each other, although we could not observe any clear pattern in the recovery of the bacterial communities (Fig. 5.2). Eucaryotes followed the same pattern during the before period (Fig. 5.2). However, during the after period, instead of getting closer, differences among control and impact sites were higher than during the before period (Fig. 5.2). Further investigations on the composition and potential metabolism of these microbial communities are currently ongoing and will help understanding the functional consequences of these changes.



Figure 5.1. Study area showing the location of the 11 study sites [4 control sites (C1, C2, C3 & C4), 4 impact sites (I1, I2, I3 & I4) and 3 sites in the former reservoir (R1, R2 & R3)] in the Artikutza Valley (northern Iberian Peninsula). Blue colored dots (FC, FR1, FR2 & FI) indicate the electrofishing sites. The dashed line indicates the area drowned by the Enobieta Reservoir. Arrows mark flow direction.



Figure 5.2. NMDS analysis of prokaryotic (left panel) and eukaryotic (right panel) community composition from DNA metabarcoding in control (C1 - C4), impact (I1 - I4), and newly created sites (R1 - R3) before (dots) and after (diamond) the drawdown of the reservoir. The red lines mark the trajectories of change in biofilm communities below the Enobieta Dam. Note that R reaches were sampled only during the after period.

In Artikutza, the fish community is mostly made up of brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) and the Adour minnow (Phoxinus bigerri Kottelat 2007), as is commonly found in headwater streams in the area (Ekolur 2017, 2020). Diadromous species such as the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) are missing, as the Añarbe Dam blocks their upstream migration. Surprisingly enough, a couple of eels (Anguilla anguilla L.) was electrofished in summer 2022 in Erroiarri Stream, at less than 300 m from Enobieta Dam (A. Elosegi, pers. comm.), in the context of a different project. Regarding the decommissioning of Enobieta Dam, electrofishing was carried out always in summer, in 3 sites (FU, FR1 & FD) prior to the reservoir drawdown (2017), and in 4 sites (FU, FR1, FR2 & FD) during (2019) and after (2020) the reservoir drawdown (Fig. 5.1). Trout populations were in good condition in all sites during the whole study period (Ekolur 2020). The drawdown of the reservoir did not cause any fish kill (personal observation) nor decreases in fish abundance (Fig. 5.3), and there was a rebound of the trout population in all sampling sites due to a strong recruitment (Table 5.1). Although trout was the dominant species in most sites, it seemed that minnows were more capable than trout to early colonize the newly created channel in the former reservoir area (*i.e.*, FR1 & FR2) (Fig. 5.3). This could be related to dietary preferences of each of these species. Indeed, minnows are omnivorous and can feed both on macroinvertebrates, as well as on detritus and periphyton (Killen 2014), the latter being especially abundant in the open channels newly created after drawdown. On the contrary, brown trout mainly feeds on invertebrates and fish (Rincón & Lobón-Cerviá 1999; Oscoz 2005), which took longer to recover in the newly created reaches.



Figure 5.3. Density (ind. ha⁻¹) of brown trout (white bars) and common minnow (black bars) during the before, drawdown and the after periods upstream (FU), downstream (FD) and within the reservoir sites (FR1 and FR3). Note that site R3 could only be sampled during the drawdown and the after periods.

Table 5.1. Brown trout density (ind. ha ⁻¹) per year class during the before, drawdown and after periods
upstream (FU), downstream (FD) and within the reservoir sites (FR1 and FR2). Note that site FR2 was
only sampled during the drawdown and the after periods.

		- (1 1 1)	(1)	
Period	Site	Fry (ind. ha⁻¹)	Young (ind. ha⁻¹)	Adults (ind. ha ⁻¹)
Before	FU	6,557	1,054	459
	FR1	1,867	159	79
	FR2	-	-	-
	FD	1,443	1,394	1,591
Drawdown	FU	9,966	1,721	700
	FR1	16,497	2,859	669
	FR2	454	454	907
	FD	4,030	1,480	1,744
After	FU	4,523	2,366	1,077
	FR1	1,886	5,189	1,512
	FR2	197	2,293	684
	FD	788	2,189	1,622

Restoring the Enobieta Stream connectivity improved the distribution of the Pyrenean desman. This semiaquatic insectivorous mammal lives in mountain streams of the central-northern Iberian Peninsula and the Pyrenees. However its distribution has been severely reduced during recent decades and it is currently listed as vulnerable by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (Esnaola et al. 2021). This animal used to inhabit the Enobieta Stream upstream from the Enobieta Reservoir (Iñaki Aizpuru, Gipuzkoa Province Council, personal communication), but disappeared from it, apparently because of the disconnection with the rest of the river network. A study that monitored desman presence/absence thorough a year and a half based on artificial latrines (Fig. 5.4) showed that the desman colonized the basin shortly after the drawdown of the reservoir, and it is now present throughout all the fluvial network of Artikutza (Levy-Otheguy 2022).



Figure 5.4. Location of the latrines throughout the Artikutza basin. Green color means positive presence of Pyrenean desman faeces.

Finally, Amani et al. (2022) shed some light on the short-term effects of dam decommissioning on carbon (C) fluxes through the transition from a lentic to lotic ecosystem. To do so, we measured CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes in impounded water, exposed sediment, and lotic water before, during, and after the drawdown of the reservoir. Prior to the drawdown, the Enobieta Reservoir acted as a net sink of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2) and as a net source of methane (CH_4). Impounded waters are

important emitters of CH₄ because of their increased anaerobic microbial functioning in anoxic conditions (Deemer et al. 2016). However, the Enobieta Reservoir was a net sink of carbon during the before period (Fig. 5.5). During the drawdown period, the reservoir area became a net source of C to the atmosphere, especially as CO₂ (Fig. 5.5). Exposed sediments emitted most CO₂ within the reservoir area, likely because of their increased CO₂ diffusivity, higher microbial respiration due to higher oxygen conditions, and lower CO₂ uptake by primary producers compared with inundated environments (Gómez-Gener et al. 2016; Marcé et al. 2019). During the after period, total C fluxes at the scale of the reservoir increased and peaked about 4 months after the reservoir drawdown, (Fig. 5.5). Thus, overall, the reservoir transformed from being a net carbon sink prior to the reservoir drawdown to being a net carbon source during the first 10 months after the reservoir drawdown. It is, nevertheless, to be expected that this trend will disappear as the forest colonizes the emerged sediments.

Oncoming changes

The fate of the Enobieta Dam

To date, we have only assessed the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir, which is the first step towards its final decommissioning. Indeed, although the dam allows water to flow freely, it cannot be kept as it currently stands. First, because the bottom gate, the main mechanism for regulating the reservoir, is only 1 m wide x 1.5 m high, what is too narrow for the heaviest rain episodes. Second, because it does not guarantee fish passage, since the bottom gate is 60 cm above the stream water level. Besides, the smooth bottom and the high speed of the water in the bottom gate conduit also complicates the passage of fish and other aquatic organisms. And third, because from a normative viewpoint, the Spanish Royal Decree 264/2021 of April 13 states, among other things, that the decommissioned dam cannot be abandoned without guaranteeing its own security and that of its surroundings. This Decree also states that the dam should not harmfully disturb the circulation of water. Furthermore, the current interpretation of this Decree by the Spanish Ministry for the Ecological Transition and the Demographic Challenge is that the owner of a dam that is to be decommissioned must revert the site to its previous status, i.e., remove the dam totally. The only acceptable reason not to do so would be that there are alternatives that, while ensuring the hydraulic safety for the future, are better for the natural values protected in Natura 2000 sites, as is Artikutza.

Therefore, the Municipality of San Sebastian, owner of the dam, commissioned a study to explore possible scenarios for the future of the dam, which ended with two alternatives: (i) partial removal of



Figure 5.5 (a) Ecosystem total carbon flux, (b) carbon CO_2 -eq flux, (c) ecosystem CO_2 flux, and (d) ecosystem CH_4 flux in exposed sediment, impounded water, and running water. Ecosystem CH_4 fluxes in impounded water are a sum of diffusion and ebullition but are only emitted via diffusion for exposed sediment and running water. The values below y = 0 indicate carbon uptake by the reservoir. Each vertical bar corresponds to a sampling campaign. The x-axis describes the 8 sampling campaigns, which are divided into 3 categories: before (days –984 and –233), during (days –168, –126, and –35), and after (days 43, 127, and 358) reservoir drawdown. Figure from Amani et al. (2022).

the dam by opening a 7-m wide notch from the left spillway to the bedrock, or (ii) total removal of the dam. According to this study by Elosegi et al. (2022), the second alternative would be more problematic than the first, because of the longer period of works (1 year vs 6 months), and because it would generate much more rubble and disturbance. Indeed, thousands of trucks would be needed to remove all the dam debris, affecting not only the stream but also all the surroundings (*e.g.*, the fauna inhabiting the Artikutza Valley). Consequently, the first alternative (i.e., partial removal) seems the best possible option to complete the decommissioning of the Enobieta Reservoir. Of course, opening a notch in the dam will lead to geomorphological adjustments upstream from the dam, but according to calculations

by Elosegi et al. (2022), the total amount of eroded sediment volume would be less than 3795 m³, which is *c.a.* 50% of the amount eroded during the drawdown. Thus, we would not expect a greater disturbance than the impact that we have already measured within our study period, and in any case, the whole ecosystem would recover in a short period of time. What is more important, the dam would not be an obstacle for fishes and other organisms, thus allowing mixing of previously isolated populations.

Long-term responses within the reservoir area

So far, we have only assessed short-term effects of the drawdown of the Enobieta Reservoir. Stream ecosystem structure and functioning in the sites located below the reservoir now resembles that of control sites. Therefore, we consider that the ecosystem is almost completely recovered. Nonetheless, the reservoir area will still undergo further changes in the next decades. Although the riparian forest is developing quickly (Fig. 5.6), it will still need some decades to reach the level of maturity of the riparian forest present in the control sites. Currently, it does not provide the Enobieta Stream neither with shade nor with enough allochthonous organic matter, which is the main energy source supporting food webs in temperate low order forest streams (Wallace et al. 1997). Indeed, most of the allochthonous organic matter entering forest streams in the region consists on leaves and other remains from riparian vegetation (Pozo et al. 1997). Thus, during its passage through the reservoir area, the Enobieta Stream now resembles in part a mid-order stream, in that primary producers are not light-limited, resulting in an autotrophic system. As the riparian forest matures, shading by vegetation will tend to limit primary producers (Acuña et al. 2005), and detritus forms will become the energetic basis of the food webs of the Enobieta Stream. In addition to leaf litter and shade, in several decades, a well-developed riparian forest will also provide dead wood to the stream (Chen & Wei 2008). Large wood is a key structural element in well-preserved streams of the Artikutza Valley (Fig. 5.7) and mature temperate forest streams elsewhere. Dead wood enhances habitat heterogeneity (Flores et al. 2013) and the retention of sediments (Scealy et al. 2007) and organic matter (Flores et al. 2011), and offers refuge for many species (Keim et al. 2000).



Figure 5.6. Young trees, mostly alder seedlings start to cover the banks of Enobieta Stream in the area formerly covered by the reservoir in October 2022. Note, nevertheless, that the canopy is still open. Picture: Miren Atristain.



Figure 5.7. One of the many large wood jams naturally formed in the Artikutza Valley. Urdallu Stream. Picture: Arturo Elosegi.

From the Serial Discontinuity Concept to the Serial Re-Continuity concept

During the 1980's, theories such as the River Continuum Concept (RCC) (Vannote et al. 1980) and the Serial Discontinuity Concept (SDC) (Ward & Standford 1983) were developed to synthesize the factors that influence abiotic conditions and the resulting biotic responses over the longitudinal river profile. While the RCC viewed the natural river as an uninterrupted continuum, the SDC reminded that many rivers are affected by large dams, which break this continuum, thus disturbing the energy transfer patterns that the RCC proposed. For instance, headwater streams, typically characterized by narrow channels and coarse substrates, are strongly influenced by the surrounding riparian vegetation, which provides shade and coarse organic particulate matter (CPOM) in the form of leaf litter. According to the RCC, headwater stream communities would be mainly made up of shredders that feed on CPOM followed by collector-gatherers that consume shredded CPOM (i.e., fine particulate organic matter, FPOM). On the other hand, the SDC predicts dams to interrupt the longitudinal transport of CPOM, thus altering the trophic relationships below the dam. Ward & Standford (1983) also stated that the effects of impoundments would differ depending on the location of the dam. Thus, some aspects that may be severely influenced in headwater streams may not respond in the same way in lowland streams. When comparing the results obtained in this dissertation with the predictions of the SDC for headwater streams, I found that my results often do not coincide with the SDC predictions (Table 5.2). More specifically, median substrate size was higher downstream from the Enobieta dam than in nearby undammed reaches, and nutrient levels varied depending on the compound, contradicting the SDC. Note that I only compare substrate size, nutrient levels, and invertebrate density because these were the only variables that coincided in both works.

Table 5.2. Comparison between the SDC predictions for substrate size, nutrient levels, and invertebrate density with the results obtained in this dissertation.

	SDC	Enobieta Dam	
Substrate size	=	= 1	
Nutrient levels	\uparrow	NH4+ 个 / SRP 🗸	
Invertebrate diversity	\checkmark	\checkmark	

The potential impact of the release of the sediment accumulated in reservoirs is a common management concern when removing dams (Tullos et al. 2016). Physical, numerical and conceptual models have been developed (Cui & Wilcox 2008; Downs et al. 2008; Bellmore et al. 2019) to predict the fate of the released sediment, but usually these models are case specific or do not consider the position of the dam along the river longitudinal profile. Because removing dams can cause different effects on downstream abiotic and biotic factors depending on its location along the stream longitudinal profile, here I present the Serial Re-Continuity Concept (SRC) in an attempt to gain insight into how dam removal may affect stream structure and functioning in low- and high-order streams. Following the SDC, the SRC makes predictions based on these premises: (1) The river continuum concept and the serial discontinuity concept hypotheses are conceptually sound, and their underlying assumptions valid. (2) The watershed is free of pollution and other disturbance, except the dam. (3) Unless otherwise stated, the dams are large and are removed in a non-staged work. Because the main impacts of dam removal seem to be associated with changes in the geomorphological setting of the stream and the former impounded area, I base my predictions on those changes, and try to link them to changes in ecosystem structure and functioning.

Imagine we have two reservoirs, one in the headwaters and the other in the lowlands, both partially filled with sediment. The sediment deposited in both reservoirs would differ, being coarser in the headwater reservoir, finer in the lowland one (Fig. 5.8). These differences, together with distinct flow rates, would drive contrasting dynamics of sediment erosion and transport. According to the review conducted by Sawaske & Freyberg (2012), the erodibility of coarse sediment is higher than the erodibility of fine sediment. Based on this information, one may think that larger amounts of sediment would be eroded in the headwater reservoir than in the lowland reservoir. Besides, as reported by Curran & Coveleski (2021), the coarser fraction of the sediment will not initially travel further downstream unless high flows occur, what would result in local channel aggradation below the dam. Thus, organisms living in the reach just below the dam would be buried, and these changes would in turn affect ecosystem functioning. For instance, a strong reduction in macroinvertebrate diversity would impair leaf litter decomposition, whereas the lack of interaction with the hyporheic zone would affect nutrient spiraling. Conversely, when removing a lowland reservoir, a minor fraction of sediment would be eroded, and it would be transported far away, thus avoiding large deposits of sediment below the dam. On the other hand, the turbidity caused by the transported fine sediment would reduce light availability and affect negatively the macrophytes that the SDC forecasted downstream from lowland dams. Therefore, the dam removal would soon lead to a situation close to what the RCC described for lowland reaches: limited primary production by benthos due to turbidity and water depth (Vannote et

al. 1980). Consequently, removing a large dam would be expected to cause stronger geomorphologic and biologic impacts in the headwaters than in the lowlands. Moreover, although the SDC does not consider fish migration, the SRC does, and removing a lowland dam would also restore fish passage to a greater extent than removing an upstream dam.



Figure 5.8. Conceptual model of the Serial Re-Continuity Concept. The reservoir in the left panel represents a headwater reservoir, whereas the one in the right panel represents a lowland reservoir. Green arrows represent the sediment eroded from the reservoir. The thicker the arrow, the greater the amount of eroded sediment.

The future of dams

It is unclear the direction that the management of dam infrastructures will follow in the future. On the one hand, within the global change scenario, the rising global human population and the intensification of economic activities have led to higher water demand (Crist et al. 2017; Ripple et al. 2017), which is projected to increase 50% by 2050 (Leflaive 2012). In order to satisfy this water demand for domestic, agricultural, industrial and energetic purposes (Albert et al. 2021), it is expected that the number of regulated rivers will increase even more (Belletti et al. 2020). Furthermore, dams will be increasingly important to face the uncertainties associated to rising drought risk under global climate change (Ehsani et al. 2017; Boulange et al. 2021). On the other hand, with many dams aging worldwide (Perera & North 2021), dam removal already outpaces their construction in some parts of the world, especially in North America and Europe (Beatty et al. 2017), where the median age of large dams is highest (between 50 and 100 years) (Perera et al. 2021). Considering that nearly 50% of the global

rivers are already fragmented (Grill et al. 2015) and that many of the regulation infrastructures are ageing and do not fulfil the purpose for which they were built, what could water managers do to face rising water regulation demand and deteriorating dams? In my opinion, the key point for success is the prioritization of the dam candidates to be decommissioned (Garcia de Leaniz & O'Hanley 2022) and the candidates to be repaired or to be newly constructed. This decision would highly depend, among others, on ecological, safety, economic and society reasons. It is important that when making decisions, each dam is considered individually, and as reported by Kondolf & Yi (2022) "while, in some cases, dam removal is a practical way to improve river condition and to resolve safety problems of aging dams, the reality is that most dams in existence today will remain for the foreseeable future". Thus, our priority should be to improve the performance of dams while we try to reduce their environmental impacts, for instance, by constructing fish ladders and sediment bypass structures. One way of improving the performance of the dams and their associated reservoirs is to avoid sediment accumulation by managing the basin in a conservationist way as in Artikutza, or else, restoring the reaches above the reservoirs with woody debris to retain the sediments before entering the reservoir, as proposed by Elosegi et al. (2017).

The future of dam removal science

Despite being a case study, we showed that a slow reservoir drawdown could minimize the erosion and the downstream transport of stored sediment, thus causing little impact on stream ecosystem structure and functioning. However, the present dissertation left many questions unanswered, which constitute important topics for future research and must be addressed to optimize future dam removals.

Our field study assessing the effects of a large dam decommissioning was limited to a nearly pristine catchment; therefore, our results are not directly transferrable to other scenarios with other stressors acting at the same time. Indeed, we must bear in mind that dam decommissioning is not panacea, as it can cause impacts associated, for instance, to the dispersal of toxic sediment (Ashley et al. 2006), (Ashley et al. 2006), as happened in the Edward Dam removal in New York (USA), where sediments were contaminated with polychlorinated biphenyls. Similarly, the presence of invasive species can be a problem for dam removal (Foley et al. 2017). Besides, streams and rivers are subjected to other multiple pressures (Dudgeon 2019), such as agriculture or urban pollution, that might limit their response to dam removal (Fig. 5.9). Therefore, an essential question to be addressed is how other stressors can modulate the response to this major restoration work.

Presently, no standardized methods are available for analyzing stream ecosystem responses to dam removal, what makes it hard to rate projects as successful or not. Indeed, finding general patterns is difficult because project monitoring is scarce and too often based on contrasting metrics and sampling methods. Considering the importance of data availability and the transmission of scientific information, policymakers should enforce managers to use standardized metrics such as the guidelines of the EU Water Framework Directive.



Figure 5.9. Conceptual river response to dam removal. Prior to dam removal, physical and ecological river condition is likely altered to some degree from pre-impoundment conditions by changed flow, sediment regime and aquatic connectivity. Dam removal will typically result in short-term disturbance, but the system will approach a new steady state dictated by overall watershed conditions. The indicated potential trajectory is just one of many possible outcomes within the gray shaded area depending on the original effects of the dam and reservoirs, their sizes, removal strategy, and regional environmental conditions. From Foley et al. (2017).

It is also indispensable to gather the published empirical data and conduct systematic reviews and meta-analyses to shed some light on the main drivers of the responses of stream ecosystem structure and functioning to dam removal. This information could also be valuable to build general models that may allow to predict and thus minimize the impacts of this restoration work. For instance, fish dispersal models (*e.g.*, Radinger & Wolter 2014; Radinger et al. 2017) can be adapted to predict invasive species

redistribution after dam removal. Moreover, by modelling the erosion rate and fate of sediments, we could reduce the dispersal of contaminated sediments, for example confining them. Models could also be used to predict the gains and losses in ecosystem services, thus raising the awareness on the importance of healthy stream and river ecosystems within the society. Certainly, dam removal scientists have still many questions to answer, but this is what makes science such an exciting challenge. I hope this dissertation will add a small piece in the giant puzzle of dam removal science.

6. General conclusions

- The Enobieta Dam created sediment starvation in downstream reaches. Dam decommissioning triggered the erosion and the downstream transport of the sediment accumulated in the reservoir. This sediment transport resulted in turbidity peaks in downstream reaches, mostly during rain events. However, in the long term, median bed particle size decreased and nowadays resembles the particle size observed in control reaches.
- 2. During the before period, the hypoxic conditions in the hypolimnion during stratification resulted in high concentrations of manganese and iron, although these concentrations diminished with distance. Ammonium concentrations followed a similar pattern. During the drawdown period we observed peaks of the three compounds, but water quality swiftly recovered during the after period, and nowadays water physicochemical characteristics are similar in control and impact reaches.
- 3. Before dam decommissioning the structure and functioning of biofilm was similar in all analyzed reaches, except for organic matter decomposition, which was lower in impact reaches. Sediment transport during drawdown reduced Chl-*a*, biofilm metabolism and microbial organic matter decomposition, but these differences disappeared in the after period.
- 4. As expected, benthic macroinvertebrate density, taxa richness and diversity were lower below the dam before decommissioning. Surprisingly, the differences in macroinvertebrate communities between control and impact reaches decreased during the drawdown period. The communities fully recovered, and the differences disappeared by the end of the study.
- 5. Overall, the Enobieta Dam constituted a black spot in the Artikutza valley, fragmenting the river and altering its geomorphology, water quality and the structure and functioning of biological communities. One year after the start of the decommissioning all variables but one were similar in control and impact reaches, manifesting the success of this restoration project. Therefore, this study evidences a positive effect of reservoir drawdown on stream structure and functioning.
- 6. The impact and the recovery process of the decommissioning highly depend on site-specific conditions such as the catchment conservation status or the decommissioning procedure. In

particular, the success of this project is partly attributed to the excellent conservation status of the Artikutza Valley and the slow drawdown carried out in the Enobieta Reservoir.

Ondorio orokorrak

- Enobietako presa hustu baino lehen, sedimentu falta somatzen zen urtegitik behera. Presa hustean, urtegian metatutako sedimentuen erosioa eta garraioa gertatu ziren. Garraio horren ondorioz, uhertasun gorakadak behatu ziren inpaktu tramuetan, batez ere euri jasa handietan. Sedimentu partikulen tamainaren mediana txikitu egin zen, kontrol tramuetan aurkitzen denaren antzekoa izan arte.
- 2. Presa hustu aurretik, estratifikazioak hipolimnionean eragindako hipoxia zela eta, manganeso eta burdin kontzentrazio handiak behatu ziren presatik behera, nahiz eta kontzentrazio horiek txikitu egiten ziren errekan behera joan ahala. Amonio kontzentrazioek antzeko patroia jarraitu zuten. Hustuketa fasean, hiru konposatuon kontzentrazioa emendatu zen. Hala ere, errekuperazio fasea uraren kalitatea azkar hobetu zen, uraren ezaugarri fisikokimikoak antzekoak izanik kontrol eta inpaktu tramuetan.
- 3. Presa hustu aurretik, biofilmaren egitura eta funtzionamendua antzekoak ziren kontrol eta inpaktu tramuetan, materia organikoaren deskonposaketa izan ezik, hau geldoagoa baitzen inpaktu tramuetan. Hustuketa fasean garraiatutako sedimentua zela eta, klorofila kontzentrazioa, metabolismoa eta materia organikoaren deskonposaketa murriztu egin ziren. Hala ere, desberdintasun horiek desagertu egin ziren errekuperazio fasean.
- 4. Espero bezala, presa hustu aurretik, makroornogabeen dentsitatea, taxoi aberastasuna eta Shannon dibertsitate indizea baxuagoak presatik behera. Hustuketa fasean, harrigarria suertatu bazen ere, desberdintasunak murriztu egin ziren. Komunitateak erabat berreskuratu ziren errekuperazio fasean, behatutako desberdintasunak erabat desagertu zirelarik.
- 5. Oro har, Enobietako presa Artikutzako haranean puntu beltza zen, ibaia zatitu eta geomorfologia, uraren kalitatea eta funtzionamenduan eragiten baitzuen. Presa hustu eta urtebetera, aldagai ia guztiek antzeko balioak izan zituzten kontrol eta inpaktu tramuetan. Hori da, hain zuzen, proiektu honen arrakastaren adierazle, presaren hustuketak eragin positiboa izan baitu ekosistemaren egitura zein funtzionamenduan.
- 6. Itxuraz, hustuketaren eragina zein errekuperazioa, bertako baldintzen menpe daude, hala nola, arroaren kontserbazioa edo eraisketa moduaren menpe. Hein handi batean,

errestaurazio proiektu honen arrakasta Artikutzako haranaren kontserbazio bikainari eta urtegia poliki hustu izanari dagokie.

Conclusiones generales

- 1. Previo al inicio del desmantelamiento de la presa, se observó la falta de sedimento de tamaño más fino aguas abajo de la presa. El desmantelamiento de la presa provocó la erosión y el transporte aguas abajo del sedimento acumulado en el embalse. Este transporte de sedimentos resultó en picos de turbidez, principalmente durante eventos de lluvia. A medio? plazo, disminuyó la mediana del tamaño de partículas del lecho de los tramos localizados aguas abajo del embalse, y hoy en día se asemeja al tamaño de las partículas observadas en los tramos control.
- 2. Antes del vaciado, las condiciones hipóxicas del hipolimnion durante la estratificación resultaron en concentraciones altas de manganeso y hierro, aunque esas concentraciones disminuyeron conforme la distancia a la presa aumentaba. Las concentraciones de amonio siguieron un patrón similar. Durante el período de vaciado observamos picos de concentración de los tres compuestos, pero la calidad del agua se recuperó rápidamente tras el vaciado. Hoy en día las características fisicoquímicas del agua son similares en los tramos control e impacto.
- 3. Antes del desmantelamiento de la presa, la estructura y el funcionamiento del biofilm eran similares en los tramos control e impacto, excepto para la descomposición de la materia orgánica, que era menor en los tramos impacto. El transporte de sedimentos durante la fase de vaciado redujo la concentración de clorofila y el metabolismo y la descomposición del biofilm, pero las diferencias desaparecieron al final del estudio en la fase de recuperación.
- 4. Las variables relacionadas con la estructura de la comunidad de macroinvertebrados, incluyendo la densidad, la riqueza taxonómica y el índice de diversidad de Shannon, mostraron los valores más bajos por debajo de la presa. Sorprendentemente, las diferencias en las comunidades de invertebrados entre los tramos control e impacto se redujo durante el período de vaciado. Las comunidades se recuperaron completamente al final del estudio.
- 5. En general, la presa de Enobieta constituyó un punto negro en el valle de Artikutza, fragmentando el río y alterando la geomorfología, la calidad del agua y la estructura y el funcionamiento de las comunidades biológicas. Un año después del comienzo del desmantelamiento, la mayoría de las variables llegaron a ser similares en los tramos control e impacto, manifestando el éxito de este proyecto de restauración. De hecho, este estudio

evidencia un efecto positivo del vaciado de un embalse en la estructura y el funcionamiento de los ríos.

6. Tanto el impacto como el proceso de recuperación después del desmantelamiento dependen en gran medida de las condiciones específicas del lugar y el estado de conservación de la cuenca en la que se encuentra el embalse. En particular, el éxito de este proyecto se atribuye por un lado al excelente estado de conservación del valle de Artikutza y al vaciado lento que se ha realizado en el embalse de Enobieta.

7. Literature cited

- Abbott KM, Zaidel PA, Roy AH, Houle KM, Nislow KH (2022) Investigating impacts of small dams and dam removal on dissolved oxygen in streams. PLOS ONE 17:e0277647
- Acuña V, Muñoz I, Giorgi A, Omella M, Sabater F, Sabater S (2005) Drought and postdrought recovery cycles in an intermittent Mediterranean stream: structural and functional aspects. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 24:919–933
- Adams KJ, Marks JC (2016) Population Response of the Invasive Crayfish Orconectes Virilis (Hagen, 1870) (Decapoda: Astacoidea: Cambaridae) to Restoration: What are the Consequences of Changes in Predatory Regulation and Physical Habitat in Fossil Creek, Arizona, USA? Journal of Crustacean Biology 36:597–606
- Ahearn DS, Dahlgren RA (2005) Sediment and nutrient dynamics following a low-head dam removal at Murphy Creek, California. Limnology and Oceanography 50:1752–1762
- Ahearn DS, Sheibley RW, Dahlgren RA (2005) Effects of river regulation on water quality in the lower Mokelumne River, California. River Research and Applications 21:651–670
- Akbarzadeh Z, Maavara T, Slowinski S, Van Cappellen P (2019) Effects of Damming on River Nitrogen Fluxes: A Global Analysis. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 33:1339–1357
- Alba-Tercedor J (2002) Caracterización del estado ecológico de ríos mediterráneos ibéricos mediante el índice IBMWP (antes BMWP'). Limnetica 21:175–185
- Amani M, von Schiller D, Suárez I, Atristain M, Elosegi A, Marcé R, García-Baquero G, Obrador B (2022) The drawdown phase of dam decommissioning is a hot moment of gaseous carbon emissions from a temperate reservoir. Inland Waters 12:451–462

Andersen RA (2005) Algal Culturing Techniques. Elsevier Academic Press

- Anderson MJ (2001) A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology 26:32–46
- Arantes CC, Fitzgerald DB, Hoeinghaus DJ, Winemiller KO (2019) Impacts of hydroelectric dams on fishes and fisheries in tropical rivers through the lens of functional traits. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 37:28–40

- Aristi I, Arroita M, Larrañaga A, Ponsatí L, Sabater S, von Schiller D, Elosegi A, Acuña V (2014) Flow regulation by dams affects ecosystem metabolism in Mediterranean rivers. Freshwater Biology 59:1816–1829
- Arroita M, Aristi I, Flores L, Larrañaga A, Díez J, Mora J, Romaní AM, Elosegi A (2012) The use of wooden sticks to assess stream ecosystem functioning: Comparison with leaf breakdown rates. Science of The Total Environment 440:115–122
- Ashley JTF, Bushaw-Newton K, Wilhelm M, Boettner A, Drames G, Velinsky DJ (2006) The Effects of Small Dam Removal on the Distribution of Sedimentary Contaminants. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 114:287–312
- Aspray KL, Holden J, Ledger ME, Mainstone CP, Brown LE (2017) Organic sediment pulses impact rivers across multiple levels of ecological organization. Ecohydrology 10:e1855
- Astorga A, Death R, Death F, Paavola R, Chakraborty M, Muotka T (2014) Habitat heterogeneity drives the geographical distribution of beta diversity: the case of New Zealand stream invertebrates. Ecology and Evolution 4:2693–2702
- Atristain M, von Schiller D, Larrañaga A, Elosegi A (2022) Short-term effects of a large dam decommissioning on biofilm structure and functioning. Restoration Ecology n/a:e13779
- Ba MM, Heyman J, Rivière A, Soulayrol MO, Stubbe V, Meric F, Kergosien B, Rolland P, Petton C, Lavenant N, Kermarrec JJ, Crave A (2023) A dataset on physico-chemical hyporheic variables in the Selune River: Towards understanding the impact of dam removal on riverbed clogging processes. Data in Brief 46:108837
- Baattrup-Pedersen A, Graeber D, Kallestrup H, Guo K, Rasmussen JJ, Larsen SE, Riis T (2020) Effects of low flow and co-occurring stressors on structural and functional characteristics of the benthic biofilm in small streams. Science of The Total Environment 733:139331
- Barbarossa V, Schmitt RJP, Huijbregts MAJ, Zarfl C, King H, Schipper AM (2020) Impacts of current and future large dams on the geographic range connectivity of freshwater fish worldwide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117:3648–3655
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48

- Battin TJ, Besemer K, Bengtsson MM, Romani AM, Packmann AI (2016) The ecology and biogeochemistry of stream biofilms. Nature Reviews Microbiology 14:251–263
- Baxter RM (1977) Environmental Effects of Dams and Impoundments. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 8:255–283
- Beatty S, Allen M, Lymbery A, Jordaan MS, Morgan D, Impson D, Marr S, Ebner B, Weyl OLF (2017)
 Rethinking refuges: Implications of climate change for dam busting. Biological Conservation 209:188–195
- Bednarek AT (2001) Undamming Rivers: A Review of the Ecological Impacts of Dam Removal. 27:803– 814
- Belletti B, Garcia de Leaniz C, Jones J, Bizzi S, Börger L, Segura G, Castelletti A, van de Bund W,
 Aarestrup K, Barry J, Belka K, Berkhuysen A, Birnie-Gauvin K, Bussettini M, Carolli M,
 Consuegra S, Dopico E, Feierfeil T, Fernández S, Fernandez Garrido P, Garcia-Vazquez E,
 Garrido S, Giannico G, Gough P, Jepsen N, Jones PE, Kemp P, Kerr J, King J, Łapińska M, Lázaro
 G, Lucas MC, Marcello L, Martin P, McGinnity P, O'Hanley J, Olivo del Amo R, Parasiewicz P,
 Pusch M, Rincon G, Rodriguez C, Royte J, Schneider CT, Tummers JS, Vallesi S, Vowles A,
 Verspoor E, Wanningen H, Wantzen KM, Wildman L, Zalewski M (2020) More than one
 million barriers fragment Europe's rivers. Nature 588:436–441
- Bellmore JR, Pess GR, Duda JJ, O'Connor JE, East AE, Foley MM, Wilcox AC, Major JJ, Shafroth PB,
 Morley SA, Magirl CS, Anderson CW, Evans JE, Torgersen CE, Craig laura S (2019)
 Conceptualizing Ecological Responses to Dam Removal: If You Remove It, What's to Come?
 BioScience 69:26–39
- Bellmore RJ, Duda JJ, Craig LS, Greene SL, Torgersen CE, Collins MJ, Vittum K (2017) Status and trends of dam removal research in the United States. WIREs Water 4:e1164
- Bernhardt ES, Palmer MA, Allan JD, Alexander G, Barnas K, Brooks S, Carr J, Clayton S, Dahm C,
 Follstad-Shah J, Galat D, Gloss S, Goodwin P, Hart D, Hassett B, Jenkinson R, Katz S, Kondolf
 GM, Lake PS, Lave R, Meyer JL, O'Donnell TK, Pagano L, Powell B, Sudduth E (2005)
 Synthesizing U.S. River Restoration Efforts. Science 308:636–637
- Besemer K (2015) Biodiversity, community structure and function of biofilms in stream ecosystems. Research in Microbiology 166:774–781

- Betancourt C, Jorge F, Suárez R, Beutel M, Gebremariam S (2010) Manganese sources and cycling in a tropical eutrophic water supply reservoir, Paso Bonito Reservoir, Cuba. Lake and Reservoir Management 26:217–226
- Birnie-Gauvin K, Larsen MH, Nielsen J, Aarestrup K (2017) 30 years of data reveal dramatic increase in abundance of brown trout following the removal of a small hydrodam. Journal of Environmental Management 204:467–471
- Birnie-Gauvin K, Nielsen J, Frandsen SB, Olsen H-M, Aarestrup K (2020) Catchment-scale effects of river fragmentation: A case study on restoring connectivity. Journal of Environmental Management 264:110408
- Bohrerova Z, Park E, Halloran K, Lee J (2017) Water Quality Changes Shortly After Low-Head Dam Removal Examined With Cultural and Microbial Source Tracking Methods. River Research and Applications 33:113–122
- Boulange J, Hanasaki N, Yamazaki D, Pokhrel Y (2021) Role of dams in reducing global flood exposure under climate change. Nature Communications 12:417
- Boyero L (2003) The quantification of local substrate heterogeneity in streams and its significance for macroinvertebrate assemblages. Hydrobiologia 499:161–168
- Brenkman SJ, Peters RJ, Tabor RA, Geffre JJ, Sutton KT (2019) Rapid Recolonization and Life History Responses of Bull Trout Following Dam Removal in Washington's Elwha River. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 39:560–573
- Brittain JE, L'Abée-Lund JH (1995). The environmental impacts of dams and strategies for reducing their impact. In eds L Santbergen and J Van Western, Reservoirs in River Basin Development. Rotterdam
- Brown RL, Thomas CC, Cubley ES, Clausen AJ, Shafroth PB (2022) Does large dam removal restore downstream riparian vegetation diversity? Testing predictions on the Elwha River, Washington, USA. Ecological Applications 32:e2591
- Bryant LD, Hsu-Kim H, Gantzer PA, Little JC (2011) Solving the problem at the source: Controlling Mn release at the sediment-water interface via hypolimnetic oxygenation. Water Research 45:6381–6392

- Bubb DH, Birnie-Gauvin K, Tummers JS, Aarestrup K, Jepsen N, Lucas MC (2021) Short-Term Effects of Low-Head Barrier Removals on Fish Communities and Habitats. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9
- Burroughs B, Hayes D, Klomp K, Hansen J, Mistak J (2010) The Effects of the Stronach Dam Removal on Fish in the Pine River, Manistee County, Michigan. Transactions of The American Fisheries Society - TRANS AMER FISH SOC 139:1595–1613
- Burroughs BA, Hayes DB, Klomp KD, Hansen JF, Mistak J (2009) Effects of Stronach Dam removal on fluvial geomorphology in the Pine River, Michigan, United States. Geomorphology 110:96– 107
- Bushaw-Newton KL, Hart DD, Pizzuto JE, Thomson JR, Egan J, Ashley JT, Johnson TE, Horwitz RJ,
 Keeley M, Lawrence J, Charles D, Gatenby C, Kreeger DA, Nightengale T, Thomas RL, Velinsky
 DJ (2002) An Integrative Approach Towards Understanding Ecological Responses to Dam
 Removal: The Manatawny Creek Study1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources
 Association 38:1581–1599
- Cadmus P, Clements WH, Williamson JL, Ranville JF, Meyer JS, Ginés MJG (2016) The Use of Field and Mesocosm Experiments to Quantify Effects of Physical and Chemical Stressors in Mining-Contaminated Streams. Environmental science & technology 50:7825–7833
- Cadmus P, Guasch H, Herdrich AT, Bonet B, Urrea G, Clements WH (2018) Structural and functional responses of periphyton and macroinvertebrate communities to ferric Fe, Cu, and Zn in stream mesocosms. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 37:1320–1329
- Cancel Villamil JJ, Locke SA (2022) Fish assemblage response to removal of a low-head dam in the lower reach of a tropical island river. Freshwater Biology 67:926–937
- Carlson PE, Donadi S, Sandin L (2018) Responses of macroinvertebrate communities to small dam removals: Implications for bioassessment and restoration. Journal of Applied Ecology 55:1896–1907
- CEDEX (2005) Asistencia técnica para el estudio de la capacidad del embalse de Añarbe (Navarra). Technical report. CEDEX, Studies and Experimentation Centre, Spanish Government

- Chang H-Y, Chiu M-C, Chuang Y-L, Tzeng C-S, Kuo M-H, Yeh C-H, Wang H-W, Wu S-H, Kuan W-H, Tsai S-T, Shao K-T, Lin H-J (2017) Community responses to dam removal in a subtropical mountainous stream. Aquatic Sciences 79:967–983
- Chen W, Wei X (2008) Assessing the relations between aquatic habitat indicators and forest harvesting at watershed scale in the interior of British Columbia. Forest Ecology and Management 256:152–160
- Chiu M-C, Yeh C-H, Sun Y-H, Kuo M-H (2013) Short-term effects of dam removal on macroinvertebrates in a Taiwan stream. Aquatic Ecology 47:245–252
- Chon H-T, Hwang J-H (2000) Geochemical Characteristics of the Acid Mine Drainage in the Water System in the Vicinity of the Dogye Coal Mine in Korea. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 22:155–172
- Claeson SM, Coffin B (2016) Physical and Biological Responses to an Alternative Removal Strategy of a Moderate-sized Dam in Washington, USA. River Research and Applications 32:1143–1152
- Clarke KR (1993) Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Australian Journal of Ecology 18:117–143
- Cluer B, Thorne C (2014) A Stream Evolution Model Integrating Habitat and Ecosystem Benefits. River Research and Applications 30:135–154
- Colas F, Baudoin J-M, Chauvet E, Clivot H, Danger M, Guérold F, Devin S (2016) Dam-associated multiple-stressor impacts on fungal biomass and richness reveal the initial signs of ecosystem functioning impairment. Ecological Indicators 60:1077–1090
- Colas F, Baudoin J-M, Danger M, Usseglio-Polatera P, Wagner P, Devin S (2013) Synergistic impacts of sediment contamination and dam presence on river functioning. Freshwater Biology 58:320–336
- Cook DR, Sullivan SMP (2018) Associations between riffle development and aquatic biota following lowhead dam removal. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 190:339
- Cooper AR, Infante DM, Wehrly KE, Wang L, Brenden TO (2016) Identifying indicators and quantifying large-scale effects of dams on fishes. Ecological Indicators 61:646–657

- Coveleski KC, Curran JC (2012) Importance of Hydrology on Channel Evolution Following Dam Removal: Case Study and Conceptual Model. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 138:377–390
- Crist E, Mora C, Engelman R (2017) The interaction of human population, food production, and biodiversity protection. Science 356:260–264
- Cubley ES, Brown RL (2016) Restoration of Hydrochory Following Dam Removal on the Elwha River, Washington. River Research and Applications 32:1566–1575
- Cui Y, Braudrick C, Dietrich WE, Cluer B, Parker G (2006b) Dam Removal Express Assessment Models (DREAM). Journal of Hydraulic Research 44:308–323
- Cui Y, Parker G, Braudrick C, Dietrich WE, Cluer B (2006a) Dam Removal Express Assessment Models (DREAM). Journal of Hydraulic Research 44:291–307
- Curran JC, Coveleski KC (2021) How sediment composition and flow rate influence downstream channel morphodynamics upon dam removal. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 46:2437–2447
- Dare GC, Murray RG, Courcelles DMM, Malt JM, Palen WJ (2020) Run-of-river dams as a barrier to the movement of a stream-dwelling amphibian. Ecosphere 11:e03207
- Davies-Colley RJ, Hickey CW, Quinn JM, Ryan PA (1992) Effects of clay discharges on streams. Hydrobiologia 248:215–234
- Davis RP, Sullivan SMP, Stefanik KC (2017) Reductions in fish-community contamination following lowhead dam removal linked more to shifts in food-web structure than sediment pollution. Environmental Pollution 231:671–680
- Davis SJ, Ó hUallacháin D, Mellander P-E, Kelly A-M, Matthaei CD, Piggott JJ, Kelly-Quinn M (2018) Multiple-stressor effects of sediment, phosphorus and nitrogen on stream macroinvertebrate communities. Science of The Total Environment 637–638:577–587
- Deemer BR, Harrison JA, Li S, Beaulieu JJ, DelSontro T, Barros N, Bezerra-Neto JF, Powers SM, dos Santos MA, Vonk JA (2016) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Reservoir Water Surfaces: A New Global Synthesis. BioScience 66:949–964
- Dethier EN, Renshaw CE, Magilligan FJ (2022) Rapid changes to global river suspended sediment flux by humans. Science 376:1447–1452

- Ding Chengzhi, Jiang X, Wang L, Fan H, Chen L, Hu J, Wang H, Chen Y, Shi X, Chen H, Pan B, Ding L, Zhang C, He D (2019) Fish Assemblage Responses to a Low-head Dam Removal in the Lancang River. Chinese Geographical Science 29:26–36
- Ding Liuyong, Chen L, Ding C, Tao J (2019) Global Trends in Dam Removal and Related Research: A Systematic Review Based on Associated Datasets and Bibliometric Analysis. Chinese Geographical Science 29:1–12
- Dolédec S, Simon L, Blemus J, Rigal A, Robin J, Mermillod-Blondin F (2021) Multiple stressors shape invertebrate assemblages and reduce their trophic niche: A case study in a regulated stream. Science of The Total Environment 773:145061
- Doyle MW, Stanley EH, Harbor JM (2003a) Channel adjustments following two dam removals in Wisconsin. Water Resources Research 39
- Doyle MW, Stanley EH, Harbor JM (2002) Geomorphic Analogies for Assessing Probable Channel Response to Dam Removal1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 38:1567–1579
- Doyle MW, Stanley EH, Harbor JM (2003b) Hydrogeomorphic controls on phosphorus retention in streams. Water Resources Research 39
- Doyle MW, Stanley EH, Havlick DG, Kaiser MJ, Steinbach G, Graf WL, Galloway GE, Riggsbee JA (2008) Aging Infrastructure and Ecosystem Restoration. Science 319:286–287
- Draut AE, Ritchie AC (2015) Sedimentology of New Fluvial Deposits on the Elwha River, Washington, USA, Formed During Large-Scale Dam Removal. River Research and Applications 31:42–61
- Duda JJ, Torgersen CE, Brenkman SJ, Peters RJ, Sutton KT, Connor HA, Kennedy P, Corbett SC, Welty EZ, Geffre A, Geffre J, Crain P, Shreffler D, McMillan JR, McHenry M, Pess GR (2021) Reconnecting the Elwha River: Spatial Patterns of Fish Response to Dam Removal. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9
- Dudgeon D (2019) Multiple threats imperil freshwater biodiversity in the Anthropocene. Current Biology 29:R960–R967
- Dudgeon D (2005) River Rehabilitation for Conservation of Fish Biodiversity in Monsoonal Asia. Ecology and Society 10

- Dzubakova K, Peter H, Bertuzzo E, Juez C, Franca MJ, Rinaldo A, Battin TJ (2018) Environmental heterogeneity promotes spatial resilience of phototrophic biofilms in streambeds. Biology Letters 14:20180432
- East AE, Logan JB, Mastin MC, Ritchie AC, Bountry JA, Magirl CS, Sankey JB (2018) Geomorphic Evolution of a Gravel-Bed River Under Sediment-Starved Versus Sediment-Rich Conditions: River Response to the World's Largest Dam Removal. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 123:3338–3369
- East AE, Pess GR, Bountry JA, Magirl CS, Ritchie AC, Logan JB, Randle TJ, Mastin MC, Minear JT, Duda JJ, Liermann MC, McHenry ML, Beechie TJ, Shafroth PB (2015) Large-scale dam removal on the Elwha River, Washington, USA: River channel and floodplain geomorphic change. Geomorphology 228:765–786
- Ehsani N, Vörösmarty CJ, Fekete BM, Stakhiv EZ (2017) Reservoir operations under climate change: Storage capacity options to mitigate risk. Journal of Hydrology 555:435–446
- Ekos (2016) Caracterización de los sedimentos del embalse de Artikutza y pautas para su gestión. Technical report for the Municipality of San Sebastian
- Ellis LE, Jones NE (2016) A Test of the Serial Discontinuity Concept: Longitudinal Trends of Benthic Invertebrates in Regulated and Natural Rivers of Northern Canada. River Research and Applications 32:462–472
- Ellis LE, Jones NE (2013) Longitudinal trends in regulated rivers: a review and synthesis within the context of the serial discontinuity concept. Environmental Reviews 21:136–148
- Elosegi A, Atristain M, Larrañaga A, von Schiller D (2019). Artikutzako errekak. In: Artikutza, natura eta historia. Donostiako udaleko Osasun eta Ingurumen Saila pp 316-333
- Elosegi A, Díez JR, Flores L, Molinero J (2017) Pools, channel form, and sediment storage in woodrestored streams: Potential effects on downstream reservoirs. Geomorphology 279:165–175
- Elosegi A, González-Esteban J, Monfort R (2022) Evaluación de las distintas alternativas de puesta fuera de servicio de la presa de Enobieta sobre el estado de conservación de la ZEC ES2200010 Artikutza. Report for the Municipality of Donostia-San Sebastian

- Elosegi A, Nicolás A, Richardson JS (2018) Priming of leaf litter decomposition by algae seems of minor importance in natural streams during autumn. PLOS ONE 13:e0200180
- Esnaola A, Mata V, Arrizabalaga-Escudero A, González-Esteban J, Larrañaga A, Rebelo H, Elosegi A, Aihartza J (2021) It is the ambience, not the menu. Prey availability does not drive habitat selection by the endangered Pyrenean desman. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 31:1859–1872
- Estigoni MV, Nelson AD, Dufficy A, Torrealba SF, de Lima G (2020) Sediment Transport Assessment for Rio Gualaxo Do Norte After the Fundão Dam Failure. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 16:572–582
- European Environment Agency (2018). European waters-assessment of status and pressures 2018. EEA report no 7/2018. https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/state-of-water
- Fernández-Turiel JL, Llorens JF, López-Vera F, Gómez-Artola C, Morell I, Gimeno D (2000) Strategy for water analysis using ICP-MS. Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry 601–606
- Ferrer-Boix C, Martín-Vide JP, Parker G (2014) Channel evolution after dam removal in a poorly sorted sediment mixture: Experiments and numerical model. Water Resources Research 50:8997– 9019
- Fjeldstad H-P, Barlaup BT, Stickler M, Gabrielsen S-E, Alfredsen K (2012) Removal of Weirs and the Influence on Physical Habitat for Salmonids in a Norwegian River. River Research and Applications 28:753–763
- Flores L, Díez JR, Larrañaga A, Pascoal C, Elosegi A (2013) Effects of retention site on breakdown of organic matter in a mountain stream. Freshwater Biology 58:1267–1278
- Flores L, Giorgi A, González JM, Larrañaga A, Díez JR, Elosegi A (2017) Effects of wood addition on stream benthic invertebrates differed among seasons at both habitat and reach scales. Ecological Engineering 106:116–123
- Flores L, Larrañaga A, Díez J, Elosegi A (2011) Experimental wood addition in streams: effects on organic matter storage and breakdown. Freshwater Biology 56:2156–2167
- Foley MM, Bellmore JR, O'Connor JE, Duda JJ, East AE, Grant GE, Anderson CW, Bountry JA, Collins MJ, Connolly PJ, Craig LS, Evans JE, Greene SL, Magilligan FJ, Magirl CS, Major JJ, Pess GR,

Randle TJ, Shafroth PB, Torgersen CE, Tullos D, Wilcox AC (2017) Dam removal: Listening in. Water Resources Research 53:5229–5246

- Fraik AK, McMillan JR, Liermann M, Bennett T, McHenry ML, McKinney GJ, Wells AH, Winans G,
 Kelley JL, Pess GR, Nichols KM (2021) The Impacts of Dam Construction and Removal on the
 Genetics of Recovering Steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) Populations across the Elwha River
 Watershed. Genes 12:89
- Francoeur SN, Biggs BJF (2006) Short-term Effects of Elevated Velocity and Sediment Abrasion on Benthic Algal Communities. Hydrobiologia 561:59–69
- Friedl G, Wüest A (2002) Disrupting biogeochemical cycles Consequences of damming. Aquatic Sciences 64:55–65
- Garcia de Leaniz C, O'Hanley JR (2022) Operational methods for prioritizing the removal of river barriers: Synthesis and guidance. Science of The Total Environment 848:157471
- García L, Cross WF, Pardo I, Richardson JS (2017) Effects of landuse intensification on stream basal resources and invertebrate communities. Freshwater Science 36:609–625
- Gardner C, Coghlan Jr SM, Zydlewski J, Saunders R (2013) Distribution and Abundance of Stream Fishes in Relation to Barriers: Implications for Monitoring Stream Recovery After Barrier Removal. River Research and Applications 29:65–78
- Gibson CA, Koch BJ, Compson ZG, Hungate BA, Marks JC (2018) Ecosystem responses to restored flow in a travertine river. Freshwater Science 37:169–177
- Gillespie BR, Desmet S, Kay P, Tillotson MR, Brown LE (2015) A critical analysis of regulated river ecosystem responses to managed environmental flows from reservoirs. Freshwater Biology 60:410–425
- Gillette DP, Daniel K, Redd C (2016) Fish and Benthic Macroinvertebrate Assemblage Response to Removal of a Partially Breached Lowhead Dam. River Research and Applications 32:1776– 1789
- Girder (2016) Estudio de viabilidad de la puesta fuera de servicio de la presa de Artikutza. Technical report for the Municipality of San Sebastian. Girder Ingenieros

- Gómez-Gener L, Obrador B, Marcé R, Acuña V, Catalán N, Casas-Ruiz JP, Sabater S, Muñoz I, von Schiller D (2016) When Water Vanishes: Magnitude and Regulation of Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Dry Temporary Streams. Ecosystems 19:710–723
- Gore JA, Layzer JB, Mead J (2001) Macroinvertebrate instream flow studies after 20 years: a role in stream management and restoration. Regulated Rivers: Research & Management 17:527– 542
- Graça MAS (2001) The Role of Invertebrates on Leaf Litter Decomposition in Streams a Review. International Review of Hydrobiology 86:383–393
- Graf WL (2006) Downstream hydrologic and geomorphic effects of large dams on American rivers. Geomorphology 79:336–360
- Granata T, Cheng F, Nechvatal M (2008) Discharge and Suspended Sediment Transport during Deconstruction of a Low-Head Dam. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 134:652–657
- Grant GE, Lewis SL (2015) The Remains of the Dam: What Have We Learned from 15 Years of US Dam Removals? In: Engineering Geology for Society and Territory Volume 3. Lollino, G, Arattano, M, Rinaldi, M, Giustolisi, O, Marechal, J-C, & Grant, GE, editors. Springer International Publishing, Cham pp. 31–35.
- Griffith MB, McManus MG (2020) Consideration of spatial and temporal scales in stream restorations and biotic monitoring to assess restoration outcomes: A literature review, part 2. River Research and Applications 36:1398–1415
- Grill G, Lehner B, Lumsdon AE, MacDonald GK, Zarfl C, Liermann CR (2015) An index-based framework for assessing patterns and trends in river fragmentation and flow regulation by global dams at multiple scales. Environmental Research Letters 10:015001
- Grill G, Lehner B, Thieme M, Geenen B, Tickner D, Antonelli F, Babu S, Borrelli P, Cheng L, Crochetiere H, Ehalt Macedo H, Filgueiras R, Goichot M, Higgins J, Hogan Z, Lip B, McClain ME, Meng J, Mulligan M, Nilsson C, Olden JD, Opperman JJ, Petry P, Reidy Liermann C, Sáenz L, Salinas-Rodríguez S, Schelle P, Schmitt RJP, Snider J, Tan F, Tockner K, Valdujo PH, van Soesbergen A, Zarfl C (2019) Mapping the world's free-flowing rivers. Nature 569:215–221

- Guareschi S, Laini A, Sánchez-Montoya MM (2017) How do low-abundance taxa affect river biomonitoring? Exploring the response of different macroinvertebrate-based indices. Journal of Limnology 76
- Habel M, Mechkin K, Podgorska K, Saunes M, Babiński Z, Chalov S, Absalon D, Podgórski Z, Obolewski
 K (2020) Dam and reservoir removal projects: a mix of social-ecological trends and costcutting attitudes. Scientific Reports 10:19210
- Hall RO, Hotchkiss ER (2017) Stream Metabolism. In: *Methods in Stream Ecology*: Third Edition.Vol. 2 Elsevier pp. 219–233
- Hansen JF, Hayes DB (2012) Long-Term Implications of Dam Removal for Macroinvertebrate Communities in Michigan and Wisconsin Rivers, United States. River Research and Applications 28:1540–1550
- Harford AJ, Mooney TJ, Trenfield MA, van Dam RA (2015) Manganese toxicity to tropical freshwater species in low hardness water. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 34:2856–2863
- Harrison LR, East AE, Smith DP, Logan JB, Bond RM, Nicol CL, Williams TH, Boughton DA, Chow K, Luna L (2018) River response to large-dam removal in a Mediterranean hydroclimatic setting: Carmel River, California, USA. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 43:3009–3021
- Hatten JR, Batt TR, Skalicky JJ, Engle R, Barton GJ, Fosness RL, Warren J (2016) Effects of Dam Removal on Tule Fall Chinook salmon Spawning Habitat in the White Salmon River, Washington. River Research and Applications 32:1481–1492
- Hess JE, Paradis RL, Moser ML, Weitkamp LA, Delomas TA, Narum SR (2021) Robust Recolonization of Pacific Lamprey Following Dam Removals. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 150:56–74
- Hester ET, Doyle MW (2011) Human Impacts to River Temperature and Their Effects on Biological Processes: A Quantitative Synthesis1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 47:571–587
- Hill NL, Trueman JR, Prévost AD, Fraser DJ, Ardren WR, Grant JWA (2019) Effect of dam removal on habitat use by spawning Atlantic salmon. Journal of Great Lakes Research 45:394–399

- Hitt NP, Eyler S, Wofford JEB (2012) Dam Removal Increases American Eel Abundance in Distant Headwater Streams. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141:1171–1179
- Hogg R, Coghlan SM, Zydlewski J (2013) Anadromous Sea Lampreys Recolonize a Maine Coastal River Tributary after Dam Removal. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:1381–1394
- Hogg RS, Coghlan SM, Zydlewski J, Gardner C (2015) Fish Community Response to a Small-Stream Dam Removal in a Maine Coastal River Tributary. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 144:467–479
- Holt CR, Pfitzer D, Scalley C, Caldwell BA, Capece PI, Batzer DP (2015) Longitudinal variation in macroinvertebrate assemblages below a large-scale hydroelectric dam. Hydrobiologia 755:13–26
- Ibisate A, Ollero A, Ballarín D, Horacio J, Mora D, Mesanza A, Ferrer-Boix C, Acín V, Granado D, Martín-Vide JP (2016) Geomorphic monitoring and response to two dam removals: rivers Urumea and Leitzaran (Basque Country, Spain). Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 41:2239–2255
- Im D, Choi B, Choi S-U (2019) Change in fish community composition following weir removal, field observations, and physical habitat simulations. River Research and Applications 35:1062– 1071
- Itsukushima R, Ohtsuki K, Sato T, Kano Y, Takata H, Yoshikawa H (2019) Effects of Sediment Released from a Check Dam on Sediment Deposits and Fish and Macroinvertebrate Communities in a Small Stream. Water 11:716
- Izagirre O, Serra A, Guasch H, Elosegi A (2009) Effects of sediment deposition on periphytic biomass, photosynthetic activity and algal community structure. Science of The Total Environment 407:5694–5700
- Jähnig SC, Lorenz AW, Hering D, Antons C, Sundermann A, Jedicke E, Haase P (2011) River restoration success: a question of perception. Ecological Applications 21:2007–2015
- Jones AC, Meiners SJ, Effert-Fanta E, Thomas T, Smith SCF, Colombo RE (2023) Low-head dam removal increases functional diversity of stream fish assemblages. River Research and Applications 39:3–20

- Kane W, Brown R, Bastow J (2020) Monitoring the Return of Marine-Derived Nitrogen to Riparian Areas in Response to Dam Removal on the Elwha River, Washington. Northwest Science 94:118–128
- Kanehl PD, Lyons J, Nelson JE (1997) Changes in the Habitat and Fish Community of the Milwaukee River, Wisconsin, Following Removal of the Woolen Mills Dam. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17:387–400
- Keim RF, Skaugset AE, Bateman DS (2000) Dynamics of Coarse Woody Debris Placed in Three Oregon Streams. Forest Science 46:13–22
- Kil HK, Bae YJ (2012) Effects of low-head dam removal on benthic macroinvertebrate communities in a Korean stream. Animal Cells and Systems 16:69–76
- Killen SS (2014) Growth trajectory influences temperature preference in fish through an effect on metabolic rate. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:1513–1522
- Kim S-K, Joo G-J, Choi J-Y (2022) Effect of Gated Weir Opening on the Topography and Zooplankton Community of Geum River, South Korea. Land 11:529
- Kondolf GM (1997) Hungry Water: Effects of Dams and Gravel Mining on River Channels. Environmental Management 21:533–551
- Kondolf GM, Rubin ZK, Minear JT (2014) Dams on the Mekong: Cumulative sediment starvation. Water Resources Research 50:5158–5169
- Kondolf M, Yi J (2022) Dam Renovation to Prolong Reservoir Life and Mitigate Dam Impacts. Water 14:1464
- Kornis MS, Weidel BC, Powers SM, Diebel MW, Cline TJ, Fox JM, Kitchell JF (2015) Fish community dynamics following dam removal in a fragmented agricultural stream. Aquatic Sciences 77:465–480
- Kosarev AV, Ivanov DE, Kamenets AF (2022) The effect of manganese ions (II) on representatives of aquatic biota. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science 949:012013
- Kotalik CJ, Cadmus P, Clements WH (2019) Indirect Effects of Iron Oxide on Stream Benthic Communities: Capturing Ecological Complexity with Controlled Mesocosm Experiments. Environmental Science & Technology 53:11532–11540

- Krajenbrink HJ, White JC, Dunbar MJ, Wood PJ (2022) Macroinvertebrate and diatom community responses to thermal alterations below water supply reservoirs. River Research and Applications 38:595–612
- Lane SN, Gaillet T, Goldenschue L (2022) Restoring morphodynamics downstream from Alpine dams: Development of a geomorphological version of the serial discontinuity concept. Geomorphology 402:108131
- Lasne E, Sabatié M-R, Jeannot N, Cucherousset J (2015) The Effects of DAM Removal on River Colonization by Sea Lamprey Petromyzon Marinus. River Research and Applications 31:904– 911
- Lecerf A, Chauvet E (2008) Diversity and functions of leaf-decaying fungi in human-altered streams. Freshwater Biology 53:1658–1672
- Leflaive X (2012). Water Outlook to 2050. The OECD calls for early and strategic action in *Global* water forum
- Lehner B, Liermann CR, Revenga C, Vörösmarty C, Fekete B, Crouzet P, Döll P, Endejan M, Frenken K, Magome J, Nilsson C, Robertson JC, Rödel R, Sindorf N, Wisser D (2011) High-resolution mapping of the world's reservoirs and dams for sustainable river-flow management. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9:494–502
- Lei Y, Dong F, Liu X, Ma B, Huang W (2023) Short-term variations and correlations in water quality after dam removal in the Chishui river basin. Journal of Environmental Management 327:116917
- Lewis E, Inamdar S, Gold AJ, Addy K, Trammell TLE, Merritts D, Peipoch M, Groffman PM, Hripto J, Sherman M, Kan J, Walter R, Peck E (2021) Draining the Landscape: How Do Nitrogen Concentrations in Riparian Groundwater and Stream Water Change Following Milldam Removal? Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 126:e2021JG006444
- Lisius GL, Snyder NP, Collins MJ (2018) Vegetation community response to hydrologic and geomorphic changes following dam removal. River Research and Applications 34:317–327
- Livermore J, Trainor M, Bednarski MS (2017) Successful Spawning of Anadromous *Petromyzon marinus* L. (Sea Lamprey) in a Restored Stream Channel Following Dam Removal. Northeastern Naturalist 24:380–390
- Louhi P, Richardson JS, Muotka T (2017) Sediment addition reduces the importance of predation on ecosystem functions in experimental stream channels. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 74:32–40
- Lozano P, Latasa I (2019). Vegetación. In: *Artikutza, natura eta historia*. Donostiako udaleko Osasun eta Ingurumen Saila pp 334-359
- Maavara T, Chen Q, Van Meter K, Brown LE, Zhang J, Ni J, Zarfl C (2020) River dam impacts on biogeochemical cycling. Nature Reviews Earth & Environment 1:103–116
- Maavara T, Parsons CT, Ridenour C, Stojanovic S, Dürr HH, Powley HR, Van Cappellen P (2015) Global phosphorus retention by river damming. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112:15603–15608
- MacCausland A, McTammany ME (2007) The impact of episodic coal mine drainage pollution on benthic macroinvertebrates in streams in the Anthracite region of Pennsylvania. Environmental Pollution 149:216–226
- Magilligan FJ, Nislow KH, Dietrich JT, Doyle H, Kynard B (2021) Transient versus sustained biophysical responses to dam removal. Geomorphology 389:107836
- Magilligan FJ, Nislow KH, Kynard BE, Hackman AM (2016) Immediate changes in stream channel geomorphology, aquatic habitat, and fish assemblages following dam removal in a small upland catchment. Geomorphology 252:158–170
- Magirl CS, Hilldale RC, Curran CA, Duda JJ, Straub TD, Domanski M, Foreman JR (2015) Large-scale dam removal on the Elwha River, Washington, USA: Fluvial sediment load. Geomorphology 246:669–686
- Mahan DC, Betts JT, Nord E, Dyke FV, Outcalt JM (2021) Response of benthic macroinvertebrates to dam removal in the restoration of the Boardman River, Michigan, USA. PLOS ONE 16:e0245030
- Maloney KO, Dodd HR, Butler SE, Wahl DH (2008) Changes in macroinvertebrate and fish assemblages in a medium-sized river following a breach of a low-head dam. Freshwater Biology 53:1055–1068

- Marcé R, Obrador B, Gómez-Gener L, Catalán N, Koschorreck M, Arce MI, Singer G, von Schiller D (2019) Emissions from dry inland waters are a blind spot in the global carbon cycle. Earth-Science Reviews 188:240–248
- Marks JC, Haden GA, O'Neill M, Pace C (2010) Effects of Flow Restoration and Exotic Species Removal on Recovery of Native Fish: Lessons from a Dam Decommissioning. Restoration Ecology 18:934–943
- Martínez A, Larrañaga A, Basaguren A, Pérez J, Mendoza-Lera C, Pozo J (2013) Stream regulation by small dams affects benthic macroinvertebrate communities: from structural changes to functional implications. Hydrobiologia 711:31–42
- Matthaei CD, Piggott JJ, Townsend CR (2010) Multiple stressors in agricultural streams: interactions among sediment addition, nutrient enrichment and water abstraction. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:639–649
- McMillan JR, Pess GR, Liermann M, Morley SA, McHenry ML, Campbell LA, Quinn TP (2015) Using Redd Attributes, Fry Density, and Otolith Microchemistry to Distinguish the Presence of Steelhead and Rainbow Trout in the Elwha River Dam Removal Project. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 35:1019–1033
- Mellado-Díaz A, Sánchez-González JR, Guareschi S, Magdaleno F, Toro Velasco M (2019) Exploring longitudinal trends and recovery gradients in macroinvertebrate communities and biomonitoring tools along regulated rivers. Science of The Total Environment 695:133774
- Mikuś P, Wyżga B, Bylak A, Kukuła K, Liro M, Oglęcki P, Radecki-Pawlik A (2021) Impact of the restoration of an incised mountain stream on habitats, aquatic fauna and ecological stream quality. Ecological Engineering 170:106365
- Miller SW, Budy P, Schmidt JC (2010) Quantifying Macroinvertebrate Responses to In-Stream Habitat Restoration: Applications of Meta-Analysis to River Restoration. Restoration Ecology 18:8–19
- Milner VS, Jones JI, Maddock IP, Bunting GC (2022) The hyporheic zone as an invertebrate refuge during a fine sediment disturbance event. Ecohydrology 15:e2450
- Mor J-R, Ruhí A, Tornés E, Valcárcel H, Muñoz I, Sabater S (2018) Dam regulation and riverine foodweb structure in a Mediterranean river. Science of The Total Environment 625:301–310

- Morin S, Cordonier A, Lavoie I, Arini A, Blanco S, Duong TT, Tornés E, Bonet B, Corcoll N, Faggiano L, Laviale M, Pérès F, Becares E, Coste M, Feurtet-Mazel A, Fortin C, Guasch H, Sabater S (2012)
 Consistency in Diatom Response to Metal-Contaminated Environments. In: Emerging and Priority Pollutants in Rivers: Bringing Science into River Management Plans. Guasch, H, Ginebreda, A, & Geiszinger, A, editors. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg pp. 117–146.
- Morley SA, Duda JJ, Coe HJ, Kloehn KK, McHenry ML (2008) Benthic Invertebrates and Periphyton in the Elwha River Basin: Current Conditions and Predicted Response to Dam Removal. Northwest Science 82:179–196
- Morley SA, Foley MM, Duda JJ, Beirne MM, Paradis RL, Johnson RC, McHenry ML, Elofson M, Sampson EM, McCoy RE, Stapleton J, Pess GR (2020) Shifting food web structure during dam removal—Disturbance and recovery during a major restoration action. PLOS ONE 15:e0239198
- Muehlbauer JD, LeRoy CJ, Lovett JM, Flaccus KK, Vlieg JK, Marks JC (2009) Short-term responses of decomposers to flow restoration in Fossil Creek, Arizona, USA. Hydrobiologia 618:35–45
- Muff S, Nilsen EB, O'Hara RB, Nater CR (2022) Rewriting results sections in the language of evidence. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 37:203–210
- Muha TP, Rodriguez-Barreto D, O'Rorke R, Garcia de Leaniz C, Consuegra S (2021) Using eDNA Metabarcoding to Monitor Changes in Fish Community Composition After Barrier Removal. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9
- Munger ZW, Shahady TD, Schreiber ME (2017) Effects of reservoir stratification and watershed hydrology on manganese and iron in a dam-regulated river. Hydrological Processes 31:1622– 1635
- Munn MD, Brusven MA (2004) The influence of Dworshak Dam on epilithic community metabolism in the Clearwater River, U.S.A. Hydrobiologia 513:121–127
- Murphy J, Riley JP (1962) A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Analytica Chimica Acta 27:31–36

- Nagayama S, Ishiyama N, Seno T, Kawai H, Kawaguchi Y, Nakano D, Nakamura F (2020) Time Series Changes in Fish Assemblages and Habitat Structures Caused by Partial Check Dam Removal. Water 12:3357
- Niyogi DK, Lewis Jr. WM, McKnight DM (2001) Litter Breakdown in Mountain Streams Affected by Mine Drainage: Biotic Mediation of Abiotic Controls. Ecological Applications 11:506–516

Oksanen J et al. (2020) vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-6. 2019.

- Ormerod SJ, Dobson M, Hildrew AG, Townsend CR (2010) Multiple stressors in freshwater ecosystems. Freshwater Biology 55:1–4
- Orr CH, Kroiss SJ, Rogers KL, Stanley EH (2008) Downstream benthic responses to small dam removal in a coldwater stream. River Research and Applications 24:804–822
- Orr CH, Stanley EH (2006) Vegetation development and restoration potential of drained reservoirs following dam removal in Wisconsin. River Research and Applications 22:281–295
- Oscoz J (2005) Diet of 0+ brown trout (Salmo trutta L., 1758) from the river Erro (Navarra, north of Spain). Limnetica 24:319–326
- Palmer M a., Bernhardt E s., Allan JD, Lake P s., Alexander G, Brooks S, Carr J, Clayton S, Dahm CN,
 Follstad Shah J, Galat DL, Loss SG, Goodwin P, Hart D d., Hassett B, Jenkinson R, Kondolf G m.,
 Lave R, Meyer J I., O'donnell T k., Pagano L, Sudduth E (2005) Standards for ecologically
 successful river restoration. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:208–217
- Palmer MA, Menninger HL, Bernhardt E (2010) River restoration, habitat heterogeneity and biodiversity: a failure of theory or practice? Freshwater Biology 55:205–222
- Pereda O, Solagaistua L, Atristain M, de Guzmán I, Larrañaga A, von Schiller D, Elosegi A (2020) Impact of wastewater effluent pollution on stream functioning: A whole-ecosystem manipulation experiment. Environmental Pollution 258:113719
- Perera D, North T (2021) The Socio-Economic Impacts of Aged-Dam Removal: A Review. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection 9:62–78
- Perera D, Smakhtin V, Williams S, North T, Curry A (2021) Ageing Water Storage Infrastructure: An Emerging Global Risk. United Nations University Institute for Water, Environment and Health

- Pérez-Calpe AV, Larrañaga A, Schiller D von, Elosegi A (2021) Interactive effects of discharge reduction and fine sediments on stream biofilm metabolism. PLOS ONE 16:e0246719
- Peters RJ, Liermann M, McHenry ML, Bakke P, Pess GR (2017) Changes in Streambed Composition in Salmonid Spawning Habitat of the Elwha River during Dam Removal. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 53:871–885
- Petersen RC, Cummins KW (1974) Leaf processing in a woodland stream*. Freshwater Biology 4:343– 368
- Pinheiro JC, Bates DM, eds. (2000) Linear Mixed-Effects Models: Basic Concepts and Examples. In:
 Mixed-Effects Models in Sand S-PLUS.Statistics and Computing Springer, New York, NY pp. 3–
 56.
- Pizzuto J (2002) Effects of Dam Removal on River Form and Process: Although many well-established concepts of fluvial geomorphology are relevant for evaluating the effects of dam removal, geomorphologists remain unable to forecast stream channel changes caused by the removal of specific dams. BioScience 52:683–691
- Poff NL, Allan JD, Bain MB, Karr JR, Prestegaard KL, Richter BD, Sparks RE, Stromberg JC (1997) The Natural Flow Regime. BioScience 47:769–784
- Pohl MM (2002) Bringing down Our Dams: Trends in American Dam Removal Rationales1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 38:1511–1519
- Pollard AI, Reed T (2004) Benthic invertebrate assemblage change following dam removal in a Wisconsin stream. Hydrobiologia 513:51–58
- Ponsatí L, Acuña V, Aristi I, Arroita M, García-Berthou E, von Schiller D, Elosegi A, Sabater S (2015) Biofilm Responses to Flow Regulation by Dams in Mediterranean Rivers. River Research and Applications 31:1003–1016
- Poulos HM, Chernoff B (2017) Effects of Dam Removal on Fish Community Interactions and Stability in the Eightmile River System, Connecticut, USA. Environmental Management 59:249–263
- Poulos HM, Miller KE, Heinemann R, Kraczkowski ML, Whelchel AW, Chernoff B (2019) Dam Removal Effects on Benthic Macroinvertebrate Dynamics: A New England Stream Case Study (Connecticut, USA). Sustainability 11:2875

- Poulos HM, Miller KE, Kraczkowski ML, Welchel AW, Heineman R, Chernoff B (2014) Fish Assemblage Response to a Small Dam Removal in the Eightmile River System, Connecticut, USA. Environmental Management 54:1090–1101
- Pozo J, González E, Díez JR, Molinero J, Elósegui A (1997) Inputs of Particulate Organic Matter to Streams with Different Riparian Vegetation. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 16:602–611
- Prach K, Chenoweth J, del Moral R (2019) Spontaneous and assisted restoration of vegetation on the bottom of a former water reservoir, the Elwha River, Olympic National Park, WA, U.S.A. Restoration Ecology 27:592–599
- Puig MA, Armengol J, Gonzalez G, Peñuelas J, Sabater S, Sabater F (1987) Chemical and Biological Changes in the Ter River Induced by a Series of Reservoirs. In: Regulated Streams: Advances in Ecology. Craig, JF & Kemper, JB, editors. Springer US, Boston, MA pp. 373–382.
- Quinn TP, Pess GR, Sutherland BJG, Brenkman SJ, Withler RE, Flynn K, Beacham TD (2021) Resumption of Anadromy or Straying? Origins of Sockeye Salmon in the Elwha River. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 150:452–464
- R Core Team (2020). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statitistical Computing. Retrieved from https://www.r-project.org/
- Radinger J, Essl F, Hölker F, Horký P, Slavík O, Wolter C (2017) The future distribution of river fish: The complex interplay of climate and land use changes, species dispersal and movement barriers. Global Change Biology 23:4970–4986
- Radinger J, Wolter C (2014) Patterns and predictors of fish dispersal in rivers. Fish and Fisheries 15:456–473
- Randle TJ, Bountry JA, Ritchie A, Wille K (2015) Large-scale dam removal on the Elwha River, Washington, USA: Erosion of reservoir sediment. Geomorphology 246:709–728
- Ravot C, Laslier M, Hubert-Moy L, Dufour S, Le Coeur D, Bernez I (2020) Large dam removal and early spontaneous riparian vegetation recruitment on alluvium in a former reservoir: Lessons learned from the pre-removal phase of the Sélune River project (France). River Research and Applications 36:894–906

- Reardon J, Foreman JA, Searcy RL (1966) New reactants for the colorimetric determination of ammonia. Clinica Chimica Acta 14:403–405
- Reddy KR, Kadlec RH, Flaig E, Gale PM (1999) Phosphorus Retention in Streams and Wetlands: A Review. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 29:83–146
- Renöfält BM, Lejon AGC, Jonsson M, Nilsson C (2013) Long-Term Taxon-Specific Responses of Macroinvertebrates to Dam Removal in a Mid-Sized Swedish Stream. River Research and Applications 29:1082–1089
- Richter BD, Thomas GA (2007) Restoring Environmental Flows by Modifying Dam Operations. Ecology and Society 12
- Riggsbee JA, Julian JP, Doyle MW, Wetzel RG (2007) Suspended sediment, dissolved organic carbon, and dissolved nitrogen export during the dam removal process. Water Resources Research 43
- Riggsbee JA, Wetzel R, Doyle MW (2012) Physical and Plant Community Controls on Nitrogen and Phosphorus Leaching from Impounded Riverine Wetlands Following Dam Removal. River Research and Applications 28:1439–1450
- Rincón PA, Lobón-Cerviá J (1999) Prey-size selection by brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) in a stream in northern Spain. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77:755–765
- Ripple WJ, Wolf C, Newsome TM, Galetti M, Alamgir M, Crist E, Mahmoud MI, Laurance WF, 15,364 scientist signatories from 184 countries (2017) World Scientists' Warning to Humanity: A Second Notice. BioScience 67:1026–1028
- Ritchie AC, Warrick JA, East AE, Magirl CS, Stevens AW, Bountry JA, Randle TJ, Curran CA, Hilldale RC, Duda JJ, Gelfenbaum GR, Miller IM, Pess GR, Foley MM, McCoy R, Ogston AS (2018) Morphodynamic evolution following sediment release from the world's largest dam removal. Scientific Reports 8:13279
- Ruiz-González C, Proia L, Ferrera I, Gasol JM, Sabater S (2013) Effects of large river dam regulation on bacterioplankton community structure. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 84:316–331
- Sabater S (2008) Alterations of the Global Water Cycle and their Effects on River Structure, Function and Services. Freshwater Reviews 1:75–88

- Sabater S, Elosegi A (2013) *River conservation: challenges and opportunities.*, eds. S. Sabater and A Elosegi Bilbao: Fundación BBVA
- Sawaske SR, Freyberg DL (2012) A comparison of past small dam removals in highly sedimentimpacted systems in the U.S. Geomorphology 151–152:50–58
- Scanlon BR, Fakhreddine S, Rateb A, de Graaf I, Famiglietti J, Gleeson T, Grafton RQ, Jobbagy E,
 Kebede S, Kolusu SR, Konikow LF, Long D, Mekonnen M, Schmied HM, Mukherjee A,
 MacDonald A, Reedy RC, Shamsudduha M, Simmons CT, Sun A, Taylor RG, Villholth KG,
 Vörösmarty CJ, Zheng C (2023) Global water resources and the role of groundwater in a
 resilient water future. Nature Reviews Earth & Environment 4:87–101
- Scealy JA, Mika SJ, Boulton AJ, Scealy JA, Mika SJ, Boulton AJ (2007) Aquatic macroinvertebrate communities on wood in an Australian lowland river: experimental assessment of the interactions of habitat, substrate complexity and retained organic matter. Marine and Freshwater Research 58:153–165

Schiermeier Q (2018) Europe is demolishing its dams to restore ecosystems. Nature 557:290-291

- von Schiller D, Aristi I, Ponsatí L, Arroita M, Acuña V, Elosegi A, Sabater S (2016) Regulation causes nitrogen cycling discontinuities in Mediterranean rivers. Science of The Total Environment 540:168–177
- Sethi SA, Selle AR, Doyle MW, Stanley EH, Kitchel HE (2004) Response of Unionid Mussels to Dam Removal in Koshkonong Creek, Wisconsin (USA). Hydrobiologia 525:157–165
- Smith DP, Schnieders J, Marshall L, Melchor K, Wolfe S, Campbell D, French A, Randolph J, Whitaker
 M, Klein J, Steinmetz C, Kwan R (2021) Influence of a Post-dam Sediment Pulse and Post-fire
 Debris Flows on Steelhead Spawning Gravel in the Carmel River, California. Frontiers in Earth
 Science 9
- Smolar-Žvanut N, Mikoš M (2014) The impact of flow regulation by hydropower dams on the periphyton community in the Soča River, Slovenia. Hydrological Sciences Journal 59:1032–1045
- Stanley EH, Catalano MJ, Mercado-Silva N, Orr CH (2007) Effects of dam removal on brook trout in a Wisconsin stream. River Research and Applications 23:792–798

- Stanley EH, Luebke MA, Doyle MW, Marshall DW (2002) Short-term changes in channel form and macroinvertebrate communities following low-head dam removal. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 21:172–187
- Steinman AD, Lamberti GA, Leavitt PR, Uzarski DG (2017) Chapter 12 Biomass and Pigments of Benthic Algae. In: Methods in Stream Ecology, Volume 1 (Third Edition). Hauer, FR & Lamberti, GA, editors. Academic Press, Boston pp. 223–241.
- Steinman AD, McIntire CD (1990) Recovery of lotic periphyton communities after disturbance. Environmental Management 14:589–604
- Stephens JL (2017) Short-Term Response of Vegetation and the Riparian Bird Community to Dam Removal on the Rogue River, Oregon. Ecological Restoration 35:328–340
- Sullivan BG, Taylor MK, Carli C, Ward TD, Lennox RJ, Cooke SJ (2019) Partial dam removal restores passage for a threatened salmonid. River Research and Applications 35:669–679
- Sullivan SMP, Manning DWP (2017) Seasonally distinct taxonomic and functional shifts in macroinvertebrate communities following dam removal. PeerJ 5:e3189
- Sullivan SMP, Manning DWP, Davis RP (2018) Do the ecological impacts of dam removal extend across the aquatic–terrestrial boundary? Ecosphere 9:e02180
- Sun J, Galib SM, Lucas MC (2021) Rapid response of fish and aquatic habitat to removal of a tidal barrier. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 31:1802–1816
- Sundermann A, Stoll S, Haase P (2011) River restoration success depends on the species pool of the immediate surroundings. Ecological Applications 21:1962–1971
- Syvitski JPM, Vörösmarty CJ, Kettner AJ, Green P (2005) Impact of Humans on the Flux of Terrestrial Sediment to the Global Coastal Ocean. Science 308:376–380
- Tachet H, Richoux P, Bournaud M, Usseglio-Polatera P (2010) Invertébrés d'eau douce systématique, biologie, écologie CNRS Editions.

Tachet H et al. (2010) Invertébrés d'eau douce: systématique, biologie, écologie. CNRS éditions Paris

- Thomson JR, Hart DD, Charles DF, Nightengale TL, Winter DM (2005) Effects of removal of a small dam on downstream macroinvertebrate and algal assemblages in a Pennsylvania stream. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 24:192–207
- Tonkin JD, Death RG, Joy MK (2009) Invertebrate drift patterns in a regulated river: dams, periphyton biomass or longitudinal patterns? River Research and Applications 25:1219–1231
- Tonra CM, Sager-Fradkin K, Morley SA, Duda JJ, Marra PP (2015) The rapid return of marine-derived nutrients to a freshwater food web following dam removal. Biological Conservation 192:130– 134
- Tullos DD, Collins MJ, Bellmore JR, Bountry JA, Connolly PJ, Shafroth PB, Wilcox AC (2016) Synthesis of Common Management Concerns Associated with Dam Removal. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 52:1179–1206
- Tullos DD, Finn DS, Walter C (2014) Geomorphic and Ecological Disturbance and Recovery from Two Small Dams and Their Removal. PLOS ONE 9:e108091
- Uehlinger U, Kawecka B, Robinson CT (2003) Effects of experimental floods on periphyton and stream metabolism below a high dam in the Swiss Alps (River Spöl). Aquatic Sciences 65:199–209
- Underwood AJ (1994) On Beyond BACI: Sampling Designs that Might Reliably Detect Environmental Disturbances. Ecological Applications 4:4–15
- USEPA (2000) Nutrient criteria technical guidance manual: lakes and reservoirs. Washington DC
- Vahedifard F, Madani K, AghaKouchak A, Thota SK (2021) Are we ready for more dam removals in the United States? Environmental Research: Infrastructure and Sustainability 1:013001
- Vannote RL, Minshall GW, Cummins KW, Sedell JR, Cushing CE (1980) The River Continuum Concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences
- Vörösmarty CJ, McIntyre PB, Gessner MO, Dudgeon D, Prusevich A, Green P, Glidden S, Bunn SE, Sullivan CA, Liermann CR, Davies PM (2010) Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. Nature 467:555–561
- Wallace J, Eggert S, Meyer J, Webster JR (1997) Multiple Trophic Levels of a Forest Stream Linked to Terrestrial Litter Inputs.

- Wang H-W, Kuo W-C (2016) Geomorphic Responses to a Large Check-Dam Removal on a Mountain River in Taiwan. River Research and Applications 32:1094–1105
- Wang J, Ding C, Heino J, Jiang X, Tao J, Ding L, Su W, Huang M, He D (2020) What explains the variation in dam impacts on riverine macroinvertebrates? A global quantitative synthesis. Environmental Research Letters 15:124028
- Ward J, Standford J (1983) The serial discontinuity concept of lotic ecosystems. Ann Arbor Science Publishers
- Warrick JA, Bountry JA, East AE, Magirl CS, Randle TJ, Gelfenbaum G, Ritchie AC, Pess GR, Leung V, Duda JJ (2015) Large-scale dam removal on the Elwha River, Washington, USA: Source-to-sink sediment budget and synthesis. Geomorphology 246:729–750
- Watson JM, Coghlan Jr. SM, Zydlewski J, Hayes DB, Kiraly IA (2018) Dam Removal and Fish Passage Improvement Influence Fish Assemblages in the Penobscot River, Maine. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 147:525–540
- Wells AJ, Balster NJ, VanWychen S, Harrington J (2008) Differences in Belowground Heterogeneity Within a Restoration of a Dewatered Reservoir in Southwestern Wisconsin. Restoration Ecology 16:678–688
- Wilcox AC, O'Connor JE, Major JJ (2014) Rapid reservoir erosion, hyperconcentrated flow, and downstream deposition triggered by breaching of 38 m tall Condit Dam, White Salmon River, Washington. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 119:1376–1394
- Wildman LAS, MacBroom JG (2005) The evolution of gravel bed channels after dam removal: Case study of the Anaconda and Union City Dam removals. Geomorphology 71:245–262
- Wilson MJ, McTammany ME, Bohr HR (2019) Manganese oxides as localized drivers of benthic invertebrate density and community structure. Hydrobiologia 838:85–98
- Winton RS, Calamita E, Wehrli B (2019) Reviews and syntheses: Dams, water quality and tropical reservoir stratification. Biogeosciences 16:1657–1671
- Wohl E, Lane SN, Wilcox AC (2015) The science and practice of river restoration. Water Resources Research 51:5974–5997

- Wolman MG (1954) A method of sampling coarse river-bed material. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union 35:951–956
- Wood PJ, Arrmitage PD (1997) Biological Effects of Fine Sediment in the Lotic Environment. Environmental Management 21:203–217
- Wu H, Chen J, Xu J, Zeng G, Sang L, Liu Q, Yin Z, Dai J, Yin D, Liang J, Ye S (2019) Effects of dam construction on biodiversity: A review. Journal of Cleaner Production 221:480–489
- Young SM, Ishiga H (2014) Assessment of dam removal from geochemical examination of Kuma River sediment, Kyushu, Japan. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 186:8267–8289
- Zabaleta A, Antigüedad I (2012) Temporal variations of suspended sediment transport in three small catchments of the Basque Country. Zeitschrift fur Geomorphologie-Supplementband 56:81
- Zabaleta A, Martínez M, Uriarte JA, Antigüedad I (2007) Factors controlling suspended sediment yield during runoff events in small headwater catchments of the Basque Country. CATENA 71:179– 190
- Zarfl C, Berlekamp J, He F, Jähnig SC, Darwall W, Tockner K (2019) Future large hydropower dams impact global freshwater megafauna. Scientific Reports 9:18531
- Zarfl C, Lumsdon AE, Berlekamp J, Tydecks L, Tockner K (2015) A global boom in hydropower dam construction. Aquatic Sciences 77:161–170
- Zunka JPP, Tullos DD, Lancaster ST (2015) Effects of sediment pulses on bed relief in bar-pool channels. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 40:1017–1028

8. Supplementary material

Geomorphology and water physicochemistry

Figure S1. Photograph of one of the riverbanks excavated by the Enobieta Stream due to the erosion of the sediment accumulated in the bottom. Notice a gravel-dominated layer at the bottom, and two thick leaf litter layers at the top, separated by a thin reddish silt layer.



Figure S2. Turbidity (NTU) time series data in the impact site (I2) during the before, drawdown and after periods.

Table S1. Full output of the results of the linear mixed-effects models for water physicochemical attributes. The intercept for the fixed factors is control reaches during the before period, and BCI, BD:CI and BA:CI refer to the control-impact comparison during the before period and the before-drawdown/control-impact and before-after/control-impact interactions, respectively.

Variable	Source of variation	Estimate	t value	p value
	Intercept	2.40	26.70	< 0.0001
т	BCI	0.10	3.44	< 0.01
(°C)	BD:CI	-0.05	-2.10	< 0.05
(C)	BA:CI	-0.06	-1.75	0.08
	Intercept	68.54	6.43	< 0.001
EC	BCI	16.27	1.16	0.29
(µS cm⁻²)	BD:CI	3.92	1.35	0.18
	BA:CI	9.12	2.28	< 0.05
	Intercept	7.29	65.44	< 0.0001
рН	BCI	0.23	2.26	< 0.05
	BD:CI	-0.18	-1.62	0.11
	BA:CI	-0.22	-1.41	0.16
	Intercept	101.24	171.95	< 0.0001
DO sat (%)	BCI	0.26	0.43	0.68
00 301. (70)	BD:CI	-0.32	-0.68	0.50
	BA:CI	-0.24	-0.36	0.72
	Intercept	2.06	5.21	< 0.001
SRP	BCI	-0.36	-1.29	0.24
(µg L ⁻¹)	BD:CI	0.33	1.92	0.06
	BA:CI	0.36	1.68	0.10

	Intercept	1.39	4.92	< 0.001
NH_4^+	BCI	0.78	3.20	< 0.01
(µg L⁻¹)	BD:CI	-0.22	-0.84	0.40
	BA:CI	-0.78	-2.21	< 0.05
	Intercept	2.47	7.90	< 0.0001
Fe	BCI	1.54	4.43	< 0.01
(µg L ⁻¹)	BD:CI	-0.01	-0.044	0.96
	BA:CI	-1.09	-4.01	< 0.001
	Intercept	1.61	4.61	< 0.001
Mn	BCI	1.90	4.36	< 0.01
(µg L⁻¹)	BD:CI	-0.30	-1.03	0.31
	BA:CI	-1.23	-4.24	< 0.0001

Biofilm structure and functioning

Table S2. Full output of the results of the linear mixed-effects models of for biofilm structural and functional attributes. The intercept for the fixed factors is control reaches during the before period, and BCI, BD:CI and BA:CI refer to the control-impact comparison during the before period and the before-drawdown/control-impact and before-after/control-impact interactions, respectively.

Variable	Source of variation	Estimate	t value	p value
	Intercept	0.39	2.80	< 0.05
Biomass	BCI	-0.07	-0.74	0.47
(g AFDM m ⁻²)	BD:CI	-0.01	-0.06	0.95
	BA:CI	0.06	0.73	0.47
	Intercept	0.50	1.76	0.15
Chlorophyll-a	BCI	0.02	0.181	0.86
(mg m ⁻²)	BD:CI	-0.29	-3.05	< 0.01
	BA:CI	-0.11	-1.11	0.27
	Intercept	1.61	7.86	< 0.0001
GPP	BCI	0.10	0.68	0.51
$(mg O_2 h^{-1} m^{-2})$	BD:CI	-0.69	-5.26	< 0.0001
	BA:CI	-0.26	-1.95	0.06
	Intercept	5.20	5.79	< 0.001
CR	BCI	1.12	1.59	0.14
$(mg O_2 h^{-1} m^{-2})$	BD:CI	-4.03	-5.61	< 0.0001
	BA:CI	-1.26	-1.81	0.07
	Intercept	93.12	3.42	< 0.01
SRP uptake	BCI	42.415	2.06	0.07
(µg h ⁻¹ m ⁻²)	BD:CI	1.48	0.08	0.93
	BA:CI	-15.11	-0.77	0.44

	Intercept	80.81	2.34	0.05
NH₄⁺ uptake	BCI	5.59	0.24	0.82
(µg h ⁻¹ m ⁻²)	BD:CI	-3.03	-0.15	0.88
	BA:CI	-1.84	-0.09	0.93
	Intercept	4.98 x 10 ⁻³	9.22	< 0.0001
k (day⁻¹)	BCI	-1.18 x 10 ⁻³	-2.90	< 0.01
	BD:CI	-8.40 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.97	0.05
		5 92 v 10 ⁻⁴	1 23	0.22
	BA.CI	J.JZ X 10	1.25	0.22

Invertebrate communities

Table S3. List of the taxa found in the 135 samples obtained in Control (C), Impact (I) and Reservoir (R) reaches during the Before ($n_c = 20$ and $n_i = 20$), Drawdown ($n_c = 20$ and $n_i = 20$) and After ($n_c = 20$, $n_i = 20$ and $n_R = 15$) periods.

Upper taxonomic levels	Order	Family	Genus
Acari			
Annelida			
Hirudinea	Arhynchobdellida	Erpobdellidae	Erpobdella
Oligochaeta			
Crustacea	Amphipoda	Gammaridae	Echinogammarus
		Niphargidae	
Insecta	Coleoptera	Dytiscidae	Laccophilus
		Elmidae	Dupophilus
			Elmis
			Esolus
			Limnius
			Oulimnius
			Potamophilus
			Riolus
			Stenelmis
		Gyrinidae	Orectochilus
		Hydraenidae	Hydraena
		Hydrophilidae	
		Scirtidae	Elodes
			Hydrocyohon
	Diptera	Athericidae	Atherix
		Ceratopogonidae	
		Chironomidae	
		Dixidae	Dixella
		Empididae	
		Limoniidae	
		Psychodidae	
		Rhagionidae	
		Simulidae	

-	Tabanidae	
	Tipulidae	Tipula
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	Baetis
	Caenidae	Caenis
	Ephemeridae	Ephemera
	Ephemerellidae	Ephemerella
	Heptagenidae	
	Leptophlebiidae	Habroleptoides
Hemiptera	Aphelocheiridae	Aphelocheirus
	Mesoveliidae	Mesovelia
Odonata	Calopterygidae	Calopteryx
	Cordulegastridae	Cordulegaster
	Gomphidae	Gomphus
		Onycogomphus
Plecoptera	Capniidae	Capnioneura
	Chloroperlidae	Chloroperla
		Siphonoperla
	Leuctricidae	Leuctra
	Nemouridae	Amphinemura
		Nemoura
		Protonemura
	Perlidae	Dinocras
		Marthamea
		Perla
	Perlodidae	Isoperla
		Perlodes
Trichoptera	Brachycentridae	
	Glossosomatidae	Glossosoma
	Goeridae	Silo & Lithax
	Hydropsychidae	Hydropsyche
	Lepidostomatidae	Lepidostoma
	Leptoceridae	
	Limnephilidae	
	Odontoceridae	Odontocerum
	Philopotamidae	Philopotamus
	Phryganidae	
	Polycentropodidae	Holocentropus

-			Plectronemia
			Polycentropus
		Rhyacophilidae	Hyperrhyacophila
			Hyporhyacophila
			Pararhyacopila
			Ryacophila
		Sericostomatidae	Sericostoma
Mollusca	Basommatophora	Planorbidae	
	Mesogastropoda	Hydrobiidae	Bythinella
	Sphaeriida	Sphaeriidae	Pisidium
Rhabditophora	Tricladida	Dugesiidae	Dugesia
		Planariidae	Polycelis

Table S4. Full output of the results of the linear mixed-effects models for invertebrate assemblages. The intercept for the fixed factors is control reaches during the before period, and BCI, BD:CI and BA:CI refer to the control-impact comparison during the before period and the before-drawdown/control-impact and before-after/control-impact interactions, respectively.

Variable	Source of variation	Estimate	t value	p value
	Intercept	1973.89	7.43	< 0.0001
Total density	BCI	-943.33	-2.51	< 0.05
(T, inv.m ⁻²)	BD:CI	936.67	2	< 0.05
	BA:CI	916.11	1.95	0.05
	Intercept	21.95	12.02	< 0.0001
Tava richnoss (S)	BCI	-8.75	-3.39	< 0.01
Taxa ficilitess (5)	BD:CI	6	2.85	< 0.01
	BA:CI	7.15	3.39	< 0.001
	Intercept	2.35	15.08	< 0.0001
Shannon diversity	BCI	-0.60	-2.72	< 0.05
(H´)	BD:CI	0.37	2.31	< 0.05
	BA:CI	0.46	2.91	< 0.01
IASPT index	Intercept	6.62	32.52	< 0.0001
	BCI	-0.84	-2.90	< 0.05
	BD:CI	0.47	2.14	< 0.05
	BA:CI	0.89	4.05	< 0.0001